United States Environmental Protection Agency FIRST DRAFT ECAO-CIN-757 January, 1991



Research and Development

TECHNICAL SUPPORT DOCUMENT ON LEAD

Prepared for

OFFICE OF SOLID WASTE AND EMERGENCY RESPONSE

Prepared by

Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office Office of Health and Environmental Assessment U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Cincinnati, OH 45268

DRAFT: DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NOTICE

This document is a preliminary draft. It has not been formally released by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and should not at this stage be construed to represent Agency policy. It is being circulated for comments on its technical accuracy and policy implications.

DISCLAIMER

This report is an internal draft for review purposes only and does not constitute Agency policy. Mention of trade names or commercial products does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

The U.S. EPA is developing health-related guidance for lead that can be applied to a wide range of different media (soil/dust, air, diet). This report summarizes relevant information on health effects of lead and on lead. exposure and presents a description of a proposed modeling approach for deriving media-specific criteria that can be tailored to specific exposure scenarios or cases. The rationale for using a modeling approach in place of more traditional risk assessment strategies such as Reference Dose is discussed. Much of the information presented in this report is taken from recent and more comprehensive Agency reviews, including the Air Quality Criteria Document (U.S. EPA, 1986a) and Review of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards for Lead (U.S. EPA. 1989a). The first draft of this report was prepared by Syracuse Research Corporation under Contract No. 68-C8-0004. The literature search is current as of March, 1990. This Technical Support Document (TSD) describes an Uptake/Biokinetic model of lead that provides a method to predict blood lead levels in populations exposed to lead in air, diet, drinking water, indoor dust, soil and paint. thus making it possible to evaluate the effects of regulatory decisions concerning each medium on blood lead levels and potential health effects. model represents generalization of a model developed by OAOPS This (integration of Harley and Kneip's Biokinetic model with OAQPS uptake model) that has been used to predict site-specific distribution of blood lead levels in populations in the vicinity of lead point sources.

This technical support document presents the rationale for an uptake/ biokinetic modeling approach to developing health criteria for lead. Because of the lack of empirical evidence for a threshold for many of the noncancer effects of lead in infants and young children, coupled with multimedia exposure scenarios, meaningful oral and inhalation reference doses cannot be developed for lead. Blood lead levels, however, provide an important and useful index of risk because most toxicity endpoints assoclated with exposure to lead can be correlated with blood lead levels. The Uptake/Biokinetic Model described in this document, and described in greater detail in U.S. EPA (1989a), provides a method for predicting blood lead levels in populations exposed to lead in the air, diet, drinking water, indoor dust, soil and paint, thus making it possible to evaluate the effects of regulatory decisions concerning each medium on blood lead levels and potential health effects. This model was developed by the Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards (OAQPS). The model integrated with the Industrial Source Complex Dispersion Model (U.S. EPA, 1986c) has been used to predict site-specific distributions of blood lead levels in populations in the vicinity of lead point sources.

Infants and young children are the most vulnerable populations exposed to lead and are the focus of the U.S. EPA's risk assessment efforts. The relatively high vulnerability of infants and children results from a combination of several factors: 1) an apparent intrinsic sensitivity of developing organ systems to lead; 2) behavioral characteristics that increasecontact with lead from dust and soil (e.g., mouthing behavior and pica);

١v

3) various physiologic factors resulting in greater deposition of airborne lead in the respiratory tract and greater absorption efficiency from the gastrointestinal tract in children than in adults; and 4) transplacental transfer of lead that establishes a lead burden in the fetus, thus increasing the risk associated with additional exposure during infancy and childhood.

A diverse set of undesirable effects has been correlated with blood lead levels in infants and children. Impaired or delayed mental and physical development, impaired heme biosynthesis and decreased serum vitamin D levels are correlated with blood lead levels across a range extending below 10 μ g/d£. Although considerable controversy remains regarding the biological significance of some of the effects attributed to low lead exposure (e.g., blood lead levels below 10 μ g/d£), the weight of evidence is convincing that in infants and children, exposure-effect relationships extend to blood lead levels of 10-15 μ g/d£ and possibly lower.

The Uptake/Biokinetic Model provides a means for evaluating the relative contribution of various media to establishing blood lead levels (U.S. EPA, 1989a). The Uptake/Biokinetic Model provides a useful and versatile method for exploring the potential impact of future regulatory decisions regarding lead levels in air, diet and soil.

۷

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTROD	UCTION	1-1
	1.1.	RFD METHODOLOGY AND RATIONALE FOR RFD DEPARTURE	1-1
		1.1.1. Absence of a Discernible Threshold for Health Effects of Lead	1-2
		1.1.2.Multimedia Exposure Scenarios1.1.3.Blood Lead as the Primary Index of Exposure1.1.4.Predictive Biokinetic Models for Lead1.1.5.Multimedia Exposure Analysis	1-3 1-4 1-5 1-5
2.	HEALTH	EFFECTS SUMMARY	2-1
	2.1. 2.2.	OVERVIEW	2-1
		METABOLISM AND EXCRETION	2-3
		2.2.1.Absorption2.2.2.Tissue Distribution of Lead	2-3 2-11
	2.3.	SYSTEMIC AND TARGET ORGAN TOXICITY	2-18
		2.3.1. Neurobehavioral Toxicity	2-18
		Erythropolesis	2-21 2-29 2-29 2-34
	2.4.	DEVELOPMENTAL/REPRODUCTIVE TOXICITY AND GENOTOXICITY	2-36
		 2.4.1. Mental Development in Infants and Children 2.4.2. Growth Deficits	2-36 * 2-45 * 2-46 * 2-46 *
	2.5.	SUMMARY	2-47
3.	EXPOSU	RE ASSESSMENT	3-1
	3.1. 3.2.	BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS: ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURE	3-1
		PAINT	3-3
		3.2.1. Lead in Air 3.2.2. Lead in Soil 3.2.3. Lead in Dust 3.2.4. Lead in Diet 3.2.5. Lead in Water 3.2.6. Lead in Paint	3-5 3-7 3-8 3-9 3-9 3-10

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

Page

	3.3.	MEDIA-SPECIFIC ESTIMATES FOR DIFFERENT LEVELS OF LEAD UPTAKE
		3.3.1. Uptake from Ambient Air 3-11 3.3.2. Uptake from the Diet. 3-14 3.3.3. Uptake from Dust and Soil 3-16 3.3.4. Uptake of Lead from Drinking Water. 3-29
	3.4.	ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURE LEVELS ASSOCIATED WITH BLOOD LEAD LEVELS
		3.4.1. Blood Lead/Air Lead Relationships
		Relationships
	3.5.	SUMMARY
4.	RISK C	HARACTERIZATION
	4.1.	INTEGRATED LEAD UPTAKE/BIOKINETIC EXPOSURE MODEL 4-1
		4.1.1.Estimates of Lead Uptake.4-24.1.2.Uptake of Lead from Ingested Paint.4-174.1.3.Uptake and Blood Lead Concentrations.4-18
	4.2. 4.3.	CALCULATIONS OF PROJECTED MEAN BLOOD LEAD DISTRIBUTIONS: LEAD UPTAKE LEVELS
5.	REFERE	NCES

LIST OF TABLES

•	No.	Title	Page
	2-1	Estimates of Regional Deposition and Absorption of Ambient Air Lead Particles in the Adult Respiratory Tract (Found Near Point Sources)	2-7
	2-2	Age Factor Adjustments for Calculating Deposition and Absorption of Ambient Air Lead Particles (Found Near Point Sources) in the Respiratory Tract of 2-Year-Old Children	2-8
	3-1	Typical Lead Concentrations in Various Exposure Media	3-6
	3-2	Age-Specific Estimates of Total Dietary Lead Intake for 1990–1996 (µg/day)	3-15
	3-3	Daily Soil Ingestion (mg/day) Based on Aluminum, Silicon, Titanium and Yittrium Mass Balance	3-25
	4-1	Lead Intake and Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children Exposed to Lead in Air, Diet, Dust, Soil and Drinking Water	4-3

.

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>No.</u>	<u>Title</u>	<u>Page</u>
2-1	Schematic Model of Lead Metabolism in 2-Year-Old Children, with Compartmental Transfer Rate Constants	2-17
2-2	Child IQ as a Function of Blood Lead Level in Children 3-7 Years Old	2-20
2-3	British Ability Scales Combined Score (BASC, Means and 95% Confidence Intervals) as a Function of Blood Lead Levels in Children 6-9 Years Old	2-22
2-4	Maximal Nerve Conduction Time as a Function of Blood Lead Level in Children 5-9 Years Old	2-23
2-5	Effects of Lead on Heme Blosynthesis	2-24
2-6	Blood ALA-D Activity as a Function of Blood Lead Level in 158 Adults	2-26
2-7	Probit Dose-Response functions for Elevated Erythrocyte Protoporphyrin as Function of Blood Lead Level in Children	2-27
2-8	Erythrocyte Pyrimidine 5'-Nucleotidase Activity (P5N Units) as a Function of Blood Lead Level in 25 Children, 1-5 Years Old	2-30
2-9	Comparison of Study Results from Four Larger-Scale Epidemiology Studies of Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships in Adult Men	2-32
2-10	Serum 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol (1,25-CC) Levels as a Function of Blood Lead Levels in 50 Children, 2-3 Years Old .	2-35
2-11	Mental Development Index Score (Covariate Adjusted, Mean and SD) as a Function of Age for Children Grouped into Three Ranges of Cord Blood Lead Level; Low, <3 µg/d£; Medium, 6-7 µg/d£; High, 10-25 µg/d£	2-38
2-12	Comparison of Results from Prospective and Cross-Sectional Studies of Mental Development	2-44
2-13	Summary of Studies Relating Blood Lead Levels and Effects on Various Toxicity Endpoints in Infants and Children	2-49
3-1	Pathways of Lead from the Environment to Humans	3-4
3-2	Plot of Soil Lead Concentration vs. Air Lead Concentration Monitored in Various Locations	3-19

LIST OF FIGURES (cont.)

No.	Title	Page
4-1	Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children Exposed to Various Levels of Soil Lead as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model	4-14
4-2	Effect of Varying the Absorption Coefficients for Lead in Diet and Water (A _{D,W}) on Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model	4-15
4-3	Effect of Varying the Concentration of Lead in Drinking Water on Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model	4-16
4 - 4	Summary of Relationships Between Daily Lead Uptake and Blood Lead for Infants, Adults and 2- to 3-Year-Old Children, Derived from the Hawley and Kneip (1985) Biokinetic Model	4 -20
4-5	Probability Distribution of Blood Lead Levels in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children Exposed as Predicted by the Lead Uptake/Biokinetic Model	4-25
4-6	Mean Blood Lead Levels in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children vs. Total Lead Uptake as Predicted by the Lead Blokinetic Model	4-26
4-7	Comparison of Distribution of Measured Blood Levels in Children 1–5 Years of Age, Living within 2.25 Miles of a Lead Smelter with Levels Predicted from the Uptake/ Biokinetic Model	4-27
4 - 8	Comparison of Distribution of Measured Blood Lead Levels in Children, 1–5 Years of Age, Living within 2.25 Miles of a Lead Smelter with Levels Predicted from the Uptake/ Biokinetic Model	4-28

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALA-D	s-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase
ALA-S	a-aminolevulinic acid synthetase
bw	body weight
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EP	Erythroblast protoporphyrin
GCI	General Cognitive Index
G-R	Graham-Rosenbleth Behavioral Examinations for Newborns
GSD	Geometric standard deviation
KID	Kent infant development scale
LOAEL	Lowest-observed-adverse-effect level
MDI	Mental development index
MMAD	Mass median aerodynamic diameter
NBAS	Neonatal behavioral assessment scale
NOAEL	No-observed-adverse-effect level
OAQPS	Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards
PDI	Psychomotor development index
P 5 N	Pyrimidine-5'-nucleotidase
RfD	Reference dose
S.E.	Standard error
WPPSI	Wechsler preschool and primary scale of intelligence

x1

1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. RFD METHODOLOGY AND RATIONALE FOR RFD DEPARTURE

The Agency has established the RfD for the purpose of quantitative risk assessment of noncarcinogenic chemicals. The RfD is an estimate (with uncertainty spanning perhaps an order of magnitude) of the daily exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without appreciable risk of deleterious effects during a lifetime (U.S. EPA, 1987, 1988a). In developing an RfD for a specific chemical, the best available scientific data on the health effects of the chemical are reviewed to identify the highest levels of exposure that are clearly not associated with adverse health effects in humans. Typically, the highest NOAEL is adjusted by an uncertainty factor to derive the RfD. The uncertainty factor reflects the degree of uncertainty associated with extrapolating the NOAEL identified from analysis of relevant human toxicological studies to the most sensitive fraction of the "healthy" human population.

When human toxicological data are inadequate to base conclusions regarding human NOAELs, NOAELs or LOAELs for the most sensitive animal species, as defined by well-designed animal studies, are used to derive the RfD. Doses or exposure levels are adjusted by conversion factors to account for allometric (e.g., body weight) and physiologic (e.g., breathing rates) differences between animals and humans. The adjusted NOAELs or LOAELs are then adjusted by an uncertainty factor to derive the RfD. Uncertainty factors for NOAELs derived from animal studies are larger than that for human NOAELs, reflecting the greater uncertainty associated with extrapolating dose-effect relationships from animals to humans. Consideration is given to uncertainties associated with extrapolations made from less-than-lifetime exposures to lifetime exposures, from LOAELs to NOAELs and for differences in sensitivity between animals and humans.

2163A

The RfD approach has yielded useful quantitative estimates of toxic threshold for many chemicals, and thus, has been used as a "benchmark" on which to consider regulatory decisions in relation to potential impacts on human health; however, for reasons that are enumerated below it is inappropriate to derive an RfD for risk assessments related to environmental lead. 1.1.1. Absence of a Discernible Threshold for Health Effects of Lead. A critical assumption implicit to the RfD is the concept of threshold (i.e., a dose level exists below which adverse health effects will not occur). This assumption precludes developing RfDs based on effects for which thresholds have not been established from experimental or epidemiological data or for chemicals for which theoretical considerations suggest the absence of a threshold. Carcinogens fall into the latter category; for example, theoretical considerations suggest a finite probability that cancer could arise from the interactions of a single molecule of a mutagen with DNA (U.S. EPA, 1986a).

Unlike the case for carcinogens, there is no widely accepted theoretical basis for the absence of a threshold for many of the health effects associated with lead exposure. However, analyses of correlations between blood lead levels and ALA-D activity, vitamin D and pyrimidine metabolism, neurobehavioral indices, growth and blood pressure indicate that associations may persist through the lowest blood lead levels in the populations tested ($\leq 10-15 \ \mu g/dt$). Thus, it is possible that if a threshold for the toxic effects of lead exists, it may lie within a range of blood lead levels <10-15 $\mu g/dt$; however, the data currently available are not sufficient to adequately define the dose-response relationship for many of the toxic effects of lead in populations having blood lead levels <10 $\mu g/dt$. Hence, it is not possible to confidently identify a blood lead level below which no undesirable health effects would occur.

2163A

01/03/91

The range $10-15 \ \mu g/dt$ for blood lead levels represents a "level of concern." A level of concern is <u>not</u> the same as a threshold. In this case, a level of concern represents a blood lead level associated with health effects that warrant attention from a medical or governmental regulatory standpoint, and does not imply that a biological or toxicological effect may not occur at lower levels of exposure (Davis, 1990).

1.1.2. Multimedia Exposure Scenarios. Humans are exposed to lead from a variety of media; the relative contribution of each medium to total lead uptake changes with age and can vary in magnitude on a site-specific basis. Infants are born with a lead burden that primarily reflects the mother's past exposure and metabolic status during pregnancy. Infants and children are exposed to lead primarily from ingestion of food and beverages and from ingestion of nonfood sources by normal early mouthing behavior and pica. The impact of normal early mouthing behavior and pica will vary depending on the levels of lead in house dust, soil and paint, which in many but not all cases will be primarily related to historical air lead levels in the vicinity. Examples of exposure scenarios in which levels in soil and dust might not be related to historical air lead are situations involving contamination of soil and dust with leaded paint dusts or mine wastes. Most adults are exposed primarily from dietary (food and water) sources. Occupational exposures also may result in a significant contribution from the inhalation. dermal or ingestion route.

A viable risk assessment methodology for lead that is to be of any use in making regulatory decisions or for developing site-specific abatement strategies must be flexible enough to incorporate site-specific information on exposure sources and demographic data. In terms of predicted population

2163A

01/03/91

distributions of blood lead levels, an ideal methodology would incorporate such information or would accept default values where data are not available and yield quantitative estimates of risk.

RfD methodologies do not accommodate such considerations because they are basically route-specific risk assessments. For example, an inhalation RfD is an estimate of the air concentration to which the most sensitive human populations can be exposed for a lifetime without appreciable risks of adverse effects and in the absence of exposures from other sources (e.g., the oral route). The latter assumption renders the inhalation RfD for lead relatively insignificant since inhaled lead contributes only a fraction of total lead uptake.

1.1.3. Blood Lead as the Primary Index of Exposure. The complex nature of lead exposure has not prevented advances in our understanding of dose-response relationships for lead in humans because many of the health effects of lead in humans are correlated with blood lead levels. Thus, blood lead $(\mu g/d x)$ is a more appropriate benchmark for exposure than a level in air (mg/m^3) or an oral exposure level (mg/kg/day).

Although it is unclear if health thresholds exist for many lead exposure scenarios, significant concern is associated with blood lead levels. By estimating changes in blood lead level, one may estimate change in risk of experiencing health effects associated with the blood lead level. By examining changes in blood lead distribution, estimates of population risk may be derived. It is possible to define critical ranges of blood lead levels and associated effects. In this way, blood lead levels can be used to define risk in a relative sense.

The nature of the effects associated with low level lead exposure are such that a scientific consensus regarding biological significance of many

2163A

01/03/91

of the effects, such as neurobehavioral deficits associated with prenatal exposure, needs further validation. Therefore, it is not anticipated that critical ranges of blood lead as currently defined will have universal acceptance. Nor is it reasonable that such definitions should be universally applied to all exposure situations for risk assessment purposes. A given range of blood lead levels is likely to be associated with a given level of risk depending on other factors affecting the exposed population. For example, a given blood lead level_may be undesirable in infants but of less significance to adults.

A useful risk assessment methodology for lead should provide a population distribution of blood lead levels and risk. The risk assessor can then evaluate the risks associated with such distributions and the potential benefits of prevention and abatement strategies given the definitions of critical blood lead levels for specific effects of lead, as well as the demographics and exposure sources for the population.

1.1.4. Predictive Biokinetic Models for Lead. It is currently feasible to utilize biokinetic models to provide predictions of blood lead levels that will result from any given range of route-independent lead uptake rates and vice versa (U.S. EPA, 1989a). These models allow benchmark blood lead levels to be related quantitatively to route-independent uptake rates and can provide estimates of frequency distributions of blood lead levels associated with any given uptake rate.

1.1.5. Multimedia Exposure Analysis. Site-specific data or internationally consistent default assumptions regarding exposure scenarios and absorption efficiency for lead intake from various media have been incorporated into existing multimedia exposure analysis methods to yield estimates of the relative contributions of air, dietary and soil lead to any given estimated

2163A

lead uptake (U.S. EPA, 1989a). Output from a multimedia analysis could be used to explore the possible outcomes of regulatory decisions and abatement strategies on the distribution of blood lead levels in relevant human populations. For example, a risk assessor could use these predictive models to estimate the effects of having soil lead at a specific exposure site on blood lead levels in 2-year-old children living in the vicinity of the site. This would be a far more useful risk management tool than a route-specific RfD.

In summary, the RfD approach is inappropriate for lead based on our current understanding of the dose-response relationship for the various effects of lead and multimedia nature of lead exposure. Multimedia exposure analysis coupled with predictive biokinetic models, however, provide a powerful tool for developing an alternative and more useful alternative risk assessment strategy for lead.

2.1. OVERVIEW

A significant amount of information regarding the toxicity of lead in humans has been gathered over the past 60 years. The symptoms of overt toxicity have been described and, for the most part, levels of lead in blood associated with frank toxicity have been established. There is little or no argument that excessive exposure resulting in blood lead levels extending upwards from 30-100 μ g/dL is associated with a variety of overtly toxic effects on the peripheral and central nervous systems, kidneys and cardiovascular system.

In the most recent decade a shift has been seen in the emphasis of research objectives from a focus on overt toxicity to exploration of the more subtle physiologic, biochemical and neurobehavioral effects that may be associated with blood lead levels <30 μ g/dt -- levels that can be anticipated to occur in a significant fraction of the general population. In particular, several factors have stimulated a renewed interest in exploring exposure-effect relationships in infants and children. These include 1) an appreciation that potentially significant lead burdens can be established in the fetus <u>in utero</u>; 2) that specific behavioral patterns of infants (12 weeks to 1 year) and children (1-5 years) facilitate intake of environmental lead; and 3) evidence that infants and children may be more sensitive and thus more vulnerable to some of the toxic effects associated with lead.

Research efforts during the last several years have greatly improved our understanding of the effects of low-level lead exposure. The advent of prospective epidemiological study designs that incorporate sensitive and reproducible measures of physical and mental development have been a

2164A

particularly important advancement in this area. While considerable concerns remain regarding the biological significance of some of the effects attributed to low lead exposure, the weight of evidence is convincing that in infants and children, exposure-effect relationships extend to blood lead levels of 10-15 μ g/d² and possibly lower. Evaluations of the most recent data on blood pressure in adults suggest that exposure to lead may increase blood pressure. When viewed in relation to the number of children potentially exposed to environmental lead levels associated with blood lead levels of 10-15 μ g/d², even small increases in blood pressure are of considerable public health significance.

The review that follows summarizes key issues relating to the toxicokinetics and health effects of lead in humans that will have to be considered in developing a responsible regulatory policy for lead. This review is not intended to be comprehensive but rather an overview of the various critical aspects of lead toxicity in humans, with more extensive discussions of recent information regarding effects associated with low levels (e.g., blood lead levels $\leq 10-15 \ \mu g/d\Omega$). Issues relating to the toxicokinetics of lead that are relevant to the validity of predictive models are also discussed. Discussions of overt toxicity have been abbreviated intentionally, and no attempt has been made to summarize the voluminous literature on laboratory animals.

An enormous amount of scientific literature regarding the health effects of lead in humans and animals has been published. Much of this information is contained in the Air Quality Criteria Document on Lead (U.S. EPA, 1986b), in subsequent addenda and related U.S. EPA documents (U.S. EPA, 1988a,b; ATSDR/U.S. EPA, 1988) and in the recent ATSDR report to the U.S. Congress (ATSDR, 1988). The reader is referred to these documents for a more comprehensive treatment of the subjects and literature contained in this chapter.

2164A

01/03/91

2.2. TOXICOKINETICS: ABSORPTION, DISTRIBUTION/BODY BURDEN, METABOLISM AND EXCRETION

Anthropogenic lead emissions to air consist primarily of lead in the inorganic form; therefore, the primary focus of this chapter is on the toxicokinetics of inorganic lead. Organic lead compounds, notably tetraethyl, tetramethyl, triethyl and trimethyl lead, are also released into the air during the combustion of leaded gasoline. Lead alkyl compounds will generally be a minor component of lead released to air, but the toxicological significance can be appreciable under certain circumstances (e.g., children who "sniff" leaded gasoline). For this reason, the toxicokinetics of lead alkyls is also discussed in this chapter; emphasis, however, is placed on identifying important differences between the toxicokinetics of inorganic lead and lead alkyls.

2.2.1. Absorption. Absorption of ingested lead is quantitatively the most significant route of uptake of inorganic lead in most human populations; the exception is occupational exposures in which inhalation of airborne lead results in significant uptake. Gastrointestinal absorption can result from ingestion of food, water and beverages as well as nonfood sources, such as soil and dust. Percutaneous absorption is not considered a significant route of absorption of inorganic lead. The rate and extent of absorption of inorganic lead is influenced by the physical and chemical properties of environmental lead. Factors such as particle size and solubility determine deposition patterns and dissolution rates within the entry portals of the body, and may vary with specific exposure scenarios. Biological variation related to age and nutritional status will also influence absorption.

Alkyl lead compounds (e.g., triethyl, trimethyl, tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead) are more highly lipophilic than inorganic lead and are readily

2164A

01/31/91

absorbed from the lung and skin. Extensive absorption from the gastrointestinal tract is predicted based on structural similarities between alkyl leads and alkyl tins.

2.2.1.1. ABSORPTION FROM THE RESPIRATORY TRACT -- Inorganic lead in ambient air consists primarily of particulate aerosols, having a size distribution that is related to the characteristics and proximity to emission sources. Lead particles in most urban and rural air are in the submicron range. Particle sizes in the vicinity of point sources can vary considerably with distance from the source and meteorological patterns (Davidson and Osborne, 1984; Sledge, 1987). Particles >10 μ m make up a substantial proportion of the air lead near point sources. The number of inhaled lead particles of a given size range will vary with ambient air concentration and breathing rates, which vary with age and physical activity.

The entry of inhaled lead into the systemic circulation involves the processes of deposition and absorption. Amounts and patterns of deposition of particulate aerosols in the respiratory tract are affected by the size of the inhaled particles, age-related factors that determine breathing patterns (e.g., nose breathing vs. mouth breathing), airway geometry and airstream velocity within the respiratory tract. In general, large particles (>2.5 μ m) deposit in the nasopharyngeal regions of the human respiratory tract where high airstream velocities and airway geometry facilitate inertial impaction (Chamberlain et al., 1978; Chan and Lippmann, 1980). In the tracheobronchial and alveolar regions, where airstream velocities are lower, processes such as sedimentation and interception become important for deposition of smaller particles (<2.5 μ m). Diffusion and electrostatic precipitation become important for submicron particles reaching the alveolar region. Mouth breathing can be expected to increase aerosol deposition in

01/03/91

the tracheobronchial and alveolar regions because air inhaled through the mouth bypasses the nasal region where inertial impaction and mucociliary interception occur (Miller et al., 1986).

Absorption of lead from the respiratory tract is influenced by particle size and solubility as well as the pattern of regional deposition. Particles >2.5 μ m in size that are deposited primarily in the ciliated airways of the nasopharyngeal and tracheobronchial regions of the respiratory tract can be transferred by mucociliary transport into the esophagus and swallowed; only a fraction of what is swallowed is absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract. Sneezing and coughing will clear a fraction of this lead from the nasopharyngeal region. Therefore, absorption of lead initially deposited in the upper respiratory tract will not be complete. Estimates for fractional absorption of large particles (>2.5 μ m) deposited in the upper respiratory tract range from 40-50% (Kehoe, 1961a,b,c; Chamberlain and Heard, 1981).

Particles deposited in the alveolar region can enter the systemic circulation after dissolution in the respiratory tract or after ingestion by phagocytic cells (e.g., macrophages). Available evidence indicates that lead particles deposited in the alveolar region of the respiratory tract are absorbed completely. Human autopsy results have shown that lead does not accumulate in the lung after repeated inhalation. This suggests complete absorption from the alveolar region (Barry, 1975; Gross et al., 1975). Chamberlain et al. (1978) exposed adult human subjects to ²⁰³Pb in engine exhaust, lead oxide or lead nitrate (<1 μ m particle size) and observed that 90% of the deposited lead was cleared from the lung within 14 days. Morrow et al. (1980) reported 50% absorption of deposited lead inhaled as lead chloride or lead hydroxide (0.25±0.01 μ g MMAD) within 14 hours. An

2164A

analysis of the radioisotope dilution studies of Rabinowitz et al. (1977) in which adult human subjects were exposed daily to ambient air lead indicated that ~90% of the deposited lead was absorbed daily (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

Quantitative analyses of the relationship between aerosol particle size and deposition in the human respiratory tract have been combined with information on size distributions of ambient air lead aerosols to estimate deposition and absorption efficiencies for inhaled lead in adults and children (U.S EPA, 1986b; Cohen, 1987). An example of estimates of average deposition and absorption for adults living in the vicinity of a stationary industrial source are provided in Table 2-1. Summing the fractional absorption values for each region of lung yields an estimate of 38% for the fractional absorption of inhaled lead in adults living in the vicinity of an industrial source. For some urban and rural atmospheres, where submicron particles dominate the airborne lead mass, the estimated fractional absorption is 15-30% (Cohen, 1987).

Breathing patterns, airflow velocity and airway geometry change with age, giving rise to age-related differences in particle deposition (Barltrop, 1972; James, 1978; Phalen et al., 1985). Depositions in various regions of the respiratory tract in children may be higher or lower than in adults, depending on particle size (Xu and Yu, 1986). For submicron particles, fractional deposition in 2-year-old children has been estimated as ~1.5 times higher than that in adults (Xu and Yu, 1986). Estimates of regional and total fractional absorption in children can be calculated by making age-specific adjustments in regional fractional absorption for adults (Table 2-1). Adjustment factors for 2-year-old children, derived from the analysis of Xu and Yu (1986), are shown in Table 2-2. Summing the regional values yields an estimate of 42% for fractional absorption of inhaled lead

01/31/91

TABLE 2-1

Particle Size Range	% Ambient Lead Distribution Near Point Sources	Average Deposition Efficiency			Average Absorption Efficiency of Deposited Lead			% Absorption of Inhaled Lead		
(u)		ALVb	T-B ^C	N-pd	ALV	T – B	N-P	ALVe	1-B	N-P
<1.0	12.5	0.15	0.05	0.003	1	0.4	0.4	1.9	0.25	0.015
1-2.5	12.5	0.25	0.10	0.20	١	0.4	0.4	3.1	0.5	1.0
2.5-15	20	0.20	0.25	0.40	1	0.4	0.4	4.0	2.0	3.2
15 - 30	40	10	0.05	0.95	1	0.4	0.4	NC	0.8	15.2
>30	15	1 D	I D	0.95	1	0.4	0.4	NC	NC	5.7

Estimates of Regional Deposition and Absorption of Ambient Air Lead Particles in the Adult Respiratory Tract (Found Near Point Sources)^a

^aSource: Cohen, 1987

^bAlveolar

^CTracheobronchial

d_{Nasopharyngeal}

 $e_{\text{For}} < 1.0 \ \mu\text{m}$ in alveolar region: 12.5 x 0.15 x 1 = 1.9%

ID = Insufficient deposition; NC = not calculated

TABLE 2-2

Age Factor Adjustments for Calculating Deposition and Absorption of Ambient Air Lead Particles (Found Near Point Sources) in the Respiratory Tract of 2-Year-Old Children^a

Particle,	Age Fai Deposit	ctor Adju tion Effici	stment ciency	% Absorption of <u>Inhaled Lead^b</u>			
Size Range (µm)	ALVC	T-8d	N-pe	ALV ^f	T-B	N-P	
<1.0	1.5	1.5	1.5	2.9	0.4	0.02	
1-2.5	1.3	1.7	1.5	4.0	0.9	1.5	
2.5-15	0.5	1.4	2.0	2.0	2.8	6.4	
15-30	ID	0.5	1.0	NC	0.4	15.2	
>30	ID	ID	1.0	NC	NC	5.7	

^aSource: Xu and Yu, 1986

^bSumming the regional values yields an estimate of 42% for fractional absorption of inhaled lead.

^CAlveolar

^dTracheobronchial

^eNasopharyngeal

^fFor <1.0 µm in alveolar region: 1.9% (from Table 5-1) x 1.5 = 2.9%

ID = Insignificant deposition; NC = not calculated

in 2-year-old children living near a stationary industrial source. For general atmospheres in which submicron particles dominate the lead mass distribution, an adjustment factor of 1.5 can be applied to the estimated range of 15-30% for adults (Cohen, 1987).

Alkyl lead can occur in the atmosphere as a vapor or associated with atmospheric particulates (Harrison and Laxen, 1978). The retention and absorption of gaseous tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead has been examined in volunteers who inhaled ²⁰³Pb-labeled tetraalkyl lead (Heard et al., 1979). Initial lung retention was 37 and 51% for tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead, respectively. Of these amounts, 40% of tetraethyl lead and 20% of tetramethyl lead was exhaled within 48 hours; the remaining fraction (tetraethyl, 60%; tetramethyl, 80%) was absorbed. Respiratory absorption of particulate alkyl lead has not been studied.

2.2.1.2. GASTROINTESTINAL ABSORPTION -- The gastrointestinal tract is the primary site of absorption of lead in children and most adult populations, with the exception of those subject to occupational exposure (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Sources of input to the gastrointestinal tract include lead ingested in food and beverages and lead ingested in nonfood material such as dust, soil and lead-based paint. Nonfood materials are particularly important sources of lead intake in children because of normal mouthing behavior and pica. Inhaled lead that is deposited in the upper respiratory tract and subsequently swallowed also contributes to gastrointestinal input (U.S. EPA, 1986b, 1989a).

Gastrointestinal absorption of lead varies with age, diet and nutritional status as well as the chemical species and particle size of the ingested lead. Dietary balance studies have yielded estimates ranging from 7-15% for gastrointestinal absorption in adults (Kehoe, 1961a,b,c;

2164A

01/31/91

Chamberlain et al., 1978; Rabinovitz et al., 1980). Absorption may be 3-5 times greater if oral intake occurs during a period of fasting (Blake, 1976; Chamberlain et al., 1978; Heard and Chamberlain, 1982).

Gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead is greater in infants and children than in adults. A balance study in infants of ages 2 weeks to 2 years yielded estimates of 42% for children with dietary intakes of $\geq 5 \ \mu g$ Pb/kg bw. Lower dietary intakes were associated with highly variable absorption (Ziegler et al., 1978). A study conducted with infants and children of ages 2 months to 8 years (daily intake, 10 μg Pb/kg bw) yielded estimates of 53% for gastrointestinal absorption (Alexander et al., 1973).

Gastrointestinal absorption of lead is affected by a variety of dietary and nutritional factors. The results of numerous studies of the effects of diet on lead absorption and retention in humans and animals are summarized in the Air Quality Criteria Document for Lead (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Based on the results of these studies, it can be predicted that increased gastrointestinal absorption of lead may occur in populations consuming diets low or deficient in calcium, iron, phosphate, copper, vitamin D, protein or fiber, or diets having a high lipid content. This suggests that individuals with poor nutritional status may absorb more lead from environmental sources.

Gastrointestinal absorption of lead alkyls is not likely to be an important route of uptake of environmental lead because of the relatively high volatility of lead alkyls. The exception would be in situations where people are ingesting groundwater contaminated with tetraethyl lead. The acidic environment of the stomach will promote the conversion of tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead to the corresponding trialkyl derivatives (U.S. EPA, ⁻ 1986b). Although the absorption of trialkyl leads has not been studied,

2164A

extensive absorption is predicted based on information regarding the gastrointestinal absorption of the structurally similar Group IV analogs, triethyl and trimethyl tins (Barnes and Stoner, 1958).

2.2.1.3. PERCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION -- Inorganic lead is not readily absorbed through the skin. Values of 0-0.3% of administered dose were reported for humans exposed to dermal applications of cosmetic preparations containing lead acetate. The highest absorption was observed when the skin was scratched (Moore et al., 1980). Thus, percutaneous absorption is not considered to be a significant route of uptake of inorganic lead in humans, relative to gastrointestinal and respiratory tract absorption. This contrasts with lead alkyls that are absorbed through the skin to a greater extent than inorganic lead.

Tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead are rapidly absorbed through the skin in rabbits and rats (Kehoe and Thamann, 1931; Laug and Kunze, 1948). Evaporation can be expected to compete with absorption for removal from skin; however, even under conditions in which evaporation was allowed to occur, percutaneous absorption of tetraethyl lead was 6.5% (Laug and Kunze, 1948). 2.2.2. Tissue Distribution of Lead. Mineralized tissues (e.g., bone and teeth) are the single largest pool for absorbed lead, accounting for ~95% of total lead burden in adults and slightly less in children (Barry, 1975, 1981). Lead not contained in mineralized tissue is distributed in soft tissues, primarily blood, liver and kidneys. Small amounts accumulated in other soft tissues such as brain, although not quantitatively significant to the overall distribution of the body burden, are of considerable toxicological importance. Lead readily transfers across the placenta and distributes _ to fetal tissues (Horiuchi et al., 1959; Barltrop, 1959; Lauwerys et al., 1978; Kovar et al., 1984; Tsuchiya et al., 1984; Korpela et al., 1986).

2164A

Elimination half-times for lead in soft tissues are relatively short (weeks). Estimates of elimination half-times for lead in blood in adults range from 15-35 days (Chamberlain et al., 1975, 1978; Rabinowitz et al., 1973. 1976). Studies of adult and juvenile baboons indicate that elimination half-times for kidney and liver, and probably other soft tissues, are similar to that for blood (Harley and Kneip, 1985). Because of the relatively short half-life, accumulation in soft tissue does not continue over the lifetime exposure (Schroeder and Tipton, 1968; Barry and Mossman, 1970; Barry, 1975, 1981). The exceptions are the kidney cortex, in which lead accumulates in nuclear inclusion bodies (Indraprasit et al., 1974). Abrurt increases in blood lead levels can be expected to result in new higher steady-state levels in blood and other soft tissues within 60-120 days (Tola et al., 1973; Griffin et al., 1975); however, following a decrease in uptake, lead in bone and other tissue stores slowly redistributes to blood. Thus, more time may be required to achieve a new steady-state blood level after uptake decreases, depending on the level and duration of prior exposure (Rabinowitz et al., 1977; O'Flaherty et al., 1982; Gross, 1981).

Elimination half-times in children and adults for mineralized tissue, such as bone, are considerably longer than for soft tissues (years). As a result, a decade or more of constant exposure is required to achieve a steady state in bone (Rabinowitz et al., 1976; Holtzman, 1978). Bone lead can provide a store for continuous release of lead to soft tissues in the event that uptake decreases (O'Flaherty et al., 1982). Metabolic stress resulting in increased bone turnover or demineralization, such as that which normally occurs during pregnancy or aging, may accelerate release of lead from bone (Manton, 1985; Drasch et al., 1987; Zaric et al., 1987; Silbergeld et al., 1988). Therefore, the potential exists for a portion of the bone lead burden of the parent to be transferred to the fetus during pregnancy.

2164A

Limited studies on the subcellular distribution of lead in humans and more extensive studies in animals have shown that lead accumulates in the nucleus and mitochondria (Goyer et al., 1970; Cramer et al., 1974; Flood et al., 1988). Approximately 75% of lead in erythrocytes is bound to hemoglobin and other intracellular proteins; most of the remaining 25% is thought to be associated with low molecular weight ligands such as amino acids and nonprotein thiols (Bruenger et al., 1973; Raghaven and Gonick, 1977; Everson and Patterson, 1980; Ong and Lee, 1980; DeSilva, 1981). Fetal hemoglobin has a greater affinity for lead than adult hemoglobin (Ong and Lee, 1980). The fraction of blood lead in serum increases with increasing blood lead levels >40-50 μ g/d£, and may approach 2% of whole blood lead at blood lead levels >100 μ g/d£ (Manton and Cook, 1984).

Tissue distribution of lead after exposure to tetraethyl or tetramethyl lead primarily reflects the distribution of the dealkylation products, trialkyl, dialkyl and inorganic lead (Cremer, 1959; Cremer and Calloway, 1961; Stevens et al., 1960). In blood, partitioning of lead between the plasma and erythrocyte fractions varies with animal species and metabolism. Triethyl and trimethyl lead bind tightly to rat hemoglobin and concentrates in erythrocytes in this species. Human erythrocytes have a relatively low affinity for triethyl and trimethyl lead (Byington et al., 1980). After exposure to tetraalkyl leads, trialkyl leads are found in the plasma (Boeckx et al., 1977; Goldings and Stewart, 1982). After humans inhale ²⁰³Pblabeled tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead, lead distributes in whole blood primarily in the plasma fraction (Heard et al., 1979). Clearance from whole blood is nearly complete within 10 hours and is followed by the reappearance ⁻ of lead in erythrocyte fraction of whole blood may reflect dealkylation in

tissues and the appearance of dialkyl or inorganic lead in the blood, which has a higher affinity for erythrocytes than do tetraalkyl and trialkyl leads.

Lead distributes to a variety of tissues after exposure to lead alkyls. Levels of lead are highest in liver followed by kidney and brain in humans that have been exposed to tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead (Bolanowska et al., 1967; Grandjean and Nielsen, 1979). The kinetics of elimination of triethyl lead in humans has been described by a two-compartment model having half-lives of 35 and 100 days (Yamamura_et al., 1975).

2.2.2.1. METABOLISM OF LEAD -- Metabolism of inorganic lead consists primarily of reversible ligand reactions including the formation of complexes with amino acids and nonprotein thiols and binding to various cellular proteins (Bruenger et al., 1973; Raghaven and Gonick, 1977; Everson and Patterson, 1980; Ong and Lee, 1980; DeSilva, 1981).

Tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead undergo oxidative dealkylation to the corresponding trialkyl derivatives, which are thought to be the neurotoxic forms of these compounds. Dealkylation of tetraalkyl lead occurs in a variety of species, including humans (U.S. EPA, 1986b). The conversion from tetraalkyl to trialkyl lead is catalyzed by a cytochrome P-450 dependent monooxygenase system in liver microsomes (Kimmel et al., 1977) and occurs rapidly. The maximum rate of conversion of tetraethyl lead to triethyl lead was estimated to be 200 μ g/hour/g liver in rats (Cremer, 1959). Complete dealkylation to inorganic lead has been shown to occur in a variety of species, including humans. The formation of inorganic lead from tetraalkyl leads may account for the hematological effects associated with chronic exposure to alkyl leads, including exposure of children who inhale leaded gasoline.

2.2.2.2. EXCRETION OF LEAD -- Lead that is absorbed from all routes is excreted in the feces by biliary secretion, and in the urine, in ~1:2 proportions (Chamberlain et al., 1978). Approximately 50-60% of absorbed lead is excreted with a half-time of 30-50 days. The remaining fraction is distributed to tissues, primarily bone, and is excreted with a half-time of several years (Kehoe, 1961a,b,c; Rabinowitz et al., 1976; Chamberlain et al., 1978).

Lead is excreted primarily in the urine as dealkylated products after exposure to lead alkyls. The chemical form that appears in urine may vary with animal species. In humans exposed to tetraethyl lead, ~10% of urinary lead is in the form of triethyl lead (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

2.2.2.3. BIOKINETIC MODELS -- Several mathematical models have been developed to describe uptake, distribution and excretion of lead (Rabinowitz et al., 1976; Kneip et al., 1983; Marcus, 1985a,b,c). These models are important for risk assessment because they provide a basis for making predictions about levels of lead in various physiological compartments that would be associated with a given rate of uptake or exposure level. The various models that have been suggested differ in complexity with respect to the number of physiological compartments described, and assumptions regarding kinetics of exchange between compartments.

The model proposed by Rabinowitz et al. (1976) was based on the results of radioisotope tracer studies using volunteers. The model specified three physiological compartments for lead distribution: blood, soft tissue (other than blood) and bone.

The model proposed by Kneip et al. (1983) was based on kinetic constants derived from single injection studies and chronic oral exposures in adult and juvenile baboons (Kneip et al., 1983). The model was subsequently

2164A

modified to incorporate age-related changes in metabolism and physiology in humans (Harley and Kneip, 1985). Figure 2-1 illustrates the model for 2-year-old children. Three major tissue compartments that exchange with the blood compartment are defined in the model: bone, liver, kidney and gastrointestinal tract. First-order rate constants for exchanges between blood and tissues are defined along with rate constants for transfers of lead from liver to the gastrointestinal tract (e.g., biliary secretion) and from blood into the urine.

Marcus (1985a,b,c) proposed a more elaborate model based on measurements obtained from a volunteer subject who ingested lead (DeSilva, 1981). In addition to soft and hard tissue compartments, the model includes an expanded blood compartment containing four subcompartments: "deep" and "shallow" pools in the erythrocyte, and a diffusible and protein bound pool in plasma. A unique feature of this model is that it addresses nonlinearities in the relationship between lead in blood and lead in plasma.

Of the various models that have been proposed, the Harley and Kneip (1985) model is unique in that it yields age-specific predictions for lead levels in the major tissues given specified rates of lead uptake into blood. This makes it particularly suitable for applications to risk assessments in which predictions concerning the distributions of blood lead levels among various age groups within exposed populations are essential. Furthermore, because lead uptake is a primary input to the model, the model can be used in conjunction with multimedia uptake models to predict blood lead levels associated with exposure levels in various environmental media. The Harley and Kneip model has been successfully validated using available human experimental and autopsy data (Harley and Kneip, 1985). Because this model was developed specifically to predict tissue lead concentrations over time



FIGURE 2-1

Schematic Model of Lead Metabolism in 2-Year-Old Children, with Compartmental Transfer Rate Constants in young children with continuous lead uptake, the model was selected by the Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards (U.S. EPA, 1989a) for predicting blood lead levels that would be associated with lead uptakes derived from the integrated lead uptake methodologies described in Chapter 4 of this document. A more complete discussion of the integration of the Harley and Kneip (1985) model with lead uptake models is presented in Chapter 4.

2.3. SYSTEMIC AND TARGET ORGAN TOXICITY

2.3.1. Neurobehavioral Toxicity.

2.3.1.1. LEAD NEUROTOXICITY IN ADULTS -- Severe lead neurotoxicity is characterized by overt symptoms of irritability, shortening of attention span, headache, muscular tremor, peripheral neuropathy, abdominal pain, loss of memory and hallucinations. Delirium, convulsions, paralysis and death can also occur. In adults, some of these overt symptoms may become apparent at blood lead levels in the range of 40-60 μ g/d1 (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

Nonovert symptoms of neurotoxicity that have been associated with lead exposure in adults include impaired performance on psychomotor tests, decreased nerve conduction velocity and impaired cognitive function (e.g., IQ). Blood lead levels associated with these effects range upwards from 30 μ g/dl (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

2.3.1.2. LEAD NEUROTOXICITY IN CHILDREN -- Symptoms of overt neurotoxicity in children are similar to those observed in adults. Nonovert symptoms of neurotoxicity that have been reported in children include impairments or abnormalities in psychomotor and cognitive function. Numerous studies have examined psychomotor and cognitive function of "high-risk" populations of children. Such populations are those typically identified from clinical lead screening programs as having elevated blood lead levels, children with previous histories of lead encephalopathy or

paint pica and children with possible occupational exposure (e.g., lead pottery manufacture). Based on an extensive review of these data, the Agency concluded that, although the evidence is not conclusive, severe psychomotor and cognitive deficits appear to be associated with blood lead levels at the range of $\geq 40-60 \ \mu g/dz$ (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

Studies of general pediatric populations (e.g., infants and children with no known history of excessive exposure or toxicity) provide information about subtle neurological effects in children with lower blood lead levels and body burdens than the studies of high-risk populations. An extensive Agency review of these studies concluded the following (U.S. EPA, 1986b):

1) they are suggestive of relatively minimal (if any) effects on IQ in general populations, especially in comparison with the much larger effects of other factors (e.g., social variables), at the exposure levels evaluated in these studies (blood lead levels mainly in the 15-30 μ g/dL range); and 2) they are not incompatible with findings of significant lead effects on IQ at average blood lead levels (\geq 30 μ g/dL).

Several large-scale studies have been reported since completion of the above analysis (U.S. EPA, 1986b) that indicate effects on mental development and cognitive ability associated with blood lead levels $\leq 10-15 \ \mu g/dt$. A brief discussion of the key prospective studies of mental development in infants and young children is presented in Section 2.4.1. of this document.

Two recent cross-sectional studies on cognitive ability in school-aged children have been reported. As shown in Figure 2-2, an inverse linear association between Stanford-Binet IQ scores and contemporary blood lead levels was seen over the entire range of 6-47 μ g/d² in a study of uniformly low socioeconomic status black children, 3-7 years old (Hawk et al., 1986; Schroeder and Hawk, 1987). A study of 6- to 9-year-old children in Edinburgh, Scotland, also indicated a negative linear correlation between blood lead and scores on tests of cognitive ability (Fulton et al., 1987).

2164A


FIGURE 2-2

Child IQ as a Function of Blood Lead Level in Children 3-7 Years Old Source: Schroeder and Hawk, 1987

01/03/91

The correlation extended across a range of 5-22 μ g/d½ mean blood lead levels (Figure 2-3).

A more recent study examined data on nerve conduction velocity in children living in the vicinity of a lead smelter (Schwartz et al., 1988). Based on "hockey stick," quadratic and logistic regression analyses of the maximal nerve conduction velocity and blood lead level data in 202 children (ages 5-9 years), a threshold for decreased maximal nerve conduction was estimated to be within the range of 20-30 μ g/d% (Figure 2-4).

Animal studies provide the opportunity to examine neurobehavioral effects of lead under controlled conditions, which are not possible in human studies. Recent data with nonhuman primates provide strong support for high sensitivity to lead in newborns (Levin et al., 1988; Bushnell and Bowman, 1979a,b; Gilbert and Rice, 1987). Exposure to low levels of lead appears to disrupt the normal maturation of the nervous system, which may cause subsequent functional defecits (Cookman et al., 1987, 1988).

2.3.2. Effects of Lead on Heme Biosynthesis and Erythropoiesis. The process of heme biosynthesis is outlined in Figure 2-5. Lead interferes with heme biosynthesis by decreasing the activity of the enzymes aminolevulinic acid dehydrase (ALA-D) and ferrochelatase. Increased activity of the enzyme aminolevulinic acid synthetase (ALA-S) may also occur as a secondary effect of feedback regulation. While these effects can be most readily demonstrated in erythroblasts, there is evidence that indicates lead may derange heme biosynthesis in other tissues, including the central nervous system (Moore and Goldberg 1985; Silbergeld, 1987). Thus, altered heme metabolism in erythroblasts may be indicative of similar disruptions in other erythropoietic tissues that may contribute to more severe systemic or neurological effects.

2164A



Blood lead (ug/dl)



British Ability Scales Combined Score (BASC, Heans and 95% Confidence Intervals) as a Function of Blood Lead Level in Children δ -9 Years Old

Source: Fulton et al., 1987



FIGURE 2-4

Maximal Nerve Conduction Time as a Function of Blood Lead Level in Children, 5-9 Years Old. Data from 202 children are fit to logistic, quadratic and "Hockey Stick" models

Source: Schwartz et al., 1988





Effects of Lead on Heme Blosynthesis

Source: U.S. EPA, 1986b

Significant impairment of hemoglobin synthesis occurs in adults at relatively high blood levels. The threshold for a decrease in blood hemoglobin in adults and children is achieved at a blood lead level of 50 μ g/d2 (Meredith et al., 1977; Fischbein, 1977; Alvares et al., 1975). Frank anemia in adults has been associated with levels >80 μ g/d2 (Tola et al., 1973; Grandjean, 1979; Lilis et al., 1978; Wada et al., 1973; Baker et al., 1979). The relationship between blood lead levels and heme biosynthesis in other sensitive tissues, such as central nervous or cardiovascular tissues, has not been characterized.

The effects of lead on erythroblast heme biosynthesis can be detected from measurements of the activity of erythrocyte ALA-D or levels of erythrocyte protoporphyrin (EP), a substrate for ferrochelatase. Erythroblast ALA-D activity is inversely correlated with blood lead level in infants, children and adults (Figure 2-6); the correlation persists when examined across a range of blood lead levels $\leq 3-4 \mu g/dt$, suggesting that inhibition of ALA-D may occur at these low blood lead levels (Hernberg and Nikkanen, 1970; Hernberg et al., 1970; Roels et al., 1975, 1976; Lauwerys et al., 1978; Chisolm et al., 1985). The dose-response relationship for ALA-D inhibition at levels $\leq 20 \mu g/dt$ has not been completely characterized; therefore, the existence of a threshold has not been verified.

The extensive information regarding the effects of lead on EP levels in humans is critically reviewed in several Agency documents (U.S. EPA, 1986a; ATSDR/U.S. EPA, 1988). The threshold for elevated EP in children is ~15 µg/dL (Roels et al., 1976; Piomelli et al., 1982; Hammond et al., 1985; Rabinowitz et al., 1986). A dose-response analysis based on the data from Piomelli et al. (1982) is shown in Figure 2-7. The dose-response relationships for elevated EP in children and adults when examined across a range of

2164A



FIGURE 2-6

Blood ALA-D Activity As a Function of Blood Lead Level in 158 Adults. Solid Circles, Medical Students; Open Circles, Workers in Print Shop; Solid Squares, Automobile Repair Workers; Open Squares, Lead Smelters and Shipscrapers

Source: NAS, 1972





Probit Dose-Response Functions for Elevated Erythrocyte Protoporphyrin as Function of Blood Lead Level in Children. Geometric Mean + 1 SD = 33 μ g/d1; Geometric Mean + 2 SD = 53 μ g/d1

Source: Piomelli et al., 1982

blood lead levels extending from $10-40 \ \mu g/ds$. Indicate that children are more sensitive than adults and that adult females may be more sensitive than males (Roels et al., 1976). The lower range of blood lead levels at which EP levels become elevated is below that associated with decrement in blood hemoglobin levels and anemia (Hammond et al., 1985). Elevated protoporphyrin levels, although not necessarily an adverse effect per se, are indicative of disturbances in heme metabolism that may extend to other heme proteins other than hemoglobin.

The enzyme P5N is also inhibited by lead (Paglia and Valentine, 1975). This enzyme catalyzes the dephosphorylation of pyrimidine nucleotide monophosphates and plays an important role in the regulation of the levels of pyrimidine nucleotides within the erythroblast. The pathological significance of inhibition of P5N by lead is unknown; however, congenital deficiency of this enzyme. in which <10% of normal activity is present in the erythroblast, is associated with a syndrome of hemolytic anemia (Valentine et al., 1974). Thus, inhibition of erythroblast P5N may contribute to the anemia associated with relatively high blood lead levels ($\geq 80 \ \mu g/d\Omega$) (Tola et al., 1973; Grandjean, 1979; Lillis et al., 1978; Wada et al., 1973; Baker et al., 1979). The inhibition of P5N may also contribute to a disruption of mRNA and protein biosynthesis in the erythroblast.

Inhibition of P5N in human erythrocytes can be detected from measurements of the levels of pyrimidine nucleotide monophosphate substrates for this enzyme or from measurements of catalytic activity of erythrocyte preparations. Levels of erythrocyte pyrimidine nucleotide monophosphate are elevated in children that have blood lead levels exceeding 30 μ g/dg. This suggests that significant inhibition of P5N occurs at blood lead levels >30 μ g/dg (Angle et al., 1982). Catalytic activity of erythrocyte P5N

2164A

is inversely correlated with blood lead in children (Angle and McIntire, 1978; Angle et al., 1982). The correlation persists when examined across a range of blood lead levels extending from 7-80 μ g/d2, suggesting that inhibition of P5N may occur at levels possibly <10 μ g/d2 (Figure 2-8).

In conclusion, the available information indicates the potential for undesirable effects on heme biosynthesis and erythroblast pyrimidine metabolism in children with blood lead levels >10-15 μ g/d2, and possibly at lower levels.

2.3.3. Effects of Lead on the Kidney. Acute lead-induced nephrotoxicity is characterized by proximal tubular nephropathy. Characteristic lesions described in both humans and animals include nuclear inclusion bodies and mitochondrial changes in the epithelial cells of the pars recta of the proximal tubule and impaired solute reabsorption (e.g., glucose, amino acids, phosphate). Chronic toxicity is characterized by interstitial fibrosis and decreased glomerular filtration rate (Goyer, 1982; U.S. EPA, 1986b; ATSDR/U.S. EPA, 1988).

Acute nephrotoxicity has been observed in children with lead encephalopathy and is associated with relatively high blood lead levels (i.e., >80 μ g/d£) (Chisolm et al., 1955; Chisolm 1962, 1968; Pueschel et al., 1972; U.S. EPA, 1986b). Chronic nephropathy, indicated by nuclear inclusion bodies, mitochondrial changes, interstitial fibrosis and glomerular changes, has been associated with prolonged (\geq 10 years) occupational exposures and blood lead levels >40-60 μ g/d£ (Lills et al., 1968; Cramer et al., 1974; Biagini et al., 1977; Wedeen et al., 1975, 1979; Buchet et al., 1980; Hong et al., 1980).

2.3.4. Effects of Lead on Blood Pressure. The relationship between concurrent blood lead levels and blood pressure in adults has been examined

2164A



FIGURE 2-8

Erythrocyte Pyrimidine 5'-Nucleotidase Activity (P5N Units) as a Function of Blood Lead Level in 25 Children, 1-5 Years Old

Source: Angle et al, 1982

in several epidemiological studies. Particularly notable are four large epidemiology studies: the British Regional Heart Study (BRHS), the analysis of the second National Health and Nutrition Evaluation Survey (NHANES II) and two studies conducted in Wales. The estimated change in mean systolic blood pressure for a doubling of blood lead, as assessed from analyses of these four large-scale studies (Pocock et al., 1988) is shown in Figure 2-9.

The BRHS study analyzed data on blood lead levels and blood pressure in 7735 middle-aged men (aged 40-49) from 24 British towns (Pocock et al., 1984, 1985, 1988). Systolic and diastolic blood pressure were positively correlated with blood lead levels across a range of blood lead levels extending from ~10-40 μ g/dg. Based on a linear regression analysis of the data, it was predicted that doubling of blood lead levels was associated with an increase of 1.45 mm Hg systolic pressure and 1.25 mm Hg diastolic pressure.

Several analyses of data on blood pressure and blood lead levels from NHANES II have been reported (Harlan et al., 1985; Pirkle et al., 1985; Landis and Flegal, 1987). Systolic and diastolic blood pressure was positively correlated with blood lead levels over a range of blood lead levels that extended from 7-34 μ g/dt. Based on a linear regression analysis of data from ~20,000 subjects, it was predicted that a doubling of blood lead levels (e.g., from 8-16 μ g/dt) was associated with an increase of 2-3 mm Hg systolic blood pressure.

Two surveys conducted in Wales examined the relationship between blood lead and blood pressure (Elwood et al., 1988a,b). The Welsh Heart Programme analyzed data from 865 men and 856 women. Mean blood lead levels were $12^{-1} \mu g/d2$ for men and $10 \mu g/d2$ for women. A regression analysis was applied to the data. No statistically significant relationship between

2164A



(mm Hg) for a doubling of blood lead

FIGURE 2-9

Comparison of Study Results from Four Larger-Scale Epidemiology Studies of Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships in Adult Men. BRHS, British Regional Heart Study (Pocock et al., 1988); NHANES II, National Health and Nutrition Evaluation Survey (Schwartz, 1988); Caerphilly and Wales, Welsh Studies (Elwood et al., 1988a,b)

Source: Pocock et al., 1988

blood pressure and blood lead level was established. The Caerphilly Collaborative Heart disease study analyzed data from 865 adult males living in Caerphilly, Wales (Elwood et al., 1988b). Regression analysis did not reveal a statistically significant relationship between blood pressure and blood lead.

In addition to the four large-scale studies described above, preliminary analysis of a cross-sectional study from Canada was recently reported (Neri et al., 1988). This study analyzed data from 2193 subjects. A statistically significant (p<0.01) relationship between blood lead levels and diastolić blood pressure was reported. Several small-scale studies have been reported that show significant relationships between occupational exposure to lead and blood pressure (Sharp et al., 1988; Weiss et al., 1988; Moreau et al., 1988).

Although the results of individual studies vary with respect to the quantitative relationship between blood lead and blood pressure, the weight of evidence provided by the several 'large scale epidemiology studies and numerous small scale epidemiology studies supports the existence of a positive correlation between blood lead level and blood pressure. In addition, the results of numerous animal studies support a dose-response relationship between lead exposure and elevated blood pressure. Chronic exposure to inorganic lead increases blood pressure in laboratory animals (Victery, 1988), increases plasma renin activity (Vander, 1988) and appears to sensitize the vascular endothelium to pressor agents (Chai and Webb, 1988). The correlation between blood lead levels and blood pressure in humans appears to extend to blood lead levels <20 μ g/d£, and possibly to as low as 7 μ g/d£. This suggests that as blood lead level increases >7 μ g/d£ to levels ≥ 20 μ g/d£, the risk for increased blood pressure

2164A

increases. The precise function that describes the dose-effect relationship over a range of blood lead levels <40 μ g/d2 has not been characterized. This may reflect (in part) the relatively small quantitative effect of blood lead on blood pressure. Assuming a linear relationship between blood lead level and blood pressure, the BRHS and NHANES II analyses predict an increase of 1-3 mm Hg systolic blood pressure for a doubling of blood lead level (e.g., from 8-16 μ g/d2). With such a low magnitude effect, detection of effects <10 μ g/d2 may not be possible even with large-scale epidemiology studies, such as the NHANES II analysis. Nevertheless, a sustained increase in blood pressure of only a few mm Hg may have a significant public health impact in terms of cardiovascular and related diseases (Pirkle et al., 1985).

2.3.5. Effects of Lead on Serum Vitamin D Levels. 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol, the active form of vitamin D, is a hormone that plays an important role in the regulation of gastrointestinal absorption and renal excretion of calcium and phosphorus and in the mineralization of bone. Deficiencies in 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol are associated with decreased bone mineralization and clinical syndrome of rickets in children. 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol may also stimulate gastrointestinal absorption of lead (Smith et al., 1978). Serum levels of 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol are inversely correlated with blood lead in children (Rosen et al., 1980; Mahaffey et al., 1982). The correlation persists when examined across a range of blood lead levels extending from 12-60 μ g/dt; however, the dose-effect relationship has not been characterized (Figure 2-10). Based on a linear regression analysis of data on serum 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol and blood lead levels in children as well as data on 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol levels in other vitamin D related clinical disorders in children,



\$1000 Pb 4.9/4"



Serum 1,25-D1hydroxycholecalciferol (1,25-CC) Levels as a Function of Blood Lead Levels in 50 Children, 2-3 Years Old

Source: Mahaffey et al., 1982

it has been predicted that increasing the blood lead levels from 12-60 μ g/d2 will lower serum 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol to clinically adverse levels (Mahaffey et al., 1982). Chronic depression of serum 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol levels of a much smaller magnitude than that associated with frank clinical disorders of calcium and phosphate metabolism have the potential to alter bone development and growth in children; therefore, blood lead levels >12 μ g/d2 should be considered potentially undesirable with respect to changes in 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol levels in children.

2.4. DEVELOPMENTAL/REPRODUCTIVE TOXICITY AND GENOTOXICITY

2.4.1. Mental Development in Infants and Children. The effects of prenatal and neonatal lead exposure on perinatal status and postnatal mental and motor development have been examined in several epidemiologic studies. Four prospective studies initiated in the cities of Boston, Cincinnati, Cleveland and Port Pirie, Australia are particularly notable. Based on an extensive evaluation of these studies, the U.S. EPA concluded that "All of these studies taken together suggest that neurobehavioral deficits, including declines in Bayley Mental Development' Index (MDI) scores and other assessments of neurobehavioral function, are associated with prenatal blood lead exposure levels on the order of 10-15 μ g/d£, and possibly even lower, as indexed by maternal or cord blood lead concentrations" (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Evaluations of more recent follow-ups reinforce this conclusion.

Boston prospective study. The Boston study consisted of a longitudinal analysis of mental development in infants (Bellinger et al., 1987a,b, 1989a). Infants were classified according to "low," "mid" or "high" expo-sure groups, based on cord blood lead levels at birth: low, <3 μ g/d2; mid, 6-7 μ g/d2; high, 10-25 μ g/d2. The Bayley MDI was administered

to each child at ages 6, 12, 18 and 24 months. Data were collected on a large number of social and medical covariates, including care taking and parental intelligence. A deficit of 4.8 points on the MDI was detected in children whose blood lead levels were $10-25 \ \mu g/d2$ at birth, as compared with children whose blood lead levels were $3 \ \mu g/d2$ at birth (Bellinger et al., 1987a). A plot of covariated-adjusted MDI scores vs. age at testing for each group in the Bellinger et al. (1987a) study is shown in Figure 2-11.

Preliminary results of an analysis of data collected in a follow-up study has been reported (Bellinger et al., 1987b, 1989b). At age 57 months, scores on the McCarthy Scales General Cognitive Index (GCI) were inversely associated with blood lead level at age 24 months (3-25 μ g/d£), but were not correlated with cord blood lead levels at birth. Improvement of cognitive performance, as assessed from the GCI, appeared to be related to concurrent blood lead as well as prenatal blood lead and socioeconomic factors. For example, the inverse association between 57-month GCI and blood lead level was considerably larger among children with cord blood lead levels of 10 μ g/d£ or slightly above. Thus, it appeared to be more likely that cognitive deficits persisted to age 57 months in children with higher postnatal blood lead levels or less favorable socioeconomic factors or both.

The data reported thus far from the Boston study indicate that lead levels within or exceeding the range 10-25 μ g/ds are associated with decrements or delays in mental development. This is consistent with a 10-15 μ g/ds range of concern for undesirable effects in children.

<u>Cincinnati prospective study</u>. The study initiated in Cincinnati consisted of a longitudinal analysis of mental and physical development in infants (Dietrich et al., 1987, 1989). MDI was measured at 3, 6, 12 and 24

2164A



FIGURE 2-11

Mental Development Index (Covariate adjusted, Mean and SD) as a Function of Age for Children Grouped into Three Ranges of Cord Blood Lead Level; Low, <3 µg/d1; Medium, 6-7 µg/d1; High, 10-25 µg/d1

Source: Bellinger et al., 1987a

months. Structural equation modeling, a form of regression analysis, was used to examine statistical interactions between MDI scores and both prenatal blood lead levels (range $1-27 \mu g/dt$), cord blood lead levels $(1-27 \mu g/dt)$ and neonatal (10-day) blood levels $(1-22 \mu g/dt)$, as well as several other possible covariables, including medical and socioeconomic parameters. The analysis revealed a significant relationship between elevated prenatal and cord blood lead and lower MDI scores at 3 or 6 months of age. At 12 months of age, however, neither prenatal nor cord blood levels were significantly related to MDI scores although the relationship between neonatal (10-day) blood lead and MDI scores remained statistically significant. An inverse relationship between prenatal blood lead levels and MDI scores through birth weight persisted out to 12 months (Dietrich et al., 1989). At 24 months, neither prenatal, cord blood nor neonatal (10-day) blood lead levels were significantly related to MDI scores. Thus, the effects on mental development detected in the Cincinnati study appeared to be transient. The investigators hypothesized that the transiency of the decrements in MDI scores might reflect a "catch up" response of infants related to lower birth weights or gestational age in the infants with higher prenatal blood lead levels (Section 2.4.2.).

Postural sway was measured in a small group of 6-year-old children from the Cincinnati cohort (Bhattacharya et al., 1988). Peak blood level at 2 years (9-50 μ g/dž) was significantly related to postural sway at 6 years. This suggests the possibility of persistent deficits in balance related to childhood lead exposure.

The subjects in the Cincinnati study were not grouped by blood lead as in the Boston study; therefore, it is more difficult to categorize effects associated with a specific range of blood lead levels between 1 and 28

2164A

 μ g/dL. Nevertheless, the study corroborates some of the important findings of the Boston study because both studies detected an apparent effect of lead on mental development (MDI scores) during the first 12 months in infants exposed to prenatal blood lead levels or neonatal blood lead levels <25 μ g/dL. Thus, the study supports 10-15 μ g/dL as a range of concern for undesirable effects in children.

Cleveland prospective study. The longitudinal study initiated in Cleveland is unique because it examined a series of neurobehavioral measures of neonatal sensorimotor function. The tests included the Brazelton Neonatal Behavioral Assessment Scale (NBAS) for Habituation, Orientation, Motor Performance, Range of State, Autonomic Regulation and Abnormal Reflexes, and the Graham-Rosenbleth Behavioral Examination for Newborns (G-R) for General Maturation, Soft Signs and Muscle Tonus (Ernhart et al., 1986). The results of a multiple regression analysis indicated that decreased scores for G-R Soft Signs and NBAS were significantly related to cord lead levels $(2-15 \mu g/ds)$ but not maternal blood lead (3-12) $\mu q/d r$). The results of follow-up studies at 6, 12, 24 and 36 months were somewhat equivocal with respect to the effects of lead on mental development (Ernhart et al., 1987). Lower scores on the PDI and MDI of the Bayley Scales, and the KID at 6 months were significantly related to higher maternal blood lead $(3-12 \mu g/dt)$ but not to cord blood lead (3-15)Concurrent 6-month blood lead was positively associated with μq/d**î**). KID score (e.g., higher blood lead levels were associated with higher KID scores). A portion of the Cleveland cohort was tested at 4 years, 10 months on the WPPSI. After accounting for covariates, significant effects of lead were not detected (Ernhart and Morrow-Tlucak, 1987).

2164A

2-40

01/03/91

The Cleveland study examined a cohort having a range of relatively low blood lead levels (<15 μ g/dŁ). This may explain why relatively few of the infant development indices were found to be related to blood lead, even though some of the tests were redundant. It is likely that >50% of women in this cohort consumed considerable amounts of alcohol during their pregnancy; the alcohol-induced effects on physical and mental development of newborns may have masked any subtle effects of lead.

A brief report on outcomes in this cohort noted a significant association between performance on the G-R Neurological Soft Signs scale and 12-month MDI scores (Wolf et al., 1985). Thus, it is possible to infer a relationship between cord blood lead levels and 12-month MDI performance in the Cleveland study, although Ernhart et al. (1986, 1987) did not conclude that such an association exists. Since the mean cord blood lead was 6 μ g/dL and the maximum 15 μ g/dL, any effect of prenatal lead exposure necessarily occurred at blood lead levels <15 μ g/dL. From this perspective, the Cleveland study corroborates the major finding of the Boston and Cincinnati studies: a positive relationship between MDI scores during the first year of postnatal life and blood lead levels.

<u>Port Pirie prospective study</u>. The Port Pirie study examined cohorts of infants born to mothers living in the vicinity of a lead smelting operation in Port Pirie, Australia, and infants from outside the Port Pirie area. Maternal blood and cord lead levels were slightly but significantly higher in the Port Pirie cohort than in the cohort from outside Port Pirie; mean cord blood lead was 10 vs. 6 μ g/dt. Reduced MDI scores were significantly associated with higher integrated postnatal blood lead levels and with 6-month blood lead levels, but not with prenatal or delivery blood lead levels. Mean blood lead levels in the children were 14 μ g/dt at 6

2164A

months of age and 21 μ g/d2 at 15 and 24 months of age (McMichael et al., 1986; Vimpani et al., 1985; Baghurst et al., 1987). The results of a linear regression analysis of the data indicated an apparent 4-point deficit in MDI for every 10 μ g/d2 increase in blood lead. After making adjustments for maternal IQ and care-taking environment, this deficit decreased to 2 points for every 10 μ g/d2 increase in blood lead. Follow-up study of these children at 4 years of age included the McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities. Deficits in GCI scores were associated with increase integrated postnatal blood lead and GCI scores indicated that an increase in integrated postnatal blood lead and GCI score.

<u>Mexico City prospective study</u>. Premilinary results of a pilot study in Mexico City for a longitudinal investigation of developmental outcomes related to lead exposure and other factors have been reported by Rothenberg et al. (1989). Approximately 50 mothers were sampled for blood lead levels at 36 weeks (M36) of pregnancy and delivery (MD); umbilical cord blood lead (UC) was also sampled at delivery. Mean maternal blood lead levels were 15.0 μ g/dt at 36 weeks of pregnancy and 15.4 μ g/dt at delivery. Mean cord-blood lead levels at delivery were 13.8 μ g/dt. The Brazelton NBAS was administered to the infants at 48 hours and 15 and 30 days after birth.

The data were analyzed by calculating the trend of the NBAS subscale scores over the first 30 days by linear regression analysis and by computing the difference in M36 and MD values or M36 and UC values. The relationships among the various primary and secondary measures were then examined through bivariate correlations and multivariate repression analyses. Significant

01/31/91

bivariate correlations were found between UC blood lead and the 30-day trend in NBAS Abnormal Reflexes (r=0.299, p<0.05), between the M36-MD blood lead difference and Regulation of States (r=0.378, p<0.05), and between the MD-UC blood lead difference and Abnormal Reflexes (r= -0.451, p<0.01). The signs of all the correlations reflected impairment of functions. Stepwise multiple regression modeling with all covariates entered before the lead variable revealed that the blood lead differentials for M36-MD and for MD-UC accounted for a significant amount of the variance in the Abnormal Reflexes trend (p~0.03 for each). Similarly, M36-MD accounted for a significant amount of the variance (p=0.025). However, UC alone was no longer significantly associated with Abnormal Reflexes. A major limitation of this study was its relatively small sample size (n=44).

The results of the most recent studies of lead and mental development are summarized in Figure 2-12. The four prospective studies differed greatly in design and scope, and discrepancies in the results are to be anticipated given the complex nature of the endpoints evaluated. Nevertheless, when taken together with the results of cross-sectional studies (Hawk et al., 1986; Ferguson et al., 1988a,b,c; Hatzakis et al., 1987; Lyngbye et al., 1989; Fulton et al., 1987), corroborative evidence for effects on physical and mental development in infants and children exposed to lead is provided. All four studies detected a relationship between elevated blood lead levels and lower mental development (MDI scores) during the first 12 months in infants exposed to prenatal or postnatal (or both) blood lead Thus, it is probable that as blood lead levels levels $<30 \mu q/dt$. approach >30 μ g/ds, the risks for undesirable effects increase. It is more difficult to draw conclusions regarding the exact dose-effect relationship over the range of blood lead levels extending $<30 \mu g/d\Omega$. The

2164A



FIGURE 2-12

Comparison of Results From Prospective and Cross-Sectional Studies of Mental Development. [Shown is the range of blood lead levels (solid line) for which significant statistical associations for various indices of mental development and blood lead level were detected. Studies are organized vertically according to the age at which the deficit or delay was observed.] Boston study (Bellinger et al., 1987a) indicates significant effects on mental development related to blood lead levels within the range 10-25 μ g/dL. The Cincinnati (Dietrich et al., 1987), Cleveland (Ernhart et al., 1986, 1987) and Port Pirie (Baghurst et al., 1987; McMichael et al., 1988) studies indicate effects within the ranges of 1-28, 3-15 and 8-32 μ g/dL, respectively. Given the results of the these studies, it is reasonable to conclude that any threshold that might exist is in the range of 10-15 μ g/dL blood lead, and possibly lower.

2.4.2. Growth Deficits. The structural analysis used in the Cincinnati prospective study indicated the possibility that the decrement in MDI scores might have been secondary to lead-related effects on either gestational age at birth or birth weight (Dietrich et al., 1987). A separate regression analysis of the Cincinnati data examined the relationship between prenatal blood lead levels $(1-26 \mu g/dt)$ and birth weight (Bornschein et al., 1989). A dose-response analysis indicated that decreased birth weight was related to increased maternal blood lead levels. The percentages of women delivering infants of low birth weight (<2750 g) were 19, 21 and 33%, corresponding to maternal blood lead intervals of 1-6, 7-12 and 13-18 ug/dg, respectively. This analysis indicated that concern for maternal blood lead levels is within the range of $10-15 \mu g/dr$. Maternal age was identified as a major covariate; thus, it appeared as if a given blood lead level was associated with a larger decrement in birth weight in older women (e.g., 30 years) than in younger women (e.g., 18 years). In a subsequent analysis of the Cincinnati data, growth rate (height) in infants, 3-15 months of age, was inversely correlated to postnatal blood lead increases. Mean blood lead levels increased from 5.3 μ g/dt at 3 months to 14.6 μ g/dt at 15 months (Shukla et al., 1987, 1989).

2164A

Effects of lead on pre- ani postnatal growth are supported by several other studies including Lauwers et al. (1986), Schwartz et al. (1986), Ward et al. (1987), Fahim et al. (1976) and Huel and Boudene (1981).

2.4.3. Effects on Fertility and Pregnancy Outcome. Severe occupational exposure to lead has been associated with increased incidence of spontaneous abortion (U.S. EPA, 1986b). However, early studies do not provide reliable descriptions of dose-effect relationships. The Port Pirie cohort study described in Section 2.4.1. examined pregnancy outcome in populations near and distant from a lead smelter. The risk for pre-term delivery was positively related to maternal blood lead, over a range of B-32 μ g/d£ (McMichael et al., 1986). The relative risk for pre-term delivery was 4.4 for maternal lead levels >14 μ g/d£ (range 14-32 μ g/d£, mean 17 μ g/d£).

Depressed sperm production and development has been associated with occupational exposure to lead. Based on studies by Lancranjan et al. (1975) and Wildt et al. (1983), the Agency concluded that undesirable effects on sperm or testes may occur in men as a result of chronic exposures leading to blood lead levels of 40-50 μ g/d2 (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

2.4.4. Genotoxicity. Studies relating to genotoxicity of lead are reviewed in the Air Quality Criteria Document for Lead (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Structural chromosomal aberrations and increased sister chromatid exchanges in peripheral lymphocytes have been associated with chronic exposure to lead resulting in blood lead levels in the range of 24-89 μ g/dŁ, although effects were not observed over this range of blood levels in numerous studies (U.S. EPA, 1986b). This may reflect the differences in exposure duration in relation to lymphocyte proliferation and turnover. In one study, increased sister chromatid exchange was positively correlated with exposure duration and zinc protoporphyrin levels, but correlated poorly with blood lead level (Grandjean et al., 1983).

2164A

Bacterial systems generally are regarded as inappropriate for assaying metal ions. The U.S. EPA (1989b) reviewed the data on chromosome aberrations in higher organisms; alterations in chromosome structure appeared to depend on factors such as harvest time following exposure, duration and route of exposure, and test system. Furthermore, diet influenced the chromosome breakage induced by lead <u>in vivo</u>. Lead-exposed animals on calcium-deficient diets have exhibited a higher incidence of chromosomal aberrations than lead-exposed animals on standard diets. Other studies reviewed by the U.S. EPA (1989b) demonstrated that lead compounds induce cell transformation in Balb/3T3 mouse cells and Fisher 344 rat embryo cells infected with the Rauscher murine leukemia virus. Collectively, these studies suggest that lead produces undesirable effects on chromosomes.

2.5. SUMMARY

Correlation and regression analyses of data on blood lead levels and various health effects point to a spectrum of undesirable effects that become apparent in populations having a range of blood lead levels extending upward from 10-15 μ g/dt. These include effects on heme metabolism and erythrocyte pyrimidine nucleotide metabolism, serum vitamin D levels, mental and physical development of infants and children and blood pressure in adults. Although correlations between blood lead levels extending <10 μ g/dt, the risks associated with blood lead levels <10 μ g/dt are less certain. Although it is not possible to define with certainty the risks associated blood pressure), the weight of evidence suggests that blood levels in the range of 10-15 μ g/dt or possibly lower are likely to be associated with one or more undesirable effects. Therefore, regulatory

2164A

2-47

01/03/91

decisions regarding environmental lead should take into account the evidence for potentially adverse health effects at relatively low blood lead levels.

The results of studies on the effects of lead in children are summarized Evidence from several studies supports a relationship in Figure 2-13. between prenatal and postnatal lead exposure in infants and young children. as indexed by blood lead levels, and a variety of diverse effects. These include impaired or delayed mental and physical development, decreased heme biosynthesis and other biochemical effects on erythrocytes, and decreased levels of serum vitamin D levels. Although a threshold for these effects has not been established, the evidence suggests that it may lie within 10-15 ug/de or possibly lower. As blood lead levels increase above the range of 10-15 $\mu q/ds$, the risk for more pronounced effects on all of the above endpoints increases. At levels >30 μ g/dg, the risk for nephrotoxicity and overt neurological effects (e.g., encephalopathy) becomed substantial. Thus, infants and children appear to be at least as sensitive to lead than adults if the dose-effect relationship for these effects in children is compared with that for effects on blood pressure in adults.

Effects of lead on development are particularly disturbing in that the consequences of early delays or deficits in physical or mental development may have long-term consequences over the lifetime of affected individuals. Furthermore, mouthing behavior is a significant mechanism for lead uptake in infants. Thus, infants and young children can be expected to be particularly susceptible to changes in lead levels in dust and dirt (see Chapter 4 for further discussion). For these reasons, infants and children (up to 2 years) can be considered to be the critical sensitive population on which to focus regulatory decisions regarding environmental lead.

2164A





Summary of Studies Relating Blood Lead Levels and Effects on Various Toxicity Endpoints in Infants and Children. Lines represent range of blood leads for which significnat statistical associations were detected for each effect. Solid squares indicate mean blood levels for the population studied. Currently available information on the blokinetics of inorganit lead indicate that oral exposure to lead in food and beverages and nonfood sources such as dust and soil will be the most quantitatively significant route of uptake of environmental lead in most populations of infants and children. Therefore, abatement strategies that focus on these sources are likely to be the most productive for lowering blood lead levels.

Numerous epidemiological studies have indicated the importance of fetal lead exposure on lead burdens in infants and children. These studies (Cincinnati and Port Pirie) also indicate that children born with high lead body burdens may be more vulnerable to further exposure in early childhood. This further emphasizes the importance of focusing regulatory policies on children, who ultimately pass their lead burden's on to future generations.

Although the health effects of lead have been correlated with levels of lead in blood, the largest physiological compartment for lead distribution is bone, which has a relatively long elimination half-time. Lead is slowly released from bone and will distribute to other tissues when uptake levels are decreased. As a result, new steady-state levels of lead in blood may be achieved years after uptake decreases. Release of lead from bone may be accelerated in conditions of metabolic stress, including pregnancy, in which resorption of bone occurs. The relatively slow turnover of bone lead must be considered when evaluating the potential health impact of decreasing levels of lead in important exposure media. Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic models that incorporate age-related changes in bone metabolism and other physiological parameters that affect the distribution and excretion of lead can be particularly useful for predicting the impact of regulatory or – abatement decisions on blood lead levels.

3. EXPOSURE ASSESSMENT

3.1. BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS: ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURE

The emerging evidence of a constellation of biochemical effects, along with subtle health effects at low levels of lead exposure (\leq 30 µg/dž), is considered indicative that low-level lead exposure has a far-reaching impact on fundamental cellular enzymatic, energy transfer and calcium homeostatic mechanisms. These effects can be expressed in infants and children as deficits in neurobehavioral and physical developments, and in adults as elevations in blood pressure. With higher levels of exposure (blood lead levels >30 µg/dž), overt symptoms of lead toxicity appear in the form of anemia, neurological impairment (e.g., encephalopathy), reproductive abnormalities and nephropathy.

The highest risks for adverse health effects from exposure to environmental lead in most populations are likely to be associated with infants and young children. Hence, risk assessment efforts related to environmental lead focus on this segment of the population. The exceptional vulnerability of infants and young children reflects an innate sensitivity of developing organisms to lead, as well as a variety of physiologic and behavioral factors that facilitate their exposure to relevant environmental media. Exposure to humans, however, begins <u>in utero</u> with the transplacental transfer of lead from mother to fetus. Thus, infants are born with an initial lead burden that reflects prior environmental exposure of the mother and, to some extent, concomitant exposure to the mother during pregnancy. Environmental exposure that begins with birth adds to this preexisting burden and may be transferred to the next generation of infants.

Environmental exposure during the earliest period of infancy (0-6 months) is derived largely from the diet and, to a lesser extent, inhalation of indoor airborne lead. With the onset of floor activity and crawling,

01/31/91

oral intake from indoor and outdoor dust and soil begins to contribute significantly and eventually becomes the single largest source of lead uptake. An estimated 70% of total lead uptake in 2-year-old children living near a lead point source (e.g., smoke stacks and smelter) is derived from ingestion of dust and soil (U.S. EPA, 1989a). The importance of dust and soil reflects the behavioral tendencies of infants and young children to crawl and play on floors and soil surfaces and to engage in extensive hand-to-mouth activity. The latter consists of thumb and finger-sucking and placing objects from the environment into their mouths. Pica, or excessive and intentional ingestion of nonfood items including soil, plaster and wood, occurs in some infants and young children and can contribute substantially to oral intake of lead (Binder et al., 1986; Clausing et al., 1987; Calabrese et al., 1989). Paint and plaster pica can be an extremely important exposure mechanisms for infants and young children living or playing in or around structures containing deteriorating leaded paint or plaster.

In addition to behavioral characteristics that facilitate lead exposure, nutritional factors may also contribute to the vulnerability of infants and young children to lead. The nutritional requirements for rapid physical growth during the first 3 years render this age group susceptible to a variety of nutritional deficits, including iron, copper and zinc deficiencies. As discussed in Section 2.2.1.2., deficiencies of these minerals are associated with increased gastrointestinal absorption of lead in animals.

In general, inhalation is a quantitatively minor route of exposure for infants and children. Nevertheless, children may be more vulnerable than adults to exposure to airborne lead particles. Physiologic characteristics of the respiratory tract of infants and children result in higher deposition efficiencies of inhaled airborne particles than in adults (Phalen et al., 1985; Xu and Yu, 1986).

2165A

01/03/91

To fully appreciate the significance of childhood lead exposure as a critical focus of risk assessment methodology, the above considerations must be placed in perspective with serious potential for long-term consequences of neurobehavioral and developmental effects encountered at an early age. This does not trivialize the importance of long-term exposure and effects of lead in adults. The relationships reported to exist between systemic arterial blood pressure and concurrent blood lead level in adults suggest that low-level environmental exposure may have important health consequences for adults. It remains to be seen, however, whether such effects are related to chronic exposure extending from childhood or infancy to the adult. The importance of prospective epidemiological study designs in this area cannot be overemphasized. Regardless of the outcome of such studies. the long biological half-time of lead in bone and the potential for transplacental transfer of lead translates into additional risk factors for the fetus and for the infants of mothers exposed during childhood.

3.2. MULTIMEDIA LEAD EXPOSURES: AIR, SOIL, DUST, WATER, PAINT

Humans are typically exposed to lead in a variety of media as a result of the transfer of airborne lead to soil, water and food (Figure 3-1). The primary anthropogenic inputs to the air are automobile exhaust and industrial emissions. Natural inputs to the air can include geological processes such as volcanic activity and crustal weathering. Emissions to ambient air eventually deposit in soil and ambient water, creating secondary exposure sources that include dust, soil, food and water. Additional inputs to water and food include lead pipes and solder joints in drinking water delivery systems and in food containers. Lead-based paint can also be an important⁻ source of contamination of house and street dust. Other potential sources of lead exposure include cosmetics (surma) and folk medicines (Healy et al.,

2165A



Pathways of Lead from the Environment to Humans

FIGURE 3-1

Pathways of Lead from the Environment to Humans

Source: U.S. EPA, 1986b

1982). Shown in Table 3-1 are typical levels of lead in various media, including ambient air, in the United States (U.S. EPA, 1989a).

Although air emissions and lead paint are the primary anthropogenic sources of environmental lead, oral intake, rather than inhalation, is generally the predominant route of intake for humans. Intake occurs through ingestion of food and beverages, and in infants and children, through ingestion of dust and soil.

3.2.1. Lead in Air. Whereas, at one time, automobile exhaust accounted for ~90% of all air emissions in the United States, the recent phase-down of lead content of gasoline and reductions in usage of leaded gasoline have and will continue to substantially decrease the contribution of automobile exhaust to air lead (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Lead in automobile exhaust originates from the combustion of gasoline containing organic lead additives, primarily tetraethyl and tetramethyl lead. Lead is emitted from vehicles primarily as particles of inorganic lead, with a small percentage as volatile lead alkyls. Of the automotive lead emissions deposited, ~50% is within less than a few kilometers of roadways, whereas smaller particles can travel for thousands of kilometers (Huntzicker et al., 1975; U.S. EPA, 1986b).

Sources of industrial emissions include fugitive emissions from lead mining, primary and secondary lead smelting, battery plants, and combustion of oil, coal and municipal waste (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Dispersal of particles released from such processes depends on meteorological variables, including wind speed and direction and precipitation. The most abundant deposition generally occurs within 10 km around emission sources, which can result in_ high local concentrations of lead in dust, soil and ambient water (Yankel et al., 1977).

2165A
Typical Lead Concentrations in Various Exposure Media^a

Medium	Rural Area	Urban Area	Near Point Source(s) ^b	Reference
Ambient air (µg/m²) ^C	0.1	0.1-0.3	0.3-3.0	U.S. EP A, 1989a
Indoor air (µg/m²)	0.03-0.08	0.03-0.2	0.2-2.4	U.S. EPA, 1986b
Soil (ppm)	5-30	30-4500	150-15,000	U.S. EPA, 1986b; Mielke et al., 1983
Street dust (ppm) ^e	80-130 (90)	100-5000 (1500)	(25,000)	Nrtagu, 1978; U.S. EPA, 1986b
House dust (ppm) ^e	50-500 (300)	50-3000 (1000)	100-20,000 (10,000)	U.S. EPA, 1989a; Landrigan et al., 1975; Morse et al., 1979; Angle and McIntire, 1979
Typical Foods (ppm)	0.002-0.8	0.002-0.8	0.002-0.8	flegel et al., 1988
Water (µg/1)	5-2100	5-2100	5-2100	U.S. EPA, 1989a; Gardels and Sorg, 1989
Paint ^f (mg/cm²)	<1 to >5	<1 to >5	<1 to >5	U.S. EPA, 1989a

*Source: U.S. EPA, 1989a

^bWithin 2-5 km of sources including primary and secondary lead smelters, battery plants

CRepresents quarterly averages monitored in 1986

^dRange of indoor/outdoor ratios used (0.3–0.8) from U.S. EPA (1986b) except near point sources where large particles predominate and infiltration into homes is low; ratio appears to be closer to 0.3 (Cohen and Cohen, 1980).

evalues in parentheses represent estimates provided in U.S. EPA (1986b) as typical averages.

fSince there may be several layers of lead-based paint on a given surface, absolute concentration of lead is less useful than mg/cm². Surveys by HUD in Pittsburgh showed that >70% of pre-1940 dwelling units and 20% of post-1960 units had at least one surface with >1.5 mg/cm² lead paint (NAS, 1980). Concentrations in ambient air have declined over the last decade as a result of the phasedown of leaded gasoline production and use, and reductions in emissions from stationary sources (U.S. EPA, 1989a).

Lead in Soil. Lead released to the air deposits on terrestrial 3.2.2. surfaces and enters the soil, where it can have several possible fates. Lead can be retained in organic complexes near the soil surface. For example. insoluble lead species may be free or adsorbed on solid inorganic or organic matrices. Studies of lead/soil interactions show that soil fixation of lead is mainly affected by pH, cation exchange capacity and organic matter content of soil. While it is true that, in a variety of soils, lead appears most strongly associated with soil organic carbon fraction (Zimdah) and Skogerboe, 1977), no correlation is seen between organic content and lead concentrations in "brown soils" (Wojcikowska-Kapusta and Turski, 1986). In addition, if little or no organic material is in the soil, other components can regulate lead fixation. These include hydrous manganese oxide (Forstner et al., 1981) and hydrous ferric oxide (Swallow et al., 1980). Levels of lead in rural soils, away from industrial emissions and roadbeds, range from 5-30 µg lead/g soil (see Table 3-1). Levels of lead near roadbeds can be much higher $(30-2000 \ \mu g/g)$ and will vary with past and present traffic density and vehicle speed (Page and Gange, 1970; Quarles et al., 1974; Wheeler and Rolfe, 1979). Much higher levels (>30,000 μ g/g) can occur in the immediate vicinity of industrial sources (Yankel et al., 1977; U.S. EPA, 1986b). The nature of the industrial source is an important factor in determining soil lead distribution. Whereas lead from atmospheric sources tends to deposit in a relatively uniform pattern with distance from the source, the distribution of soil lead near mining sites can be highly erratic (Davies and Wixon, 1985; Lagerwerff and Brower, 1975). Particle

2165A

01/03/91

sizes resulting from dispersal of mine tailings also tend to be larger (10-1000 μ m) than those produced from smelters. This may affect the kinetics of lead transfer from soil into the home (Steele et al., 1989).

Lead in urban soils includes lead from automotive and industrial emissions, as well as from leaded paints. Levels >2000 μ g/g have been reported in soil around wood-frame houses painted with leaded paint (Ter Haar and Aronow, 1974; Mielke et al., 1983).

Lead bound to organic constituents in soil can remain in soil for long periods of time. As a result, elevated levels can persist long after sources of deposition have been reduced (Prpic-Majic et al., 1984).

3.2.3. Lead in Dust. Dust is an important source of oral lead intake in infants and children. The term "dust" refers to house and outdoor dust; house dust is dust in the interior of buildings and includes such things as material from fabrics (carpet) and paint, and soil tracked or blown into the house. Outdoor dust includes anthropogenic materials deposited on outside surfaces, referred to as "street dust," and the mobile uppermost layer of natural soil, referred to as "soil dust" (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Atmospheric lead from automotive and industrial emissions are the primary contributors to lead in outdoor dust. Paint can also be a significant source of lead in outside dust around buildings painted with lead-based paint. Levels of lead in outdoor dust vary with proximity to emission sources and meteorological variables (Roels et al., 1980; Brunekreef et al., 1981; Yankel et al., 1977). Outdoor dusts can be transported by wind and rain runoff (Laxen and Harrison, 1977).

Lead in house dust can be derived from atmospheric deposition, transport of outdoor dust and deterioration of lead-based paint surfaces. Lead levels in house dust are determined by a number of factors including house cleaning

2165A

01/03/91

practices, the presence and condition of lead-based paint surfaces, the presence of upholstered furniture and carpet, the amount of dust and soil transported into the house, the permeability of the house to outdoor air and the outdoor air lead concentration (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Lead can also enter the house as dust on clothing worn at work (i.e., secondary occupational, contamination) (CDC, 1989).

Lead in dust is relatively mobile. Levels in outdoor dust near point sources have been shown to decline-within 1-2 years after atmospheric emissions decreased (Morse et al., 1979; Prpic-Majic et al., 1984).

3.2.4. Lead in Diet. Anthropogenic sources of lead in food include 1) deposition of atmospheric lead onto crops, forage, feed, soils and water; 2) lead-based pesticides; and 3) harvesting, processing, transportation, packaging, preparation and storage of food during which lead can enter the food by atmospheric deposition or leaching from metal containers and plumbing. Based on data from numerous studies of food consumption patterns and lead levels in various foods (U.S. FDA, 1983, 1984), the U.S. EPA developed a "Multiple Source Food Model" that establishes reference values for lead contents of typical diets for children and adults (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Declines in atmospheric emissions from automobiles and industrial point sources, in lead levels in water and in the use of lead solder in food containers are expected to result in declining levels of lead in food (U.S. EPA, 1989a; Cohen, 1988a,b).

3.2.5. Lead in Water. Lead can enter ambient water from atmospheric deposition and surface runoff, where it tends to form insoluble salts and precipitates. Concentrations of lead in U.S. ambient water are typically low. Mean values tend to be $\leq 3-28 \mu g/2$ (NAS, 1980; U.S. EPA, 1986b).

2165A

In contrast with ambient water, levels in drinking water can be much higher $(10-1000 \ \mu g/2)$ because of leaching of lead from lead pipe and leaded solder joints. Lead concentrations in drinking water vary with the amount of lead in the household plumbing and corrosiveness of the water. Soft or acidic waters tend to be more corrosive and promote higher concentrations of dissolved lead in the drinking water (Worth et al., 1981). Drinking water can be a major source of lead intake for infants and young children who consume large amounts of infant formula-prepared with household water.

3.2.6. Lead in Paint. Ingestion of lead-based paint is one of the most frequent causes of severe lead intoxication in children (Chisolm, 1984). Although the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission banned the use of household paints containing >0.06% lead in 1977, the hazard persists in homes and apartments constructed before the ban. In homes built before 1940, some interior paints contained >50% lead. An estimated ~20% of housing units built between 1960 and 1974 have lead paint levels >0.7 mg/cm² (Pope, 1986; ATSDR, 1988).

Infants and children can be exposed to lead in paint from ingesting and inhaling house dust contaminated with paint dust and from intentionally ingesting paint chips (paint pica). Exposure can occur outside the house from ingestion of street and soil dust. Exposure is higher in houses with deteriorating surfaces (e.g., peeling of paint, cracked plaster). In 1980, an estimated 6.2-13.6 million children under the age of 7 years resided in housing containing lead-based paint; 235,000-842,000 children resided in homes with deteriorating surfaces (Pope, 1986; ATSDR, 1988). Since exposure to lead in paint is unrelated to atmospheric, soil or dietary levels of lead, efforts to reduce lead levels in these media will have little impact on the incidence of lead intoxication associated with lead paint.

3.3. MEDIA-SPECIFIC ESTIMATES FOR DIFFERENT LEVELS OF LEAD UPTAKE

Biokinetic models have been developed that predict age-specific blood lead levels associated with age-specific uptake rates (Harley and Kneip, 1985). This section discusses the major quantitative factors that must be incorporated into predictions of lead uptakes from specific environmental media. Default assumptions and reference values incorporated into an Uptake/Biokinetic Model for lead (described in Section 4.1.) are also discussed. Much of this discussion was taken from the recent OAQPS Staff Report on lead exposure analysis methodology and validation (U.S. EPA, 1989a). In most populations, lead uptake occurs primarily as the result of intake of lead in air, diet, drinking water and dust; therefore, the discussion is confined to these media. Intake of leaded paint chips can contribute significantly to uptake in infants and children living or playing in areas contaminated with lead paint.

Uptake (U_1) of lead from a given exposure medium can be thought of as the product of two separate processes, intake (I_1) and absorption (A_1) :

 $U_{i} = I_{i} \cdot A_{i}$

where intake (I_{i}) is the product of the concentration of lead in any specific media and the rate for the physiological mechanism of intake (e.g., breathing rate).

Predictions of media-specific lead uptakes must take into account environmental fate processes that determine concentrations of lead in relevant media (see Section 3.2.), as well as behavioral and physiological factors that affect intake and absorption from these media.

3.3.1. Uptake from Ambient Air. Humans are exposed to lead in indoor and outdoor air. Uptake rates will be determined by the lead concentrations in indoor and outdoor air, the time spent indoors and outdoors and physio-logical determinants of deposition and absorption in the respiratory tract.

2165A

A simple mathematical expression for this relationship is as follows:

$U_{A} = V \cdot DA \cdot [Pb]_{TWA}^{L}$

where U_A is uptake from air (µg/day), V is the volume of air breathed/ day (m³/day), DA is the product of the respiratory deposition and absorption fractions and [Pb]_{TWA} is the time-weighted average exposure concentration (µg/m³).

3.3.1.1. INDOOR AND OUTDOOR AIR LEAD -- Numerous factors determine the concentration of lead in air at any given location (see Section 3.2.1.). These include distance and direction from emission sources, the nature of the source and meteorological patterns that affect dispersion and deposition of airborne lead. Many of these factors have been incorporated into predictive models of airborne particulate dispersion, which can be used to predict air lead levels associated with a` given location near a point source (U.S. EPA, 1986c).

Transport of lead from outdoors to indoors accounts for virtually all indoor air lead in most modern buildings. Outdoor air lead enters buildings through windows, doors, walls and air vents. Because the transport processes are complex, relationships between outdoor and indoor air lead concentrations can be expected to vary from site to site. Factors that can be expected to affect indoor/outdoor ratios at a given site include the proximity to emission sources, which determines the size of outdoor air lead particles, the permeability of entrance pathways (e.g., windows, doors, walls) to lead, airflow patterns in and out of the building and meteorological conditions.

U.S. EPA (1986b) summarized data on indoor and outdoor air lead levels _____ and concluded that, at most sites, outdoor concentrations exceeded indoor

2165A

concentrations. Indoor/outdoor concentration ratios ranged from 0.3-0.8, with values in the lower end of the range near point sources, where lead particles are larger (Cohen and Cohen, 1980).

3.3.1.2. TIME SPENT OUTDOORS -- An estimate of daily exposure to lead must be a time-weighted average of exposure to outdoor and indoor lead; therefore, information on the relative amount of time spent in each environment is required to estimate average exposure levels. Time spent outdoors varies extensively with age, season, geographical location and a variety of cultural and behavioral influences. The following age-specific estimated ranges for hours spent outdoors were derived from a literature review (U.S. EPA, 1989a) summarized in Pope (1985) and reflect data reported in various studies (Hoffman et al., 1979; Rubinstein et al., 1972; Suter, 1979; Koontz and Robinson, 1982):

Age (years):	0 - 1	1-2	2-3	3-7
Time Outdoors (hours/day):	1-2	1-3	2-4	2-5

Based on information on indoor and outdoor air lead concentrations and the average time spent outdoors and indoors, an estimate of the time-weighted average exposure concentration ($[Pb]_{TWA}$) can be calculated as follows:

 $[Pb]_{TWA} = (([Pb]_{Ao} \cdot T_{o}) + ([Pb]_{A1} \cdot T_{1})) \cdot (1/24)$ where $[Pb]_{Ao}$ and $[Pb]_{A1}$ are outdoor and indoor air concentrations (µg/m³), respectively, and T_{o} and T_{1} are average times (hours/day) spent outdoors and indoors.

3.3.1.3. INHALATION AND RESPIRATORY DEPOSITION AND ABSORPTION --Intake of lead in air is determined by the volume of air inspired each day, which varies with age, body size and level of physical activity (U.S. EPA, 1989c). Age-specific estimates of daily breathing volumes have been derived

2165A

(Phalen et al., 1985), from which the following reference values for daily breathing volumes in children were developed (U.S. EPA, 1989a):

The fraction of inhaled lead that is deposited and absorbed varies with airborne particle size and age (Chan and Lippmann, 1980; Phalen et al., 1985; Xu and Yu, 1986). As is described in Section 2.2.1.1. (see Tables 2-1 and 2-2), age- and particle-size-specific references values for these parameters have been derived from existing experimental data and physiological models of the respiratory tract.

3.3.2. Uptake from the Diet. Uptake of lead from the diet (U_D) can be expressed as follows:

 $U_{D} = I_{D} \cdot A_{D}$

where I_D (µg Pb/day) is the intake from dietary sources and A_D is the fractional gastrointestinal absorption (absorption coefficient) of dietary lead. Dietary food intake can be estimated from historical data on food lead content (U.S. FDA, 1983, 1984) and data on food consumption (Pennington, 1983). A Multiple Source Food Model has been developed that partitions dietary sources into three major categories: 1) metallic sources including lead solder in food cans and solder or pipe in drinking water systems; 2) atmospheric lead deposited on food before and after harvest and processing; and 3) sources for which an origin has not been established (U.S. EPA, 1986b). These classifications allow projections for dietary intake based on projected adjustments in each category (e.g., a reduction in atmospheric lead) (Cohen, 1988a,b). Projections for 1990 are presented in Table 3-2.

2165A

TABLE 3-2

Age-Specific Estimates of Total Dietary Lead Intake for 1990-1996 (µg/day)*

Age (years)	Metallic	Atmospheric	Other	Total
<1	3.4	0.8	3.3	7.5
l	4.0	1.1	3.8	8.9
2	5.6	1.2	3.6	10.4
3	5.8	1.2	3.7	8.9
4	5.9	1.1	3.8	8.9
5	6.1	1.2	4.0	9.3
6	6.3	1.3	4.3	9.8

*Source: Cohen, 1988a,b

Gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead varies with age, diet and nutritional status (see Section 2.2.1.2.). Absorption is an estimated 42-53% in infants (Alexander et al., 1973; Ziegler et al., 1978) and 7-15% in adults (Kehoe, 1961a,b,c,; Chamberlain et al., 1978; Rabinowitz et al., 1980). There is some evidence that gastrointestinal absorption of lead may be a nonlinear process (Aungst and Fung, 1981; Marcus, 1989). Saturable and nonsaturable absorption mechanisms have been described for essential metals; thus, it is reasonable to expect the existence of saturable and nonsaturable mechanisms for lead. Kinetic constants (Kms) for saturable lead absorption have been experimentally determined in the in vitro everted rat intestine (Aungst and Fung, 1981). The apparent Km for flux through the everted intestine was reported to be $\sim 125 \mu g/2$. However, other dietary metals may compete with lead for saturable absorption mechanisms (e.g., carriermediated transport); therefore, the contribution of saturable mechanisms to total absorption may depend on diet, nutritional status and the relative magnitude of the Kms for each substrate for the saturable mechanism. Kinetic constants for saturable lead absorption have not been determined in primates.

3.3.3. Uptake from Dust and Soil. Children are exposed to lead in indoor and outdoor dust and soil, primarily from ingesting these materials as a result of normal mouthing behavior and pica (abnormal tendency to ingest nonfood materials). Thus, the average daily exposure will be determined by lead levels in each medium and amounts of each medium that are ingested daily. The latter may vary with age, season, geographic location and activity patterns. A simple expression for lead uptake from dust and soil (U_{nc}) is as follows:

 $U_{DS} = DS_{ING} \cdot A_{DS} \cdot [Pb]_{DS}$

where DS_{ING} is oral intake of dust and soil (g dust and soil/day), A_{DS} is the absorption fraction and $[Pb]_{DS}$ is the average exposure level (µg Pb/g dust and soil).

3.3.3.1. LEAD LEVELS IN DUST AND SOIL -- As discussed in Sections 3.2.2. and 3.2.3., levels of lead in dust and soil are determined by a variety of factors related to the exposure source, meteorological conditions, transport of dust into the home and sources of lead in and around the home (e.g., lead paint). The most desirable quantitative estimates for localized areas are derived from adequate soil and dust monitoring data. However, it is important that sufficient monitoring data are collected from different local sites to produce meaningful estimates of the central tendency of lead concentrations (e.g., arithemetic or geometric mean). Since the lead concentration in soil may vary significantly between samples collected in the same area, the use of a single sample to estimate lead exposure to children may result in inaccurate estimation of ingested lead uptakes.

In the absence of sufficient monitoring data, the geometric mean lead concentration of soil and dust in certain sites can be estimated from average lead concentration in the air using linear relationships described in Appendix B of the U.S. EPA (1988a). This applies only to situations in which air lead is the primary source for soil lead. The derivation of these relationships include the following assumptions: 1) changes in the air concentration will be followed by corresponding changes in soil lead and interior house dust lead concentrations; 2) the rate at which lead enters soil/dust is constant and equal to atmospheric deposition (plus other inputs) minus soil removal; and 3) the environmental lead emissions have been nearly constant for a sufficiently long time that lead levels in soil

2165A

and dust are in dynamic equilibrium. The derivation of the linear relationships does not consider many complex variables that can affect air/soil relationship for lead, such as chemical and physical properties of the lead particles and soil, topographic and meteorological conditions, and the frequency of precipitation and washing of streets and interior surfaces.

The coefficients of the linear equations used to estimate soil/dust lead from air lead were determined from monitoring data collected at sites where both air lead levels and dust and surface soil concentrations were measured and averaged over varying periods of time. The data used to determine the coefficients were collected near lead point sources where emissions were comparable with current lead exposure situations and lead contributed by new houses and factories. Figure 3-2 is a log arithmetic plot of average air concentration versus average soil concentration for the data used in the coefficient determinations for soil lead; the data are described in Appendix A of the U.S. EPA (1988a). The raw data are fitted after a log transformation to yield geometric mean concentrations and the following linear equations (U.S. EPA, 1989a):

 $[Pb]_{SOIL} = a + b \cdot [Pb]_{Ao}$ $[Pb]_{DUST} = c + d \cdot [Pb]_{Ao}$

where $[Pb]_{DUST}$, $[Pb]_{SOIL}$ and $[Pb]_{Ao}$ are the concentrations of lead in dust ($\mu g/g$), soil ($\mu g/g$) and outdoor air ($\mu g/m^3$), respectively and the coefficients a, b, c and d are 50.1, 579.0; 57.6 and 972.0, respectively.

The above equations are based on monitoring data for point source sites such as smelters. The use of the linear equations to estimate soil and dust lead levels near primary and secondary lead smelters may underestimate current exposure because of historical accumulations of relatively large

2165A





Plot of Soil Lead Concentration vs. Air Lead Concentration Monitored in Various Locations

Source: U.S. EPA, 1986b

particles at these sites, regardless of current emissions controls (U.S. EPA, 1989a). These sites will probably require separate estimates for current soil and dust levels.

The relationship between air lead and soil and indoor dust lead may vary, depending on the lead emission source. For example, mining sites with no history of smelter activity represent a situation in which the above equations relating soil and dust lead with air lead may not apply. Review of actual measurements of soil and house dust lead reported at mining sites indicated that, when soil lead was <500 ppm, house dust lead concentrations were usually greater than soil lead, indicating the greater contribution of indoor sources of lead. However, when soil lead was >1000 ppm, house dust lead concentrations ranged from 18-48% of soil lead concentrations (Steele et al., 1989). Thus, the air and soil lead levels at mining sites are not likely to be related, and the relationship between soil lead and indoor dust lead levels may be nonlinear (Steele et al., 1989). Davies et al. (1985) reported the following quantitative expression relating vegetable garden soil lead and indoor dust lead in a mining area:

 $[Pb]_{DUST} = (0.3) \cdot (\log [Pb]_{SOT}) + 1.65$

The data on the time scales for soil and dust lead changes do not lead to definite conclusions (U.S. EPA, 1989a). The current opinion is that lead in undisturbed soil matrix persists for an extremely long time; however, soil lead concentrations in disturbed (especially urban) environments will change, on average, over periods of a few years to reflect changes in surface deposition (U.S. EPA, 1989a). Although lead does deposit on the surface of soils, significant lead concentrations have been found down to 12⁻¹ inches below the surface. This indicates that human activities such as

2165A

01/03/91

gardening and new building construction can result in significant concentrations of atmospherically deposited lead in deeper soils. Interior dust lead concentrations will likely change over periods of weeks to months in response to air lead changes, depending on interior-exterior access and interior recirculation or removal of dust as well as the primary sources of dust and soil lead. Sources such as lead paint dust, mine-tailing and smelters that have ceased to operate may continue to contribute lead to soil and dust regardless of changes in air lead.

The linear and nonlinear equations yield approximations based upon the best available monitoring data and interpretations, but do not consider various complex variables that may significantly affect soil and dust concentrations. One approach to a more comprehensive model of indoor dust lead levels is to partition indoor dust into various source categories including air, soil, indoor paint dusts, secondary occupational dusts and hobbles (e.g., soldering). This approach has been incorporated into the Uptake/Biokinetic Model as a user option (Section 4.1.1.). The multiple source model sums the contributions of external environmental sources (i.e., air and soil) and "all other" sources to arrive at total indoor dust lead. The contributions of soil and air are calculated as follows:

 $[Pb]_{DUST} = s \cdot [Pb]_{SOIL}$ $[Pb]_{DUST} = a \cdot [Pb]_{Ao}$

where $[Pb]_{DUST}$, $[Pb]_{SOIL}$ and $[Pb]_{Ao}$ represent lead in dust (µg/g), soil (µg/g) and outside air (µg/m²), respectively, and "s" (µg Pb/g soil per µg Pb/g dust) and "a" (µg Pb/m³ air per µg Pb/g dust) are conversion factors for soil and air. Other sources of indoor dust lead are added to the external environmental contribution to yield an estimate of total indoor dust lead, including occupationally-derived dusts brought into

2165A

the home, indoor dusts encountered outside the primary nome (e.g., school, day care and second home), and dusts from lead-based paint in the home.

Although a multiple-source model is theoretically sound, much more research is needed to develop empirical support for predictive quantitative expressions of the relative contribution of each source to the levels of lead in indoor dust. Measurements of tracer elements in soil and indoor dusts provide data from which to derive an estimate for the soil-dust conversion factor. Davis et al. (1990) measured the concentration of aluminum and silicon in soil and indoor dust and found the dust/soil ratios for both metals to be ~ 0.28 . Assuming that indoor aluminum and silicon are derived entirely from transport of soil into the house, these data support a conversion factor of 0.28 (s = 0.28). As noted above, the 0.28 conversion factor will not be appropriate for all exposure sources. Monitoring data from mine sites suggest that the relationship between soil lead and indoor dust may be nonlinear.

Empirical support for the air-dust conversion factor is difficult to obtain because unique airborne dust tracers have not been identified. An air-dust conversion factor of 100 (1 μ g Pb/g dust for each 100 μ g Pb/m³ air) was selected as an interim default value for the multiple source model until better data are available. It cannot be over emphasized, however, that the use of adequately measured soil and dust concentrations is preferable to use of models or empirically derived equations.

3.3.3.2. INTAKE OF DUST AND SOIL -- Infants and children ingest soil and dust as a result of hand-to-mouth activity, consumption of food items that have been in contact with dust and soil, and soil pica. Considerable age-related and individual variation can be expected in these activities.

2165A

Hand-to-mouth activity reportedly occurs in ~80% of children 1-2 years old, and declines in years 3-6 (Millican et al., 1962; Barltrop, 1966).

Average soil ingestion rates in young children have been estimated by measuring the amount of soil or soil components on children's hands and from assumptions regarding hand to mouth activity (LePow et al., 1975; Duggan and Williams, 1977; Roels et al., 1980). Hawley (1985) summarized these data and estimated that average soil ingestion rates for 2- to 3-year-old children range from 50-250 mg/day.

A more recent advance in this area has been the application of mass balance studies, in which estimates of soil and dust intake in children are derived from measurements of the fecal excretion of poorly absorbed soil minerals (e.g., aluminum, silicon and titanium) (Binder et al., 1986; Clausing et al., 1987; Calabrese et al., 1989; Davis et al., 1990). A mass balance equation used to calculate soil ingestion (I_c) is as follows:

$$I_{S} = ((([M]_{F} + F)/EF) - I)/[M]_{S}$$

where $[M]_F$ is the concentration of the mineral in feces (mg/g feces); F is the amount of feces excreted each day (g/day); EF is the fraction of ingested mineral that is excreted in the feces; I is the gastrointestinal intake of the mineral from all sources other than soil ingestion; and $[M]_S$ is the concentration of mineral in soil (mg/g). Sources of nonsoil gastrointestinal intake of tracer minerals (I) can include diet, medication, toothpaste and inhaled airborne minerals. The above estimates can be generalized to dust and soil (i.e., dirt), assuming that concentrations in dust are similar to concentrations in soil. Estimates derived from the mass balance approach are subject to errors associated with estimates of gastrointestinal absorption and nonsoil intake of the mineral.

Sedman (1989) analyzed data on fecal mineral excretion (Binder et al., 1986), on mineral content of the diet and on food consumption in infants and young children (Pennington, 1983) to estimate soil ingestion for 1- to 3-year-old children. Estimates were 40, 70 and 640 mg soil/day based on mass balances for aluminum, silicon and titanium, respectively. Clausing et al. (1987) examined aluminum, silicon and titanium excretion in 18 nurseryschool children and 6 hospitalized children, ages 2-4 years. Estimates of dietary intake of each mineral were based on measurements of fecal excretion of each mineral in the hospitalized children. The average estimated soil ingestion in the nursery school children for all three tracers was 56 mg soil/day. If the values for dietary intake from Clausing et al. (1987) are applied to the Binder et al. (1986) data on fecal excretion, estimates of soil ingestion range from 80-135 mg soil/day for 1- to 3-year-old children (U.S. EPA, 1989a).

The most comprehensive mass balance studies are those of Calabrese et al. (1989) and Davis et al. (1990), in which concurrent nonsoil intakes of the tracer elements were estimated for each subject in the study and measurements of soil and house dust were used to estimate rates of ingestion of combined soil and house dust. The Calabrese et al. (1989) study, included 64 children ranging in age from 1-4 years. The Davis et al. (1990) study examined 101 children ranging in age from 2-7 years. The results reported for two tracer elements (aluminum and silicon) considered to be the most reliable (Beck and Steele, 1990) are presented in Table 3-3. Estimated mean combined soil-dust ingestion rates for the two studies were 64 and 160 mg/day (Davis et al., 1990) and 154-483 mg/day (Calabrese et al., 1989). In the Calabrese et al. (1989) study, one child out of 64 was identified as having an extremely high soil-dust ingestion (5-8 g/day). When the data

2165A

TABLE 3-3

Daily Soil Ingestion (mg/day) Based on Aluminum, Silicon, Titanium and Yittrium Mass Balance^a

Element	Calabrese et al. (1989) (n=64)	Davis et al. (1990) (n=101)
Aluminum	154(30) <u>+</u> 79 78 ^b	64 (51)
Silicon	483(49) <u>+</u> 388 95 ⁰	160 (112)
Titanium	170(30) <u>+</u> 86	268 (116)
Yittrium	65(11) <u>+</u> 91	NA

^aValues are mean(median) \pm S.E.

^bMean after deleting child with 5-8 g soll/day

NA = Not available

were reanalyzed excluding this subject, the estimated mean soil ingestion rate for the group was 95 mg/day for alumijnum and 78 mg/day for silicon (Beck and Steele, 1990).

The results of the Calabrese et al. (1989) and Davis et al. (1990) studies are in reasonable agreement with earlier mass-balance studies (Binder et al., 1986; Clausing et al., 1987) and estimates obtained from measurements of soil and soil components on the hands of children (Hawley, 1985). Thus, the current weight of empirical evidence supports a value of ~100 as an average soil-dust ingestion rate in young children (ages 1-7 years). The results of the mass balance studies also suggest that the distribution of soil ingestion rates in the population may be highly skewed, with a small percentage of individuals exhibiting very high rates of ingestion (i.e., pica for soil). This is evident from differences between the mean and median values for soil ingestion reported in the Calabrese et al. (1989) and Davis et al. (1990) studies.

Given the skewed distribution of soil-dust ingestion rates, selecting the most appropriate measure of central tendency, from which reference values for soil-dust ingestion can be established, is crucial. Basing the reference values on the median soil-dust ingestion rate rather than on the arithmetic mean results in lower predicted soil lead exposures (and therefore lower predicted blood lead levels) because the median attaches no weight to the level of exposure received by individuals at the high end of the soil-dust ingestion distribution. Such an approach is consistent with current U.S. EPA risk assessment strategies for numerous other chemicals, which are focused on the "general population" rather than on individuals expressing abnormal conditions or behavior that would promote exposure to a toxic agent.

2165A

The issue is complicated by the fact that there is no clear consensus regarding a quantitative definition of soil pica or the incidence of "abnormal" soil ingestion behavior in children (U.S. EPA, 1989c). The incidence of abnormal soil ingestion behavior is estimated to range from 2-50% (U.S. EPA, 1989c). The wide range is attributable to several factors, including the lack of a consensus among investigators on a definition of "abnormal" ingestion behavior, as well as age, cultural, socioeconomic, and disease related factors that may influence ingestion behavior in the various populations of children. The only studies likely to provide definitive information on the distribution of soil ingestion rates in the U.S. population and are thus useful for risk assessment are the mass-balance studies, if applied to a sufficiently large sample. Studies that provide reliable estimates of soil ingestion (Calabrese et al., 1989; Davis et al., 1990) have been limited to relatively small sample sizes.

Until reliable estimates of the frequency distribution of soil ingestion rates for the U.S. population are developed, the reference value for soil ingestion in young children should be based on empirically derived arithmetic means from the Calabrese et al. (1989) and Davis et al. (1990) studies (~100 mg/day); however, extraordinarily high ingestion rates reported by Calabrese et al. (1989) (i.e., one child exceeding 5 g soil/day) should be excluded. The reference value should be regarded as a default estimate to be used in the absence of more specific data on soil ingestion behavior in the population being assessed. As such, it is likely to overestimate average soil ingestion among some populations and underestimate soil ingestion in other study populations. The quantitative impact of such "errors" on predicted distribution of blood lead levels are discussed in Section 4.1.1.

2165A

GASTROINTESTINAL ABSORPTION OF DUST AND SOIL LEAD -- The 3.3.3.3. greatest source of uncertainty in the prediction of lead uptake from dust and soil is the estimate of gastrointestinal absorption of lead. In vitro studies have shown that the lead in dust and soil is solubilized in acidic solutions similar to that found in the scomach; however, in alkaline solutions similar to intestinal fluids, lead can remain bound to soil (Day et al., 1979; Harrison, 1979; Duggan and Williams, 1977). Dietary balance studies have yielded estimates of 42-53% for gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead in infants and children (see Section 2.2.1.2.); however, absorption efficiency may differ for lead in dust and soil. Two rat studies have demonstrated that the bioavailability of soil lead is less than that of lead added to basal diets as lead acetate (Dacre and TarHaar, 1977; Chaney et al., 1989). Diets supplemented with lead acetate are not entirely analogous to diets in which environmental lead has been incorporated into the dietary components; nevertheless, these results suggest that the absorption coefficient for soil may be lower than that for dietary lead. This may not apply to all lead species and particle sizes and all soil types.

Absorption of lead for dust and soil is influenced by three important factors: chemical species, particle size and concentration in soil. Chaney et al. (1988) demonstrated that absorption of lead from soil varies with lead concentration in soil.

Particle size also determines the degree to which lead is absorbed into the body; the larger the particle size, the less the absorption (Barltrop and Meek, 1979). For example, lead sulfide on larger particles eventually dissolves in gastric fluid to the same concentration as lead sulfide on smaller particles, but the process takes longer (100 vs. 200 minutes) (Healy

2165A

et al., 1982). Thus, absorption may be less in the stomach for the larger particles because the particles do not remain in the stomach long enough to become completely solubilized. Therefore, it is very important when reviewing site-specific data to determine the prevalent particle size on which the lead is located. In some locations where lead contamination in soil is high, such as mining areas, the particle sizes are much larger than in other locations, such as smelter towns, possibly resulting in decreased bioavailability. Lead species is another critical factor in determining bioavailability. Barltrop and Meek (1979) reported that lead sulfide is significantly less absorbed than lead acetate and lead oxides.

The issue of bioavailability of lead for soil is a major source of uncertainty in the Uptake/Biokonetic Model and merits further investigation. Applying information on particle size, lead species and soil characteristics in bioavailability estimates would prove very useful in further calibration of the model.

3.3.4. Uptake of Lead from Drinking Water. Uptake of lead from drinking water $(U_{\rm W})$ can be expressed as follows:

$$U_W = I_W \cdot A_W$$

where IW (μ g/day) is the intake from drinking water and A_W is the fractional absorption of ingested lead. Intake of lead from drinking water can be expressed as follows:

$$I_{W} = \{Pb\}_{W} \cdot W_{ING}$$

where $[Pb]_{W}$ (ug/1) is the average daily concentration of lead in drinking water and W_{ING} is the average amount of drinking water ingested each day. The amount of drinking water ingested will vary with numerous

2165A

factors including age, body size, diet, physical activity, ambient temperature and humidity. Using data collected by the U.S. Department of Agriculture in the 1977-1978 Nationwide Food Consumption Survey, average daily intake levels of drinking water have been derived (U.S. EPA, 1989c):

Age (years): 0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 5-6 6-7 Ingestion (1/day): 0.20 0.50 0.52 0.53 0.55 0.58 0.59

3.4. ENVIRONMENTAL EXPOSURE LEVELS ASSOCIATED WITH BLOOD LEAD LEVELS

In the previous section, strategies for predicting uptake rates from specific media (air, diet and dust/soil) were described, which, in conjunction with biokinetic models, provide the basis for predicting relationships between media-specific exposure levels and blood lead levels. An alternative approach is to derive mathematical descriptions of these relationships from the analysis of human experimental and epidemiological data on environmental exposure levels and blood lead. This section provides an overview of the existing information on relationships between levels in various media and blood lead levels in humans. A more comprehensive discussion is presented in other Agency documents (U.S. EPA, 1986b, 1989a).

3.4.1. Blood Lead/Air Lead Relationships. The relationship between air concentration and blood lead level in human populations reflects uptakes directly from air by inhalation as well as oral uptakes of atmospheric lead deposited on dust, soil, food and water. Several studies have provided data on air lead levels and blood lead in human populations from which slope factors (blood lead/air lead) can be derived (Landrigan et al., 1975; Roels et al., 1976; Yankel et al., 1977; Morse et al., 1979; Angle and McIntire, 1979; Brunekreef, 1984). The aggregate slope factors, reflecting the combined impact of air lead uptake from all media on blood lead, range from 2-20 (μ g/dt)/(mg/m³) in young, moderately exposed children (U.S. EPA, 1986b, 1988a).

2165A

Experimental studies in which changes in blood lead levels are measured in human subjects exposed to lead aerosols yield estimates of slope factors (blood lead/air lead) for inhaled air lead. Several experimental studies of adults have been reported (Kehoe, 1961a,b,c; Griffin et al., 1975; Rabinowitz et al., 1974, 1976, 1977; Chamberlain et al., 1978). The pooled weighted estimate of the slope for the relationship between blood and air lead for all of the studies is 1.64 ± 0.22 (S.E.) (μ g/dŁ)/(mg/m³), and 1.9 (μ g/dŁ)/(mg/m³) if subjects who were exposed to very high lead levels (\geq 36 μ g/dŁ) in the Kehoe studies are excluded (U.S. EPA, 1986b, 1988a).

Analysis of cross-sectional data of blood lead/air lead relationships in human populations can yield estimates of disaggregate blood lead/air lead slope factors, reflecting the relationship between inhaled lead and blood lead in the population, if information on noninhalation sources of exposure is sufficiently documented. Several adult human population studies have been reported (Azar et al., 1975; Tepper and Levin, 1975; Nordman, 1975; Johnson et al., 1975). In these studies, various approaches are used to account for nonair lead exposures. The range for blood lead/air lead slopes are 1-2 (μ g/dŁ)/(mg/m³) (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

The U.S. EPA analyzed three studies of blood lead/air lead relationships in children (U.S. EPA, 1986b). Estimated air disaggregate blood lead/air lead slopes (μ g/d£)/(mg/m³) for the three studies are 1.92±0.60 (Angle and McIntire, 1979), 2.46±0.58 (Roels et al., 1980) and 1.53±0.84 (Yankel et al., 1977; Walter et al., 1980); the median slope is 1.97 (μ g/d£)/mg/m²). 3.4.2. Blood Lead/Dust and Soil Lead Relationships. Several studies have ⁻ provided data on blood lead levels in children and levels in local soil and dust, from which blood lead/dust lead and blood lead/soil lead slope factors

2165A

can be estimated (Barltrop et al., 1975; Yankel et al., 1977; Neri et al., 1978; Angle and McIntire, 1982; Stark et al., 1982). The range of mean slope factors is $0.6-6.8 (\mu g/dt)/(mg Pb/g)$ soil (U.S. EPA, 1986b). The range for blood lead/house dust lead slope is $0.2-7.2 (\mu g/dt)/(mg Pb/g)$ dust (Stark et al., 1982; Yankel et al., 1977; Angle and McIntire, 1979).

Blood/soil lead slope factors vary, depending on the nature of source of lead. A review of mining studies (Steele et al., 1989) indicates that there is not a strong correlation between soil lead and blood lead (Heyworth et al., 1981), that there are no elevated blood lead concentrations in areas with very high soil lead concentrations (Heyworth et al., 1981), and that slopes for mining sites are considerably lower than those for urban or smelter sites (Barltrop et al., 1975; Barltrop and Strehlow, 1988; Bornschein et al., 1988). The estimated average slope for mining sites is $1.7 \mu g/dt/mg$ Pb/g soil; the average slopes for urban and smelter sites were 3.2 and 4.2, respectively (Steele et al., 1989).

3.4.3. Blood Lead/Diet and Drinking Water Lead Relationships. The U.S. EPA (1986a) has summarized studies relating dietary intake and blood lead levels. The relationships appear to be nonginear at dietary intakes >200 μ g Pb/day. When data are compared over the range of 100-200 μ g dietary Pb/day, blood lead/dietary lead slope factors ranging from 0.034-0.16 can be obtained (Stuik, 1974; Cools et al., 1976; Schlegel and Kufner, 1979; Kehoe, 1961a,b,c; U.K. Directorate, 1982; Sherlock et al., 1982; Ryu et al., 1983).

The relationship between blood lead level and drinking water level is nonlinear at water concentrations >100 μ g Pb/s water. The U.S. EPA (1986b) concluded that the best estimate for the slope factor associated with first draw water concentrations <100 μ g/s was 0.06 (μ g Pb/ds blood)/(μ g Pb/s water) (Pocock et al. 1983). A more recent study was

2165A

conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and the Department of Health of the State of Hawai (Maes et al., 1989). This study examined a population in Hawai in which historic exposure to airborne lead and lead in paint, dust and soil are very low. A multiple linear regression model yielded a slope factor of 0.024 μ g/dt blood/ μ g/t water. A piecewise linear model yielded slope factors of 0.02 above 10 μ g/t water and 0.13 below 10 μ g/t water. More recent analysis of the relationship of blood lead and dietary levels in infants (Lacey et al., 1985; Ryu et al., 1983) supports a slope factor of 0.2-0.25 (μ g lead)/(dt blood)/(μ g lead/t) water for infants and children (U.S. EPA, 1988b).

3.5. SUMMARY

The primary source of environmental lead is atmospheric emissions from automobiles and industrial point sources that ultimately deposit in dust, soil, ambient water and food. Direct contamination of soil with mine wastes will be a major local source of exposure in some areas. Infants and children appear to be the most vulnerable segments of the population to environmental lead, because, in addition to inhaling airborne lead and ingesting dietary lead, they tend to ingest dust and soil as part of their normal behavior. Indeed, oral ingestion of dust and soil can be the predominant uptake mechanism in infants and young children. These same behavioral tendencies place them at risk for ingesting lead-based paint chips.

The biological effects of lead in infants and children have been related to blood lead levels, which are determined by the combined uptakes from the respiratory and digestive tracts. Uptake from both routes can be expected to vary appreciably with the nature and proximity of the exposure source, as well as age-related physiological variables that influence intake and absorption efficiency.

2165A

Although dust, soil and dietary lead ane largely derived from atmospheric deposition, simple relationships between airborne lead concentrations and blood lead levels useful for deriving age-specific and mediaspecific risk assessments are not available. However, media- and agespecific uptakes can be predicted using a multimedia uptake assessment model, given certain assumptions regarding the nature and proximity to the exposure source, levels of lead in each media, and behavioral and physiological variables that influence intake and absorption. A biokinetic model can then be used to predict age-specific blood lead levels associated with multimedia uptakes. This multimedia Uptake/Biokinetic Model approach is described in greater detail in Chapter 4.

4. RISK CHARACTERIZATION

4.1. INTEGRATED LEAD UPTAKE/BIOKINETIC EXPOSURE MODEL

This section describes the Uptake/Biokinetic Model developed by OAQPS (U.S. EPA, 1989a) and New York University (Harley and Kneip, 1985) that estimates age-specific blood lead levels associated with levels of continuous exposure to air, dietary, drinking water, dust/soil and paint lead sources. The uptake model accepts site-specific data or default values for lead levels in each medium. This information is combined with assumptions regarding behavioral and physiologic parameters that determine intake and absorption of lead from each medium to yield estimated rates of lead uptake into the blood. Behavioral and physiologic parameters are adjusted for different ages and include such items as time spent indoors and outdoors; time spent sleeping; diet; dust/soil ingestion rates; daily breathing volumes; deposition efficiency in the respiratory tract; and absorption

The blokinetic model accepts uptake predictions and computes agespecific blood lead levels based on a six-compartment blokinetic model of tissue distribution and excretion of lead. The model incorporates default assumptions regarding rate constants for transfers between blood and four physiologic compartments: bone, kidney, liver and gastrointestinal tract. Transfers from blood to urine, liver to the gastrointestinal tract and mother to fetus are also considered. These assumptions include adjustments that reflect age-related changes in metabolism and physiology that affect the distribution and excretion of lead (e.g., bone turn-over rates). The Uptake/Blokinetic Model sums predicted uptakes over time to yield estimates of blood lead levels associated with continuous uptakes over the lifespan.

2166A

01/03/91

The uptake/biokinetic approach is extremely versatile and flexible in that age-specific predictions can be made for multimedia exposures. Uptake from all sources by all absorption routes can be separately modeled. This provides an estimate of the relative impact of changes in levels of specific media on blood lead levels. The default assumptions and values on which uptake rate and blood lead calculations are based can be replaced with site-specific data or revised defaults. Thus, the model can be updated as new information on exposure level, -intake and uptake parameters become available. This can be used to explore predictions regarding the impact of future trends in environmental lead levels resulting from proposed control efforts and regulations.

4.1.1. Estimates of Lead Uptake. Presented in Table 4-1 is the calculation scheme for deriving estimates of lead uptakes from four primary routes of exposure to environmental lead: inhaled air lead, lead in the diet, lead in dust/soil and lead in drinking water. For illustration, uptakes are calculated for 2- to 3-year-old children (24-36 months of age) who were not exposed to lead paint. However, the model will accept estimates of intake from ingestion of lead in paint. This is discussed further in Section 4.1.2.

Formulas and default assumptions for each step in the uptake calculations are enumerated below (numbers refer to computational and input steps in Table 4-1).

1. <u>Outdoor Air Lead</u>. The exposure concentrations (μ g/m^a) are inputs to the model. These can consist of site monitoring data or predictions based on site-specific source analysis such as those derived from the Industrial Source Complex Dispersion Model (U.S. EPA, 1986c).

2. <u>Indoor Air Lead</u>. The user is given the option of either entering a value for indoor air lead or estimating indoor air lead from outdoor air

2166A

01/03/91

TABLE 4-1

Lead Intake and Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children Exposed to Lead in Air, Diet, Dust, Soil and Drinking Water*

	Parameter	Default Value
1.	Outdoor air lead (µg/m³)	0.25
2.	Indoor air lead (µg/m³)	0.08
3.	Time spent outdoors (hour/day)	3
4.	Time weighted average (µg/m³)	0.10
5.	Breathing volume (m³/day)	5
6.	Lead intake from breathing air (µg/day)	0.5
7.	% Respiratory deposition/absorption	32
8.	Lead uptake from air (µg/day)	0.2
9.	Lead intake from diet (µg/day)	6.8
10.	% gastrointestinal absorption	50
11.	Lead uptake from diet (µg/day)	3.4
12.	Outdoor soil lead (µg/g)	200
13.	Indoor dust lead (µg/g)	200
14.	Daily soil-dust ingestion (mg/day)	0.1
15.	Weighting factors (soil/dust)	45/55
16.	Lead intake from dust and soil (µg/day)	20
17.	% gastrointestinal absorption	30
18.	Lead uptake from dust and soil (µg/day)	6.0
19.	Drinking water lead (µg/l)	4
20.	Drinking water intake (g/day)	0.5
21.	Lead intake from drinking water (µg/day)	2
22.	% gastrointestinal absorption	50
23.	Lead uptake from drinking water (µg/day)	1
24.	Total lead uptake (µg/day)	10.6

*Children not ingesting lead paint

lead. When the second option is selected, indoor air lead is calculated as follows:

$$[Pb]_{A1} = 0.30 \cdot [Pb]_{A0}$$

where $[Pb]_{A1}$ and $[Pb]_{A0}$ are the concentrations of lead in indoor and outdoor air, respectively, and 0.30 is an empirically derived conversion factor (see Section 3.3.1.1.). Indoor air lead is calculated in Table 4-1 as follows:

 $[Pb]_{A1} = (0.30)(0.25 \ \mu g/m^3) = 0.08 \ \mu g/m^3$

3. <u>Time Spent Outdoors</u>. Since children may be exposed to lead in both outdoor and indoor air, exposure concentrations should reflect timeweighted averages of exposure to both environments. The time-weighted exposure level will be highly dependent on the amount of time children spend outdoors. Activity patterns of children vary considerably with age, season, geographic location and cultural factors. Therefore, in estimating timeweighted average exposure concentrations, these factors should be characterized in the population of interest. The model defaults to a value of 3 hours/day for outdoor activity of 2- to 3-year-old children.

4. <u>Time-weighted Average Air Lead Concentration</u>. Computational strategies for estimating time-weighted exposure concentrations are discussed in Sections 3.3.1.1. and 3.3.1.2. In Table 4-1, the time-weighted average air concentration ($[Pb]_{TWA}$) is calculated as follows:

 $[Pb]_{TWA} = (([Pb]_{Ao} \cdot T_{o}) + ([Pb]_{Ai1} \cdot T_{i})) \cdot (1/24)$

where T_0 and T_1 are the times spent outdoors and indoors, respectively. The calculation in Table 4-1 is as follows:

$$[Pb]_{TWA} = (((0.25 \ \mu g/m^3)(3 \ hr)) + ((0.08 \ \mu g/m^3)(21 \ hr)))/24$$

= 0.10 \ \mu g/m^3

2166A

5. <u>Breathing Volume</u>. The model uses a default value of 5 m³/day for the average daily breathing volume of 2- to 3-year-old children. However, as discussed in Section 3.3.1.3., breathing volume may vary considerably from this value, depending on body size and physical activity.

6. Lead Intake from Breathing Air. Intake from breathing (I_A) is calculated as follows:

 $I_A = V \cdot [Pb]_{TWA}$

where V is the daily breathing volume (m^a/day) and [Pb]_{TWA} is the exposure concentration (μ g/m^a). Intake is calculated in Table 4-1 as follows:

 $I_{A} = (5 \text{ m}^{3}/\text{day})(0.10 \text{ }\mu\text{g/m}^{3}) = 0.5 \text{ }\mu\text{g/day}$

7. <u>Respiratory Deposition/Absorption of Inhaled Lead</u>. The deposition and absorption efficiencies of particles in the respiratory tract vary with particle size, which may be related to the nature of the exposure source and its proximity (see Section 2.2.1.1.). The model uses a default value of 32% for the estimated percent deposition and absorption of inhaled lead particles for 2- to 3-year-old children.

8. Lead Uptake from Inhaled Lead. Lead uptake from inhalation of airborne lead (U_A , $\mu g/day$) is calculated using the equation in Section 3.3.1.:

$$U_{A} = I_{A} \cdot DA$$

where I_A is the intake of airborne lead by the respiratory tract (µg/day) and DA is the product of the respiratory deposition and absorption fractions. For the example presented in Table 4-1, uptake is calculated as follows:

$$U_{A} = (0.50 \ \mu g/day)(0 \ 32) = 0.2 \ \mu g/day$$

2166A

9. <u>Dietary Lead Intake</u>. As discussed in Section 3.3.2., typical dietary lead intakes for each age group are defined from the results of Market Basket Surveys and analyses of food lead content (U.S. FDA, 1983, 1984; Pennington, 1983). The values presented in Table 4-1 are based on data from dietary surveys completed in 1988. However, current dietary levels may be lower because of decreases of lead in canned food (Cohen, 1988a,b). Strategies for projecting survey data forward in time to account for these changes are discussed in Section 3.3.2.

In the example presented in Table 4-1, the default values for dietary lead intake used in the model do not change with increasing air, soil or water lead. The basis for this assumption is that the typical U.S. diet consists of foods harvested and processed in diverse geographical locations. Thus, environmental contributions are not likely to be related to local environmental lead levels. Exceptions to this can be anticipated. For example, in rural areas where consumption of home-grown vegetables is common, local air or soil lead levels may be an important determinant of dietary intake. In this case, site-specific estimates of dietary intake or adjustments to the atmospheric source category could be used in the model in place of default values. The model accepts data on the concentrations of lead in home-grown fruits and vegetables, locally harvested fish and game animals, and data on the estimated portion of the diet derived from each food category. This information is incorporated into the calculations of dietary and total lead uptakes.

10. <u>% Gastrointestinal Absorption of Dietary Lead</u>. Empirical observations suggest that gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead decreases from a range of 40-50% in infants to 7-15% in adults (see Section 3.2.2.).

2166A

Since there is evidence to suggest that saturable (passive) and nonsaturable (active) mechanisms contribute to the gastrointestinal absorption of lead, a comprehensive model of absorption should include quantitative expressions for both passive and active mechanisms. Both "linear" and "nonlinear active-passive" models of gastrointestinal absorption have been incorporated into the Lead Uptake/Biokinetic Model. The user is given a choice as to which model is to be used to estimate lead uptake. The linear model assumes a constant absorption coefficient for dietary lead of 0.50, representing the high end of the range of empirical observations in infants. The following relatively simple active-passive model has been incorporated into the Uptake/Biokinetic Model (Marcus, 1990). The model assumes a "Michaelis-Menten type" of saturable function for the active component of lead absorp-The absorption coefficient (A_n) at any given dietary intake is tion. expressed as the sum of the passive absorption coefficient ($A_{\rm DP}$) and the active absorption coefficient (A_{DA}) , factored by the concentration for lead in the gastrointestinal tract and the apparent Km for active absorption, as follows:

$$A_{D} = A_{DP} + (A_{DA}/(1+([Pb]_{GI}/Km)^{3}))$$

where:

In the above model, the absorption coefficient decreases as the concentration of lead in the gastrointestinal tract $([Pb]_{GI})$ approaches and exceeds the Km for active absorption. The value of $[Pb]_{GI}$ depends on both intake of lead and gastrointestinal volume, and thus will be age-dependent.

2166A
The default values for 2- to 3-year-old children that are used in the model are as follows:

The relatively high value for Km of 100 mg/2 was selected to force the model to be linear over anticipated dietary intakes in children (i.e., constant saturable absorption coefficient). Thus, the values for saturable and nonsaturable absorption coefficients sum to yield an absorption coefficient of 0.50, identical to the default value used in the linear model. However, the default outputs of the linear and active-passive models diverge significantly if the value for the km is decreased. Although the active-passive model is theoretically sound and is a more accurate representation of gastrointestinal absorption than one in which the lead absorption coefficient depends on intake, strong empirical support for values for each parameter in the model is lacking. Default values used in the Uptake/Biokinetic Model were selected as reasonable estimates for these values and will be revised as new information becomes available.

11. Dietary Uptake. Dietary uptake (Un) is calculated as follows:

$$U_{D} = I_{D} - A_{D}$$

where I_D (ug Pb/day) is the intake from dietary sources and A_D is the fractional gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead. In the example presented in Table 4-1, the calculation is as follows:

 $U_{D} = (6.8 \, \mu g/day)(0.50) = 3.4 \, \mu g/day$

2166A

12. <u>Soil Lead</u>. The model accepts monitoring data for lead in soil; in the absence of data, a default value of 200 μ g/g is used. Amounts and patterns of lead distribution in soil vary considerably depending on the nature of the lead source. Empirical relationships used to predict soil lead levels associated with air lead sources and levels around mining sites are discussed in Section 3.2.2. To illustrate the computation scheme in the lead Uptake Model, the default value of 200 μ g/g is presented in Table 4-1.

13. <u>Indoor Dust Lead</u>. The Lead Uptake Model allows the user to select from three options: 1) accept a default value of 200 μ g/g; 2) input values in place of the default value, or 3) accept a multiple source model that partitions indoor dust lead into several contributing sources. The multiple source model sums the contributions of external environmental sources (i.e., air and soil) and "all other" sources to arrive at total indoor air lead (see Section 3.2.2.). In the example presented in Table **4-1**, option 1 is used [i.e., indoor dust lead is assumed to be equal to soil lead (200 μ g/g)].

14. <u>Amount of Dirt Ingested</u>. As discussed in Section 3.3.3.2., the amount of dirt (e.g., dust and soil) ingested daily can be expected to vary with age and tendency for soil pica. In the example presented in Table 4-1, a value of 0.10 mg/day is assumed for 2- to 3-year-old children.

15. <u>Weighting Factors for Soil and Indoor Dust</u>. The relative amounts of soil and indoor dust lead that are ingested depend on time spent indoors and outdoors and activity patterns within each environment. The model uses default weighting factors of 0.45 for soil and 0.55 for indoor dust.

16. Lead Intake from Ingesting Soil and Indoor Dust. The combined $\overline{}$ lead intake from indoor dust and soil (I_{DS}) are calculated as follows:

2166A

where I_{SOIL} is the amount of soil lead ingested and I_{DUST} is the amount of indoor dust lead ingested each day.

Lead intake from soil (I_{SOIL}) and indoor dust (I_{DUST}) are calculated as follows:

$$I_{SOIL} = [Pb]SOIL \cdot DS_{ING} \cdot (0.45)$$
$$I_{DUST} = [Pb]DUST \cdot DS_{ING} \cdot (0.55)$$

where:

In the example presented in Table 4-1, the calculations are as follows:

 $D_{SOIL} = 200 \; (\mu g/g) \; \cdot \; 0.1 \; (g/day) \; \cdot \; 0.45 \; = \; 9 \; (\mu g/day) \\ D_{DUST} = 200 \; (\mu g/g) \; \cdot \; 0.1 \; (g/day) \; \cdot \; 0.55 \; = \; 11 \; (\mu g/day) \\ I_{DS} = \; 9 \; (\mu g/day) \; + \; 11 \; (\mu g/day) \; = \; 20 \; (\mu g/day)$

17. <u>X Lead Absorption from Dirt</u>. Quantitative information on absorption efficiency of lead from ingested dust and soil in humans is lacking. As discussed in Section 3.3.3.3., experiments with animals indicate that lead in soil may be absorbed less than lead in food; the results of <u>in vitro</u> studies indicate that lead is likely to be solubilized in human gastric fluids. Both linear and nonlinear active-passive models of gastrointestinal absorption of lead from ingested water have been incorporated into the Lead Uptake/Biokinetic Model (see discussion of gastrointestinal absorption of the nonlinear active-passive model). The user is given a choice about which model to use to estimate lead uptake. The linear model assumes a constant absorption

2166A

coefficient of 0.30 for soil-dust lead, which is lower than value of 0.50 assigned to dietary lead, reflecting the empirical evidence for lower absorption from soil. The active-passive model is as follows:

$$A_{DS} = A_{DSP} + (A_{DSA}/(1+([Pb]_{GI}/Km)^3))$$

where:

ADS	=	absorption coefficient for dust-soil lead
A _{DSP}	=	coefficient for nonsaturable (passive) absorption
A _{DSA}	=	coefficient for saturable (active) absorption
[Pb]GI	=	concentration of dust-soil lead in the gastrointestinal tract ($\mu g/\mathfrak{L})$
Km	=	apparent Km for saturable absorption ($\mu g/\mathfrak{L}$)

The default values for 2- to 3-year-old children who are used in the model are as follows:

The default value for the Km for active absorption has been set at 100 mg/2 to force the model to linearity. Thus, the active and passive absorption components sum to 0.30, which is identical to the default value for the linear model.

18. Lead Uptake from Dust and Soll. Lead uptake from ingested dirt (U_{ns}) is calculated as follows:

$$U_{DS} = I_{DS} \cdot A_{DS}$$

where I_{DS} is the intake from dust and soil (µg/day) and A_{DS} is the fractional absorption. In the example presented in Table 4-1, the calculation is as follows:

$U_{DS} = (20 \ \mu g/day)(0.30) \stackrel{1}{=} 6.0 \ \mu g/day$

However, when default values for the model are used the outputs of the linear and active-passive models diverge significantly if total intake to the GI tract exceeds 100 μ g/day. This will occur when soil lead levels exceed 1000 ppm.

19. Drinking Water Lead ($\mu g/2$). The default value for lead in drinking water is 4 $\mu g/2$.

20. <u>Drinking Water Intake</u>. The default value for daily water intake in 2- to 3-year-old children is 0.5 L/day. This includes tap water consumed as water; tap water used to prepare food and beverages is considered in the dietary section of the model.

 <u>Lead Intake from Drinking Water</u>. Lead intake from drinking water is calculated as follows:

$I_{W} = [Pb]_{W} \cdot W_{ING}$

where $[Pb]_{W}$ (µg/%) is the average daily concentration of lead in drinking water and W_{ING} is the average amount of drinking water ingested. In the example presented in Table 4-1, the calculation of lead intake from drinking water is as follows:

 $I_{\mu} = 4 (\mu g/2) + 0.5 (1/day) = 2 \mu g/day.$

2166A

model. The default value for the absorption coefficient in the linear model is 0.50. The Km for active absorption is set to yield a sum of 0.50 for the active and passive absorption components.

23. <u>Uptake of Drinking Water Lead</u>. Lead uptake from drinking water is calculated as follows:

$$U_{W} = I_{W} \cdot A_{W}$$

where I_W (µg/day) is the intake from drinking water and A_W is the fractional absorption of ingested lead. In the example presented in Table 4-1 is as follows:

24. <u>Total Lead Uptake</u>. Total lead uptake (U_T) is the sum of uptakes from breathing lead in air, diet, drinking water and dust/soil ingestion:

$$U_T = U_A + U_D + U_{DS} + U_W$$

In the example presented in Table 4-1, the total uptake associated with exposure to 0.25 μ g/m³ is calculated as follows:

The calculation of media-specific uptakes presented in Table 4-1 shows that the largest contribution to total uptake in 2- to 3-year-old children is from dust, soil and diet. The contribution of inhaled airborne lead is relatively minor. Because of the relatively large contribution of dust and soil and diet lead to total uptake, predictions of total uptake will be highly sensitive to changes in the values of input parameters related to these exposure media. Several examples are illustrated in Figures 4-1 through 4-3.

Figure 4-1 shows the change in predicted total lead uptake in 2- to _ 3-year-old children as soil and dust lead increases from 100-1200 μ g/g.



FIGURE 4-1

Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children Exposed to Various Levels of Soil Lead as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model. Each line represents the predicted lead uptake assuming different values for the gastrointestinal absorption coefficients (A_{DS}) for dust and soil (10, 30 or 50%).



FIGURE 4-2

Effect of Varying the Absorption Coefficients for Lead in Diet and Water (AD,W) on Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model





Effect of Varying the Concentration of Lead in Drinking Water on Total Lead Uptake in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children as Predicted by the Lead Uptake Model

Three different values for the gastrointestinal absorption coefficient for dust and soil were assumed in each plot (i.e., $A_{DS} = 10$, 30 or 50% linear absorption model). Values for all other parameters remained constant. The figure illustrates the sensitivity of the model to changes in the value of the dust and soil absorption coefficients over a range that is easily accommodated by the currently available empirical data on gastrointestinal absorption of lead.

The model is also highly sensitive to the values used for gastrointestinal absorption of dietary lead. The model defaults to gastrointestinal absorption coefficients of 50% for both diet and drinking water; however, a value of 30% would not be entirely inconsistent with currently available empirical data. The effect modifying the absorption coefficients for diet and drinking water from 50 to 30% in 2- to 3-year-old children is illustrated in Figure 4-2. The result is a downward parallel shift in the uptake-soil lead relationship. Thus, the model predicts that at a soil lead of 200 μ g/g, decreasing the gastrointestinal absorption coefficients for diet and drinking water from 50 to 30%, will decrease total lead uptake by 30%.

The model predicts that uptake from drinking water will have the next greatest impact on total lead uptake, after dust-soil and dietary lead uptakes are considered. However, the contribution of drinking water lead is relatively small, compared with the contribution of dust-soil and diet. Hence, decreasing the concentration of lead in drinking water from 4 to 0 μ g/1 will have a relatively small effect on total lead uptake in 2- to 3-year-old children (see Figure 4-3).

4.1.2. Uptake of Lead from Ingested Paint. In the example presented in Table 4-1, it was assumed that the population of 2- to 3-year-old children

2166A

was not exposed to lead from paint. However, ingestion of lead-based paint chips can be a quantitatively important source for lead uptake in children living or playing in areas in which decaying paint surfaces exist. Lead levels in the indoor dust of homes with lead paint can be 2000 μ g/g (Hardy et al., 1971; Ter Haar and Aronow, 1974). A child who ingests 0.1 g of indoor dust each day would have a paint lead intake of 200 μ g/day. Although not illustrated in the example, the model accepts input of agespecific estimates of intake from lead paint and incorporates these values in the calculation of total lead uptake. The computation strategy is similar to that used for calculating uptake from ingestion of soil and indoor dust lead. Nonsaturable and saturable absorption mechanisms are assumed to contribute to the uptake of lead solubilized from paint in the gastrointestinal tract.

The effect of lead paint ingestion on total lead uptake can be illustrated in the following example. Keeping all other parameters in Table 4-1 the same, an additional intake of 200 μ g/day of paint lead in a 2- to 3-year-old child increases total lead uptake from 10-58 μ g/day.

4.1.3. Uptake and Blood Lead Concentrations. Kneip et al. (1983) developed a biokinetic model for lead from data obtained in single dose and chronic lead exposure of infant and juvenile baboons. Estimated physiological and metabolic parameters for humans have been incorporated into the model for baboons to develop a predictive model for humans (Harley and Kneip, 1985). The resulting biokinetic model (Harley and Kneip, 1985) was selected by the Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards of U.S. EPA (1989a) to estimate age-specific blood lead levels associated with a giventotal lead uptake.

2166A

The Harley and Kneip (1985) model defines first-order rate constants for exchanges between blood and four physiological compartments that contain >95% of the lead body burden; bone, kidney, liver and gastrointestinal tract (Heard and Chamberlain, 1984). Rate constants for transfer of lead from the liver to the gastrointestinal tract and from blood to urine are also specified in the model (see Figure 2-1). Rate constants are adjusted for age-related changes in metabolism that affect the kinetics of distribution and excretion of lead in children. For example, uptake and elimination rate constants for bone are adjusted to account for expected changes in the rate of bone turnover with age (Harley and Kneip, 1985). Similarly, age adjustments in excretion of lead in the urine, the transfer of lead from blood to liver and the fractional absorption from the gastrointestinal tract are incorporated into the model.

The model predicts levels of lead in blood, bone, kidney and liver associated with continuous lifetime uptake rates for children of various ages. While complete validation of the model in humans is not possible, comparisons can be made with the results of dietary studies in humans. The following data and discussion were taken from the recent OAQPS Staff Report on lead exposure analysis methodology and validation (U.S. EPA, 1989a). Figure 4-4 compares the relationships between lead uptake and blood lead derived from the various studies on infants and adults. Despite the diverse nature of the populations, study designs and methodologies, there is a fair degree of consistency in the relationships. Each study found that a linear function provided as good a fit, if not better, than other nonlinear forms at the relatively low exposure levels investigated. Some experimental and epidemiological data suggest, however, that the relationship between lead concentrations in tissues and cumulative lead intake is only approximately linear at low levels of intake, and that successive increments in intake or



FIGURE 4-4

Summary of Relationships Between Daily Lead Uptake and Blood Lead for Infants (Ryu et al., 1983; Lacey et al., 1983, 1985), Adults (Sherlock et al., 1982; Cools et al., 1976) and 2- to 3-Year-Old Children, Derived From the Harley and Kneip (1985) Biokinetic Model

Source: U.S. EPA, 1989a

2166A

01/31/91

exposure result in progressively smaller contributions to blood lead concentrations (Azar et al., 1975; Moore, 1977; Gross, 1981; Sherlock et al., The curves drawn in Figure 4-4 for infants and adults include 1982). smaller slopes for lead uptake values >20-40 µg/day. This curvilinear relationship may be due to increased renal clearance with higher blood lead (Gross, 1981), distributional nonlinearities that may be due to differences in lead binding sites in different tissues (Hammond et al., 1981; Marcus, 1985b; Manton, 1985), or to a sizable pool of mobile lead in bone maintained more or less independently of uptake (Rabinowitz et al., 1977; Chamberlain, 1983). It appears, however, that none of the mechanisms introduce significant nonlinearities at blood lead levels <30 µg/dv (Marcus, 1984, 1985a,c; Chamberlain, 1983) and that a linear mathematical model is valid for relatively low to moderate lead exposures (U.S. EPA, 1986b). At levels y/d&, blood lead may be an inadequate index for tissue lead اوراهر 30-40 burdens in many children (Piomelli et al., 1984) and linear models are likely to lose their predictive power. For this reason, the relationships depicted in Figure 4-4 are truncated at 30 µg/dg. To estimate PbB levels >30 μ g/d2, which is now above the PbB level of health-related concern for children, use of nonlinear models discussed in the criteria document would be required (U.S. EPA, 1986b).

The Harley and Kneip (1985) Model has been extended in several directions, based on recent data, to develop the current version of the Uptake/Biokinetic Model. These extensions include the following:

- additional compartmentation of the blood and bone lead pools (Marcus, 1985a,c);
- kinetic nonlinearity in the uptake of lead by red blood cells at high concentrations (Marcus, 1985c);
- 3. transfer of lead from the mother to fetus.

2166A

01/03/91

The blood lead compartment is divided into plasma and red blood cell pools. The relationship between lead uptake and the concentration of lead in whole blood may be nonlinear at concentrations >20 μ g/d2 (Marcus, 1985a,c; Marcus and Schwartz, 1987). This may result from decreased binding of lead to erythrocytes at high lead concentrations (Barton, 1989).

The bone compartment is divided into cortical and trabecular pools. Trabecular bone develops earlier and has a faster turnover (1-2 years) than cortical bone. In children, a large portion of the body burden of lead is in the more mobile trabecular bone pool.

The fetus receives lead from the mother in utero, and, thus, is born with a lead body burden that depends on that of the mother during pregnancy. The ratio of newborn lead levels to maternal blood lead is ~0.8-0.9 (U.S. EPA, 1989a). A default ratio of 0.85 is used in the model to estimate newborn blood lead concentration. Maternal blood lead levels are estimated from an uptake/blokinetic model developed by Allen Marcus (Battelle-Columbia) to emulate the uptake and blokinetics of lead in the pregnant woman. The essential components of the model are similar to those in the model used to predict uptake and blood lead levels in the child, adjusted for physiological values relevant to exposure and absorption. Intake from air, diet, dust-soil ingestion, drinking water, and occupational sources and absorption coefficients for inhaled and ingested lead from each medium are used to calculate medium specific uptakes. Uptakes are summed to yield total uptake, which is partitioned into the physiological compartments of blood, bone, kidney and liver. Kinetic parameters for compartmental transfers are adjusted for fetal age.

2166A

4.2. CALCULATIONS OF PROJECTED MEAN BLOOD LEAD DISTRIBUTIONS: LEAD UPTAKE LEVELS

The Uptake/Biokinetic Model predicts mean blood lead levels associated with defined multimedia exposure levels. However, to assess the risks associated with such exposures in a given population and evaluate potential effects of regulatory or abatement decisions, the frequency distribution for the population blood lead levels is a more useful parameter than population means. The fraction of the population with the highest blood lead levels will be the focus of regulatory and abatement decisions.

The distribution of blood lead Tevels is approximately log normal (U.S. EPA, 1986b) and, thus, is defined by its geometric mean and GSD. It is, therefore, possible to calculate the frequency distribution for blood lead levels, given a mean blood lead level and estimated GSD for the population. Estimated GSDs for blood lead levels in humans range from 1.3-1.4 (Tepper and Levin, 1975; Azar et al., 1975; Billick et al., 1979). Schwartz (1985) estimated a GSD of 1.428 for young children after removing the variance in blood lead levels attributable to air lead exposure.

The OAQPS analyzed the NHANES II data on blood lead levels in adults; estimated GSDs are 1.34-1.39 for adult women and 1.37-1.40 for adult men (U.S. EPA, 1986b). The OAQPS (U.S. EPA, 1989a) also analyzed data from various studies of blood lead levels in children living near lead point sources (e.g., smoke stacks, smelters) (Baker et al., 1977; Yankel et al., 1977; Roels et al., 1980; CDC, 1983; Hartwell et al., 1983; Schwartz et al., 1986). The OAQPS concluded that

"Until additional data are available, a range of 1.30-1.53 will therefore be assumed for children living near point sources as a reasonable range of GSD values (Roels et al., 1980; CDC, 1983), and the midpoint of 1.42 will be assumed as a reasonable best estimate."

2166A

The Uptake/Biokinetic Model assumes a GSD of 1.42 as a default value. It should be noted, however, that this value pertains to fairly homogeneous populations (with respect to behavioral and pharmacokinetic factors) exposed to similar mean levels of lead from the same sources. Other distributions and levels of variability may be encountered in populations having subgroups exposed to very different soil or air lead concentrations.

Figure 4-5 shows the probability distribution of blood lead levels in 2- to 3-year-old children as predicted by the Uptake/Biokinetic Model and assuming a GSD for blood lead of 1.42. The parameter values presented in Table 4-1 were used to calculate uptake; maternal blood lead was assumed to be 7.5 μ g/d2. The model predicts a mean blood lead level of 2.98 μ g/d2 and that 0.02% of the children will have blood lead levels >10 μ g/d2, the low end of the range of concern for adverse health effects (i.e., 10-15 μ g/d2). Figure 4-6 shows the predicted relationship between total lead uptake and mean blood lead level in 2- to 3-year-old children. The numbers above each point on the graph indicate the percent of children who are predicted to have blood lead levels >10 μ g/d2.

Several validation exercises were undertaken to test the performance of the Uptake/Biokinetic Model for predicting mean blood lead levels and distributions in human populations (U.S. EPA, 1989a). Results of the most extensive evaluation are shown in Figures $4_{\pi}7$ and $4_{\pi}8$. The Uptake/Biokinetic Model was used to predict blood lead levels in 299 children living in the vicinity of lead smelter. The frequency distribution of the predicted blood lead in individual children was compared to the observed distribution. When site-specific data for air, dust and soil lead were used in the model, predicted and observed mean blood lead levels and distributions were essentially identical up to the 90th percentile (see Figure 4-7).

01/03/91





Probability Distribution of Blood Lead Levels in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children as Predicted by the Lead Uptake/Blokinetic Model. Uptake parameters used to calculate blood leads are Shown in Table 4-1. Maternal blood lead was assumed to be 7.5 μ g/dt. A value of 1.42 was assumed for the GSD.



FIGURE 4-6

Mean Blood Lead Levels in 2- to 3-Year-Old Children vs. Total Lead Uptake as Predicted by the Lead Biokinetic Model. Maternal blood lead was assumed to be 7.5 $_\mu g/d\Sigma$. A value of 1.42 was assumed for the GSD.

ז רפטק (המ/קר)





Comparison of Distribution of Measured Blood Levels in Children 1-5 Years of Age, Living Within 2.25 Miles of a Lead Smelter with Levels -Predicted from the Uptake/Blokinetic Model. Measured dust and soil lead levels were included in the input parameters to the model.

Source: U.S. EPA, 1989a





Comparison of Distribution of Measured Blood Lead Levels in Children 1-5 Years of Age, Living Within 2.25 Miles of a Lead Smelter with Levels Predicted from the Uptake/Blokinetic Model. Dust and soil lead levels were estimated using default calculations.

Source: U.S. EPA, 1989a

Above the 90th percentile, the model slightly underpredicted blood lead levels. When default estimates of dust and soil lead were used in the model, predicted mean blood lead levels were within 2% of those observed; however, the model again slightly underpredicted blood lead levels at the highest percentile (see Figure 4-8).

4.3. SUMMARY

The Uptake/Biokinetic Model can be used to predict blood lead levels associated with multimedia exposures to lead in air, diet, dust and soil. The uptake model accepts monitoring data or estimated values for the levels of lead in each media and predicts a range of lead uptake rates that will result from exposure to each medium. The biokinetic model accepts estimates of total lead uptake and predicts mean levels of lead in blood, bone, liver and kidney for children of different ages. Mean lead levels can then be used to estimate frequency distributions for lead levels in populations of children, assuming a log normal distribution and a specified GSD. The results of several validation exercises indicate that the Uptake/Biokinetic Model accurately predicts mean blood lead levels associated with multimedia exposures in children; however, it may underpredict the highest level expected to occur in an exposed population.

2166A

Alexander, F.W., H.T. Delves and B.E. Clayton. 1973. The uptake and excretion by children of lead and other contaminants. <u>In</u>: Proc. Int. Symp.: Environmental Health Aspects of Lead, October, 1972, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Commission of European Communities, Centre for Information and Documentation, Luxembourg. p. 319-331.

Alvares, A.P., S. Kapelner, S. Sassa and A. Kappas. 1975. Drug metabolism in normal children, lead-poisoned children, and normal adults. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 17: 179-183.

Angle, C.R. and M.S. McIntire. 1978. Low level lead and inhibition of erythrocyte pyrimidine nucleotidase. Environ. Res. 17: 296-302.

Angle, C.R. and M.S. McIntire. 1979. Environmental lead and children: The Omaha study. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 5: 855-870.

Angle, C.R. and M.S. McIntire. 1982. Children, the barometer of environmental lead. Adv. Pediatr. 27: 3-31.

Angle, C.R., M.S. McIntire, M.S. Swanson and S.J. Stohs. 1982. Erythrocyte nucleotides in children -- Increased blood lead and cytidine triphosphate. Pediatr. Res. 16: 331-334.

2167A

ATSDR. 1988. The Nature and Extent of Lead Poisoning in Children in the United States: A Report to Congress. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, U.S. Public Health Service, Atlanta, GA.

ATSDR/U.S. EPA. 1988. Toxicological Profile for Lead. Draft for Public Comment. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, U.S. Public Health Service, Atlanta, GA, in collaboration with U.S. EPA.

Aungst, B.J. and H.L. Fung. 1981. Kinetic characterization of <u>in vitro</u> lead transport across the rat small intestine. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 61: 39-57.

Azar, A., R.D. Snee and K. Habibi. 1975. An epidemiologic approach to community air lead exposure using personal air samplers. <u>In</u>: Lead. Environ. Qual. Saf. Suppl. 2: 254-290.

Baghurst, P.A., E.F. Robertson, A.J. McMichael, G.V. Vimpani, N.R. Wigg and R.R. Roberts. 1987. The Port Pirie cohort study: Lead effects on pregnancy outcome and early childhood development. Neurotoxicology. 8: 395-401.

Baker, E.L., Jr., C.G. Hayes, P.J. Landrigan et al. 1977. A nationwide survey of heavy metal absorption in children living near primary copper, lead and zinc smelters. Am. J. Epidemiol. 106 261-273.

Baker, E.L. Jr., P.J. Landrigan, A.G. Barbour et al. 1979. Occupational lead poisoning in the United States: Clinical and biochemical findings related to blood levels. Br. J. Ind. Med. 36: 214-322.

2167A

5-2

01/03/91

Barltrop, D. 1959. Transfer of lead to the human foetus. <u>In</u>: Mineral Metabolism in Pediatrics, D. Barltrop and W.L. Burland, Ed. Davis Co., Philadelphia, PA. p. 135-151.

Barltrop, D. 1966. The prevalence of pica. Am. J. Dis. Child. 112: 116-123.

Barltrop, D. 1972. Children and environmental lead. <u>In</u>: Conf. Proc.: Lead in the Environment. Institute of Petroleum, London, United Kingdom. p. 52-60.

Barltrop, D. and F. Meek. 1979. Effects of particle size and lead absorption from gut. Arch. Environ. Health. 34: 280-285.

Barltrop, D. and C.D. Strehlow. 1988. The contribution from soil and house dust lead to lead burden in childhood. Paper presented at a Conference on Lead in Soil: Issues and Guidelines, March 7-9, 1988, Chapel Hill, NC.

Barltrop, D., C.D. Strehlow, I. Thorton and J.S. Webb. 1975. Absorption of lead from dust and soil. Postgrad. Med. J. 51: 801-804.

Barnes, J.H. and H.B. Stoner. 1958. Toxic properties of some dialkyl and trialkyl tin salts. Br. J. Ind. Med. 15: 15-22.

Barry, P.S.I. 1975. A comparison of concentrations of lead in human tissues. Br. J. Ind. Med. 32: 119-139.

2167A

Barry, P.S.I. 1981. Concentrations of lead in the tissues of children. Br. J. Ind. Med. 38: 61-71.

Barry, P.S.I. and D.B. Mossman. 1970. Lead concentration in human tissues. Br. J. Ind. Med. 27: 339-351.

Barton, J.C. 1989. Retention of radiolead by human erythrocytes <u>in vitro</u>. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 99: 314-322.

Beck, B.D. and M.J. Steele. 1990. Evaluation of soil ingestion in children. Unpublished report.

Bellinger, D.C., A. Leviton, C. Waternaux, H. Needleman and M. Rabinowitz. 1987a. Longitudinal analyses of prenatal and postnatal lead exposure and early cognitive development. New Engl. J. Med. 316: 1037-1043.

Bellinger, D., J. Sloman, A. Leviton, C. Waternaux, H. Needleman and M. Rabinowitz. 1987b. Low level lead exposure and child development: Assessment at age 5 of a cohort followed from birth. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Heavy Metals in the Environment, V. 1: September, New Orleans, LA. CEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, United Kingdom. p. 49-53.

Bellinger, D., A. Leviton, C. Waternaux, H. Needleman and M. Rabinowitz. 1989a. Low-level lead exposure and early development in socioeconomically advantaged urban infants. <u>In</u>: Lead Exposure and Child Development: An International Assessment. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Lancaster, United Kingdom. p. 345-356.

Bellinger, A., A. Leviton and J. Sloman. 1989b. Antecedents and correlates of improved cognitive performance in children exposed <u>in utero</u> to low levels of lead. Presented at Conference on Advances in Lead Research: Implications for Environmental Research. National Institutes of Environmental Health Sciences, Research Triangle Park, NC. January 1989.

Bhattacharya, A., R. Shulka, R. Bornschein, K. Dietrich and J.E. Kopke. 1988. Postural disequilibrium quantification in children with chronic lead exposure: A pilot study. Neurotoxicology. 9: 327-340.

Biagini, G., R. Caudarella and A. Vangelista. 1977. Renal morphological and functional modification in chronic lead poisoning. <u>In</u>: Clinical Chemistry and Chemical Toxicology of Metals, S.S. Brown, Ed. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, New York, NY. p. 123-126.

Billick, I.H., A.S. Curran and D.R. Shier. 1979. Analysis of pediatric blood lead levels in New York City for 1970-1976. Environ. Health Perspect. 31: 183-190.

Binder, S., D. Sokal and D. Maugham. 1986. Estimating soil ingestion: The use of tracer elements in estimating the amount of soil ingestion by young children. Arch. Environ. Health. 41: 341-345.

Blake, K.C.H. 1976. Absorption of 203Pb from gastrointestinal tract of man. Environ. Res. 11: 3-4.

2167A

Boeckx, R.L., B. Posti and F.J. Coodin. 1977. Gasoline sniffing and tetraethyl lead poisoning in children. Pediatrics. 60: 140-145.

Bolanowska, W., J. Piotrowski and H. Garczynski. 1967. Triethyl lead in the biological material in cases of acute tetraethyl lead poisoning. Arch. Toxicol. 22: 278-282.

Bornschein, R.L., C.S. Clark, J. Grote, S. Roda, B. Peace and P. Succop. 1988. Soil/lead-blood/lead relationships in an urban community and in a mining community. Paper presented at a Conference on Lead in Soil: Issues and Guidelines, March 7-9, 1988, Chapel Hill, NC.

Bornschein, R.L., J. Grote, T. Mitchell et al. 1989. Effects of prenatal lead exposure on infant size at birth. <u>In</u>: Lead Exposure and Child Development: An International Assessment, M.A. Smith, L.D. Grant and A.I. Sors, Ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Lancaster, United Kingdom. p. 307-319.

Bruenger, F.W., W. Stevens and B.J. Stover. 1973. The association of ²¹⁰Pb with constituents of erythrocytes. Health Phys. 25: 37-42.

Brunekreef, B.D. 1984. The relationship between air lead and blood lead in children: A critical review. Sci. Technol. Environ. 38: 79-123.

Brunekreef, B., S.J. Veenstra, K. Biersteker and J.S.M. Boleij. 1981. The Arnheim lead study: 1. Lead uptake by 1- to 3-year-old children living inthe vicinity of a secondary lead smelter in Arnheim, The Netherlands. Environ. Res. 25: 441-448.

Buchet, J-P., H. Roels, A. Bernard and R. Lauwerys. 1980. Assessment of renal function of workers exposed to inorganic lead, cadmium or mercury vapor. J. Occup. Med. 22: 741-750.

Bushnell, P.J. and R.E. Bowman. 1979a. Reversal learning deficits in growing rhesus monkeys exposed to lead. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 10: 733-742.

Bushnell, P.J. and R.E. Bowman. 1979b. Persistence of impaired reversal learning in young monkeys exposed to low levels of dietary lead. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 5: 1015-1023.

Byington, K.H., D.A. Yates and W.A. Mullins. 1980. Binding of triethyllead chloride by hemoglobin. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 52: 379-385.

Calabrese, E.J., H. Pastides, R. Barnes et al. 1989. How much soil do young children ingest: An epidemiological study. Reg. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 10: 123-137.

CDC (Centers for Disease Control). 1983. East Helena, Montana Child Lead Study, Summer, 1983. Lewis and Clark Health Department, Montana Department of Health and Environmental Science, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S. EPA.

CDC (Centers for Disease Control). 1989. Occupational and Para-occupational Exposure to Lead - Colorado. Mortal. Morbid. Weekly Rep. 38: 338-346.

2167A

Chai, S. and R.C. Webb. 1988. Effects of lead on vascular reactivity. <u>In</u>: Symp. on Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April, 1987, Chapel Hill. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 85-89.

Chamberlain, A.C. 1983. Effect of airborne lead on blood lead. Atmos. Environ. 17: 677-692.

Chamberlain, A.C. and M.J. Heard. 1981. Lead tracers and lead balances. <u>In</u>: Proc. 2nd Int. Symp.: Environmental Lead Research, Environmental Lead, December, 1978. Academic Press, Cincinnati, OH/New York, NY. p. 175-198.

Chamberlain, A.C., W.S. Clough, M.J. Heard, D. Newton, A.N.B. Stott and A.C. Wells. 1975. Uptake of lead by inhalation of motor exhaust. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B. 192: 77-82.

Chamberlain, A.C., M.J. Heard, P. Little, D. Newton, A.C. Wells and R.D. Wiffen. 1978. Investigations into lead from motor vehicles. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, Harwell, United Kingdom. Report no. AERE-R9198.

Chan, T.L. and M. Lippmann. 1980. Experimental measurements and empirical modeling of the regional deposition of inhaled particles in humans. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 47: 399-408.

Chaney, R.L., H.W. Mielke and S.B. Sterrett 1988. Speciation, mobility_ and bioavailability of soil lead. Environ Geochem. Health. (In press)

2167A

5-8

01/03/91

Chaney, R.L., H.W. Mielke and S.B. Sterrett: 1989. Speciation, mobility and bioavailability of lead in soil. Environ. Goechem. Health. 11: 105-129.

Chisolm, J.J., Jr. 1962. Aminoaciduria as a manifestation of renal tubular injury in lead intoxication and a comparison with patterns of aminoaciduria seen in other diseases. J. Pediatr. (St. Louis) 60: 1-17.

Chisolm, J.J., Jr. 1968. The use of chelating agents in the treatment of acute and chronic lead intoxication in childhood. J. Pediatr. (St. Couis) 73: 1-39.

Chisolm, J.J., Jr. 1984. The continuing hzard of lead exposure and its effects in children. Neurotoxicology. 5: 23-42.

Chisolm, J.J., Jr., H.C. Harrison, W.R. Eberlein and H.E. Harrison. 1955. Amino-aciduria, hypophosphatemia, and rickets in lead poisoning: Study of a case. Am. J. Dis. Child. 89: 159-168.

Chisolm, J.J., D.J. Thomas and T.G. Hamill. 1985. Erythrocyte porphobilinogen synthase activity as an indicator of lead exposure to children. Clin. Chem. 31: 601-605.

Clausing, P., B. Brunekreef and J.H. van Wijen. 1987. A method for estimating soil ingestion by children. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health. 59: 73-82.

Cohen, J. 1987. Respiratory deposition and absorption of lead particles. Memorandum to Fred Miller and Ted Martonen, Inhalation Toxicology Division, U.S. EPA, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Ambient Standards Branch, Research Triangle Park, NC, October 7, 1987.

Cohen, J. 1988a. Dietary lead estimates for case study exposure analyses. Memorandum to Files, U.S. EPA, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Ambient Standards Branch, Research Triangle Park, NC. May 16.

Cohen, J. 1988b Revisions to dietary lead estimates for case-study exposure analyses. Memorandum to Files, U.S. EPA, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Ambient Standards Branch, Research Triangle Park, NC. September 9.

Cohen, A.F. and B.L. Cohen. 1980. Protection from being indoors against inhalation of suspended particulate matter of outdoor origin. Atmos. Environ. 14: 184-184.

Cookman, G.R., W. King and C.M. Regan. 1987. Chronic low-level exposure impairs embryonic to adult conversion of the neural cell adhesion molecule. J. Neurochem. 49: 399-403.

Cookman, G.R., S.E. Hemmens, G.J. Keane, W.B. King and C.M. Regan. 1988. Chronic low level lead exposure precociously induces rat glial development in vitro and in vivo. Neurosci. Lett. 86: 33-37.

2167A

Cools, A., H.J. Salle, M.M. Verbeck and R.L. Zielhuis. 1976. Biochemical response of male volunteers ingesting inorganic lead for 49 days. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health. 38: 129-139.

Cramer, K., R.A. Goyer, R. Jagenburg and M.H. Wilson. 1974. Renal ultrastructure, renal function and parameters of lead toxicity in workers with different periods of lead exposure. Br. J. Ind. Med. 31: 113-127.

Cremer, J.E. 1959. Biochemical studies on the toxicity of tetraethyl lead and other organolead compounds. Br. J. Ind. Med. 16: 191-199.

Cremer, J.E. and S.E. Calloway. 1961. Further studies on the toxicity of tetra and trialkyl lead compounds. B. J. Ind. Med. 18: 277-282.

Dacre, J.C. and G.L. TerHaar. 1977. Lead levels in tissues from rats fed soil containing lead. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 6: 111-119.

Davidson, C.I. and J.F. Osborn. 1984. The sizes of airborne trace metalcontaining particles. <u>In</u>: Toxic Metals in the Air, J.U. Nriagu and C.I. Davidson, Ed. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, NY.

Davies, B.E. and B.G. Wixon. 1985. Trace elements in surface soils from the mineralized area of Madison County. Missouri, USA. J. Soil Sci. 36: 551-570.

2167A

Davies, B.E., P.C. Elwood, J. Gallacher and R.C. Ginnever. 1985. The relationships between heavy metals in garden soils and house dusts in an old lead mining area of North Wales, Great Britain. Environ. Pollut. (Series B). 9: 255-266.

Davis, J.M. 1990. Risk assessment of the developmental neurotoxicity of lead. Neurotoxicology. (In press)

Davis, S., P. Waller, R. Buschbom. J. Ballou and P. White. 1990. Quantitative estimates of soil ingestion in normal children between the ages of 2 and 7 years: Population-based estimates using aluminum, silicon and titanium as soil tracer elements. Arch. Environ. Health. (In press)

Day, J.P., J.E. Fergusson and T.M. Chee. 1979. Solubility and potential toxicity of lead urban street dust. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 23: 497-502.

DeSilva, P.E. 1981. Determination of lead in plasma and studies on its relationship to lead in erythrocytes. Br. J. Ind. Med. 38: 209-217.

Dietrich, K.N., K.M. Krafft, R. Bornschein et al. 1987. Low-level fetal lead exposure effect on neurobehavioral development in early infancy. Pediatrics. 80(5): 721-730.

Dietrich, K.N., K.M. Krafft, M. Bier, O. Berger, P.A. Succop and R. Bornschein. 1989. Neurobehavioral effects of foetal lead exposure: The first year of life. <u>In</u>: Lead Exposure and Child Development: An International Assessment, M.A. Smith, L.D. Grant and A.I. Sors, Ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Lancaster, United Kingdom. p. 320-331.

Drasch, G.A., J. Bohm and C. Baur. 1987. Lead in human bones. Investigation of occupationally non-exposed population in southern Bavaria (F.R.G.). 1. Adults. Sci. Total Environ. 647: 303-315.

Duggan, M.J. and S. Williams. 1977. Lead-in-dust in city streets. Sci. Total Environ. 7: 91-97.

Elwood, P.C., G. Davey-Smith, P.D. Oldham and C. Toothill. 1988a. Two Welsh surveys of blood lead and blood pressure. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 119-121.

Elwood, P.C., J.W. Yarnell, P.D. Odham et al. 1988b. Blood pressure and blood lead in surveys in Wales. Am. J. Epidemiol. 127: 942-945.

Ernhart, C.B. and M. Morrow-Tlucak. 1987. Low level lead exposure in the prenatal and early preschool years as related to intelligence just prior to school entry. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Heavy Metals in the Environment, V. 1: September, New Orleans. CEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, UK. p. 150-152.

Ernhart, C.B., A.W. Wolf, M.J. Kennard, P. Erhard, H.J. Flipovich and R.J. Sokol. 1986. Intrauterine exposure to low levels of lead: The status of the meonate. Arch. Environ. Health. 41: 287-291.

Ernhart, C.B., M. Morrow-Tlucak, M.R. Marler and A.W. Wolf. 1987. Low level lead exposure in the prenatal and early preschool periods: Early preschool development. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 9: 259-270.

Everson, J. and C.C. Patterson. 1980. "Ultra-clean" isotope dilution/mass spectrometric analyses for lead in human plasma indicate that most reported values are artificially high. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, NC). 26: 1603-1607.

Fahim, M.S., Z. Fahim and D.G. Hall. 1976. Effects of subtoxic lead levels on pregnant women in the state of Missouri. Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol. 13: 309-331.

Fergusson, D.M., J.E. Fergusson, J.L. Horwood and N.G. Knzett. 1988a. A longitudinal study of lead levels, intelligence, school performance and behavior. Part I. Dentine lead levels and exposure to environmental risk factors. J. Child Psychol. Psychiat. 29: 781-792.

Fergusson, D.M., J.E. Fergusson, J.L. Horwood and N.G. Knzett. 1988b. A longitudinal study of lead levels, intelligence, school performance and behavior. Part II. Dentine lead and cognitive ability. J. Child Psychol. Psychiat. 29: 793-809.

2167A
Fergusson, D.M., J.E. Fergusson, J.L. Horwood and N.G. Knzett. 1988c. A longitudinal study of lead levels, intelligence, school performance and behavior. Part II. Dentine lead levels and attention/activity. J. Child Psychol. Psychiat. 29: 811-824.

Fischbein, A. 1977. Lead intoxication among demolition workers: The effect of lead on the hepatic cytochrome P-450 system in humans. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 3: 431-437.

Flegel, A.R., D.R. Smith and R.W. Elias. 1988. Lead contamination in food. <u>In</u>: Environmental Food Contamination; Advances in Environmental Science and Technology, J.O. Nriagu and M.S. Simmons, Ed. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York.

Flood, P.R., P.F. Schmidt, G.R. Wesenberg and H. Gadeholt. 1988. The distribution of lead in human hematopoietic tissue and spongy bone after lead poisoning and Ca-EDTA chelation therapy. Arch. Toxicol. 62: 295-300.

Forstner, U., W. Calmano, K. Conradt, H. Jaksch, C. Schimkus and J. Schoer. 1981. Chemical speciation of heavy metals in solid waste materials (sewage sludge, mining wastes, dredged materials, polluted sediments) by sequential extraction. Paper presented at 3rd International Conference on Heavy Metals in the Environment, September 1981, Amsterdam.

Fulton, M., G. Raab, G. Thomson, D. Laxen, R. Hunter and W. Hepburn. 1987. Influence of blood lead on the ability and attainment of children in Edinburgh. Lancet. 8544: 1221-1226.

2167A

Gardels, M.C. and T.J. Sorg. 1989. A laboratory study of the leaching of lead from water faucets. J. Am. Water Works. 81: 101-113.

Gilbert, S.G. and S.C. Rice. 1987. Low-level lifetime lead exposure produces behavioral toxicity (spatial discrimination reversal) in adult monkeys. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 91: 484-490.

Goldings, A.S. and R.M. Stewart. 1982. Organic lead encephalopathy: Behavioral change and movement disorder following gasoline inhalation. J. Clin. Psychol. 43: 70-72.

Goyer, R.A. 1982. The nephrotoxic effects of lead. <u>In</u>: Nephrotoxicity. Assessment and Pathogenesis, P.H. Bach, F.W. Bonner, J.W. Bridges and E.A. Lock, Ed. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., Chichester, United Kingdom. p. 338-348.

Goyer, R.A., P. May, M.M. Cates and M.R. Krigman. 1970. Lead and protein content of isolated nuclear inclusion bodies from kidneys of lead-poisoned rats. Lab. Clin. Invest. 22: 245-251.

Grandjean, P. 1979. Occupational lead exposure in Denmark: Screening with the hematofluorometer. Br. J. Ind. Med. 36: 52-58.

Grandjean, P. and T. Nielsen. 1979. Organolead compounds: Environmental health aspects. Res. Rev. 72: 98-148.

Grandjean, P., H.C. Wulf and E. Niebuhr. 1983. Sister chromatid exchange in response to variations in occupational lead exposure. Environ. Res. 32: 199-204.

Griffin, T.B., F. Coulston, L. Goldberg, H. Willis, J.C. Russell and J.H. Knelson. 1975. Clinical studies on men continuously exposed to airborne particulate lead. <u>In</u>: Lead, T.B. Griffin and J.H. Knelson, Ed. George Thieme Publishers, Stuttgart, Federal Republic of Germany. p. 221-240.

Gross, S.B. 1981. Human oral and inhalation exposures to lead: Summary of Kehoe balance experiments. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 8: 333-377.

Gross, S.B., E.A. Sitzer, D.W. Yeager and R.A. Kehoe. 1975. Lead in human tissue. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 32: 638-651.

Hammond, P.B., E.J. O'Flaherty and P.S. Gartside. 1981. The impact of air lead on blood lead in man: A critique of the recent literature. Food Cosmet. Toxicol. 19: 631-638.

Hammond, P.B., R.L. Bornschein and P. Succop. 1985. Dose-effect and dose-response relationships of blood lead to erythrocytic protoporphyrin in young children. Environ. Res. 38: 187-196.

Hardy, H.L., R.I. Chamberlain, C.C. Maloof, G.W. Boylen, Jr. and M.C. Howell. 1971. Lead as an environmental poison. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 12: 982-1002.

2167A

Harlan, W.R., J.R. Landis, R.L. Schmouder, N.G. Goldstein and L.S. Harlan. 1985. Blood lead and blood pressure: Relationship in the adolescent and adult U.S. population. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 253: 530-534.

Harley, N.H. and T.H. Kneip. 1985. An integrated metabolic model for lead in humans of all ages. Final report to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Contract No. 844899. January, 1985.

Harrison, R.M. 1979. Toxic metals in street and household dusts. Sci. Total Environ. 11: 89-97.

Harrison, R.M. and D.P.H. Laxen. 1978. Sink processes for tetraalkyl lead compounds in the atmosphere. Environ. Sci. Technol. 12: 1384-1392.

Hartwell, T.D., R.W. Handy, B.S. Harris, S.R. Williams and S.H. Gehlbach. 1983. Heavy metal exposure in populations living around zinc and copper smelters. Arch. Environ. Health. 38: 284-295.

Hatzakis. A., A. Kokkevi, K. Katsouyanni et al. 1987. Psychometric intelligence and attentional performance deficits in lead-exposed children. <u>In</u>: Heavy Metals in the Environment, S & Lindberg and T.C. Hutchinson, Ed. CEP Consultants Ltd, Endinburgh, Scotland p 204-209.

Hawk, B.A., S.R. Schroeder, G. Robinson, P. Mushak, D. Kleinbaum and G. Dawson. 1986. Relation of lead and social factors to IQ of low-SES children: A partial replication. Am. J. Ment. Defic. 91(2): 178-183.

2167A

Hawley, J.K. 1985. Assessment of health risk from exposure to contaminated soil. Risk Anal. 5: 289-302.

Healy, M., P. Morrison, M. Aslam, S. Davis and C. Wilson. 1982. Lead sulfide and traditional preparation: Routes for ingestion and solubility and reactions in gastric fluid. J. Clin. Hosp. Pharmacol. 7: 169-173.

Heard, M.J. and A.C. Chamberlain. 1982. Effect of minerals and food on uptake of lead from the gastrointestinal tract in humans. Human Toxicol. 1: 411-415.

Heard, M.J. and A.C. Chamberlain. 1984. Uptake of Pb by human skeleton and comparative metabolism of Pb and alkaline earth elements. Health Phys. 47: 857-862.

Heard, M.J., A.C. Wells, D. Newton and A.C. Chamberlain. 1979. Human uptake and metabolism of tetra ethyl and tetra methyl lead vapour labeled with ²⁰³Pb. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Management Control of Heavy Metals in the Environment, September, London, United Kingdom. CEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, United Kingdom. p. 103-108.

Hernberg, S. and J. Nikkanen. 1970. Enzyme inhibition by lead under normal urban conditions. Lancet. 1(7637): 63-64.

Hernberg, S., J. Nikkanen, G. Mellin and H. Lilius. 1970. &-Aminolevulinic acid dehydrase as a measure of lead exposure. Arch. Environ. Health. 21: 140-145.

Heyworth, F., J. Spickett, M. Dick, B. Margetts and B. Armstrong. 1981. Tailings from a lead mine and lead levels in school children: A preliminary report. Med. J. Australia. 2: 232-234.

Hoffman, W.F., G. Steinhauser and E. Pohl. 1979. Dose calculations for the respiratory tract from inhaled natural radioactive nuclides as a function of age. I. Compartmental deposition, retention, and resulting dose. Health Physics. 37: 517-532.

Holtzman, R.B. 1978. Application of radiolead to metabolic studies. <u>In</u>: The Biogeochemistry of Lead in the Environment, Part B. Biological Effects, J.O. Nriagu, Ed. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. p. 37-98. (Topics in Environmental Health: v. 1B)

Hong, C.D., I.G. Hanenson, S. Lerner, P.B. Hammond, A.J. Pesce and V.E. Pollak. 1980. Occupational exposure to lead: Effects on renal function. Kidney Int. 18: 489-494.

Horiuchi, K., S. Horiuchi and M. Suekane. 1959. Studies on the industrial lead poisoning. 1: Absorption, transportation, deposition and excretion of lead. 6: The lead contents in organ-tissues of the normal Japanese. Osaka City Med. J. 5: 112-118.

Huel, G. and C. Boudene. 1981. Cadmium and lead content of maternal and newborn hair: Relationship to parity, birth weight, and hypertension. Arch. Environ. Health. 36: 221-227.

2167A

Huntzicker, J.J., S.K. Friedlander and C.I. Davidson. 1975. Material balance for automobile-emitted exhaust lead in Los Angeles basin. Environ. Sci. Technol. 9: 448-457.

Indraprasit, S., G.V. Alexander and H.C. Gonick. 1974. Tissue composition of major and trace elements in uremia and hypertension. J. Chronic Dis. 27: 135-161.

James, A.C. 1978. Lung deposition of sub-micron aerosols calculated as a function of age and breathing rate. <u>In</u>: National Radiological Protection Board Annual Research and Development Report. National Radiological Protection Board, Harwell, United Kingdom. p. 71-75.

Johnson, D.E., J.B. Tillery and R.J. Prevost. 1975. Levels of platinum, palladium and lead in populations of Southern California. Environ. Health Perspect. 12: 27-33.

Kehoe, R.A. 1961a. The metabolism of lead in man in health and disease; The normal metabolism of lead. (The Harben Lectures, 1960). J.R. Inst. Public Hyg. 24: 81-97.

Kehoe, R.A. 1961b. The metabolism of lead in man in health and disease; The normal metabolism of lead. (The Harben Lectures, 1960). J.R. Inst. Public Hyg. 24: 129–143.

Kehoe, R.A. 1961c. The metabolism of lead in man in health and disease; the normal metabolism of lead. (The Harben Lectures, 1960). J.R. Inst. Public Hyg. 24: 177-203.

2167A

5-21

Kehoe, R.A. and F. Thamann. 1931. The behavior of lead in the animal organism. II. Tetraethyl lead. Am. J. Hyg. 13: 478-498.

Kimmel, E.C., R.H. Fish and J.E. Casida. 1977. Bioorganotin chemistry: Metabolism of organotin compounds in microsomal monooxygenase systems and in mammals. J. Agric. Food Chem. 25: 1-9.

Kneip, T.J., R.P. Mallon and N.H. Harley. 1983. Biokinetic modelling for mammalian lead metabolism. Neurotoxicology. 4: 189-192.

Koontz, M.D. and J.P. Robinson. 1982. Population activity patterns - St. Louis study. Environ. Monit. Assess. 2: 197-212.

Korpela, H., R. Loueniva, E. Yrjanheikki and A. Kauppila. 1986. Lead and cadmium concentrations in maternal and umbilidal cord blood, amniotic fluid, placenta, and amniotic membranes. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 155: 1086-1089.

Kovar, I.Z., C.D. Strehlow, J. Richmond and M.G. Thompson. 1984. Perinatal lead and cadmium burden in a British (UK) urban population. Arch. Dis. Child. 59: 36-39.

Lacey, R.F., M.R. Moore and W.N. Richards. 1985. Lead in water, infant diet and blood: The Glasgow Duplicate Diet Study. Sci. Total Environ. 41: 235-257.

Lagerwerff, J.V. and D.L. Brower. 1975. Source determination of heavy metal contaminants in the soil of a mine and smelter area. Trace Sub. Environ. Health. 9: 207-215.

2167A

Lancranjan, I., H.I. Popescu, O. Gavanescu, I. Klepsch and M. Serbanescu. 1975. Reproductive ability of workmen occupationally exposed to lead. Arch. Environ. Health. 30: 396-401.

Landis, J.R. and K.M. Flegal. 1987. A generalized Mantel-Haenszel analysis of the regression of blood pressure on blood lead using NHANES II data. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 35-41.

Landrigan, P.J., S.H. Gehlbach, B.F. Rosenblum et al. 1975. Epidemic lead absorption near an ore smelter: The role of particulate lead. New Engl. J. Med. 292: 123-129.

Laug, E.P. and F.M. Kunze. 1948. The penetration of lead through the skin. J. Ind. Hyg. Toxicol. 30: 256-259.

Lauwers, M.C., R.C. Hauspie, C. Susanne and J. Verheyden. 1986. Comparison of biometric data of children with high and low levels of lead in blood. Am. J. Anthropol. 69: 107-116.

Lauwerys, R., J.P. Buchet, H. Roels and G. Hubermont. 1978. Placental transfer of lead, mercury, cadmium, and carbon monoxide in women. I. Comparison of the frequency distributions of the biological indices in maternal and umbilical cord blood. Environ. Res. 15: 278-289.

Laxen, D.P.H. and R.M. Harrison. 1977. The highway as a source of water pollution: An appraisal with the heavy metal lead. Water Res. 11: 1-11.

2167A

5-23

LePow, M.L., L. Bruckman, M. Gillette, S. Markowitz, R. Robino and J. Kapish. 1975. Investigations into sources of lead in the environment of urban children. Environ. Res. 10: 415-426.

Levin, E.D., M.L. Schneider, S.A. Ferguson, S.L. Slantz and R.E. Bowman. 1988. Behavioral effects of developmental lead exposure in rhesus monkeys. Develop. Psychobiol. 10: 733-742.

Lilis, R., N. Gavrilescu, B. Nestorescu, C. Dumitriu and A. Roventa. 1968. Nephropathy in chronic lead poisoning. Br. J. Ind. Med. 25: 196-202.

Lilis, R., J. Eisenger, W. Blumberg, A. Fischbein and I.J. Selikoff. 1978. Hemoglobin, serum iron, and zinc protoporphyrin in lead-exposed workers. Environ. Health Perspect. 25: 97-102.

Lyngbye, T., O.N. Hansen and P. Grandjean. 1989. Neurological deficits in children: Medical risk factors and lead exposure. Neurtoxicol. Teratol. 10: 531-537.

Maes, E.F., L.A. Swygert, D. Pascal and B. Anderson. 1989. The contribution of lead in drinking water to levels of blood lead. I. A crosssectional study. Unpublished report.

Mahaffey, K.R., J.F. Rosen, R.W. Chesney, M.R. Peeler, C.M. Smith and H.F. DeLuca. 1982. Association between age, blood lead concentration, and serum 1,2,5-dihydroxycholecalciferol levels in children. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 35: 1327-1331.

Manton, W.I. 1985. Total contribution of airborne lead to blood lead. Br. J. Ind. Med. 42: 168-172.

Manton, W.I. and J.D. Cook. 1984. High accuracy (stable isotope dilution) measurements of lead in serum and cerebrospinal fluid. Br. J. Ind. Med. 41: 313-319.

Marcus, A.H. 1984. Testing alternative non-linear kinetic models in compartmental analysis. <u>In</u>: Proc. of 2nd IMACS International Symposium on Biomedical Systems Modeling, J. Eisenfeld and C. Delisi, Ed. Elsevier Science Publ., NY, Amesterdam, The Netherlands. p. 259-260.

Marcus, A.H. 1985a. Multicompartment kinetic models for lead. I. Bone diffusion models for long-term retention. Environ. Res. 36: 441-458.

Marcus, A.H. 1985b. Multicompartment kinetic models for lead: II. Linear kinetics and variable absorption in humans without excessive lead exposures. Environ. Res. 36: 459-472.

Marcus, A.H. 1985c. Multicompartment kinetic model for lead. III. Lead in blood plasma and erythrocytes. Environ Res. 36: 473-489.

Marcus, A.H. 1989. Relationship between childhood blood lead and lead in water or diet. Batelle/Columbus Division. Arlington, MD.

Marcus, A.H. 1990. Biological basis for the uptake/biokinetic model. Unpublished report.

2167A

5-25

Marcus, A.H. and J. Schwartz. 1987. Dose response curves for erythrocyte protoporphyrin vs. blood lead: Effects of iron status. Environ. Res. 44: 221-227.

McMichael, A.J., G.V. Vimpani, E.F. Robertson, P.A. Baghurst and P.D. Clark. 1986. The Port Pirie cohort study: Maternal blood lead and pregnancy outcome. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health. 40: 18-25.

McMichael, A.J., P.A. Baghurst, N.R. Wigg, G.V. Vimpani, E.F. Robertson and R.J. Roberts. 1988. Port Pirie cohort study: Environmental exposure to lead and children's abilities at the age of four years. N. Engl. J. Med. 319: 468-475.

Meredith, P.A., B.C. Campbell, M.R. Moore and A. Goldberg. 1977. The effects of industrial lead poisoning on cytochrome P450 mediated phenazone (antipyrine) hydroxylation. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 12: 235-1977.

Mielke, H.W., J.C. Anderson, K.J. Berry, P.W. Mielke, R.L. Chaney and M. Leech. 1983. Lead concentrations in inner-city soils as a factor in the child lead problem. Am. J. Pub. Health. 73: 1366-1369.

Miller, F.J., T.B. Martonen, M.G. Menache, D.M. Spektor and M. Lippmann. 1986. Influence of breathing mode and activity level on the regional deposition of inhaled particles and implications for regulatory standards. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Inhaled Particle IV. Millican, F.K., E.M. Layman, R.S. Lourie, L.Y. Takahashi and C.C. Dublin. 1962. The prevalence of ingestion and mouthing of nonedible substances by children. Clin. Proc. Child. Hosp. 18: 207-214.

Moore, M.R. 1977. Lead in drinking water in soft-water areas -- Health hazards. Sci. Total Environ. 7: 109-115.

Moore, M.R. and A. Goldberg. 1985. Health implication of the hematopoietic effects of lead. <u>In</u>: Dietary and Environmental Lead: Human Health Effects, K.R. Mahaffey, Ed. Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Moore, M.R., P.A. Meridith, W.S. Watson, D.J. Sumner, M.K. Taylor and A. Goldberg. 1980. The percutaneous absorption of lead-203 in humans from cosmetic preparations containing lead acetate, as assessed by whole-body counting and other techniques. Food Cosmet. Toxicol. 18: 399-405.

Moreau, T., P. Hannaert, G. Orssaud et al. 1988. Influence of membrane sodium transport upon the relation between blood lead and blood pressure in a general male population. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April, 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 47-51.

Morrow, P.E., H. Beiter, F. Amato and F.R. Gibb. 1980. Pulmonary retention of lead; An experimental study in man. Environ. Res. 21: 373-384.

Morse, D.L., P.J. Landrigan, B.F. Rosenblum, J.S. Hubert and J. Houseworth. 1979. El Paso revisited: Epidemiologic follow-up of an environmental lead problem. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 242: 739-741.

2167A

NAS (National Academy of Sciences). 1972. Lead. Airborne Lead in Perspective. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC. p. 107.

NAS (National Academy of Sciences). 1980. Lead in the Environment. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC.

Neri, L.C., H.L. Johansen, N. Schmitt, R.T. Pagan and D. Hewitt. 1978. Blood lead levels in children in two British Columbia communities. <u>In</u>: Proc. 12th Ann. Conf. Trace Metal Substances in Environmental Health: Trace Substances in Environmental Health - XII:, June, University of Missouri-Columbia, Columbia, MO. p. 403-410.

Neri, L.C., D. Hewitt and B. Orser. 1988. Blood lead and blood pressure: Analysis of cross-sectional and longitudinal data from Canada. <u>In</u>: Symp. on Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April, 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 123-126.

Nordman, C.H. 1975. Environmental lead exposure in Finland: A study on selected population groups. University of Helinski, Helsinki, Finland.

Nriagu, J.O. 1978. Lead in soils, sediments and major rock types. <u>In</u>: The Biogeochemistry of Lead in the Environment Part A: Ecological Cycles, J.O. Nriagu, Ed. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam. p. 15-72.

O'Flaherty, E.J., P.B. Hammond and S.I. Lerner. 1982. Dependence of apparent blood lead half-life on the length of previous lead exposure in humans. Fund. Appl. Toxicol. 2: 49-54.

2167A

Ong, C.N. and L.R. Lee. 1980. High affinity of lead for fetal hemoglobin. Br. J. Ind. Med. 37: 292-298.

Page, A.L. and T.J. Gange. 1970. Accumulation of lead in soils for regions of high and low motor vehicle traffic density. Environ. Sci. Technol. 4: 140-142.

Paglia, D.E. and W.N. Valentine. 1975. Characteristics of pyrimidinespecific 5'nucleotidase in human erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 250: 7973-7982.

Pennington, J.A.T. 1983. Revision of the total diet study food list and diets. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 82: 166-173.

Phalen, R.F., M.J. Oldham, C.B. Beaucage, T.T. Crocker and J.D. Mortensen. 1985. Postnatal enlargement of human tracheobronchial airways and implications for particle deposition. Anat. Rec. 212: 368-380.

Piomelli, S., C. Seaman, D. Zullow, A. Curran and B. Davidow. 1982. Threshold for lead damage to heme synthesis in urban children. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 7: 3335-3339.

Piomelli, S., J.F. Rosen, J.J. Chisolm, Jr. and J. Graes. 1984. Management of childhood lead poisoning. J. Pediatr. (St. Louis). 105: 523-532.

Pirkle, J.S., J. Schwartz, J.R. Landis and W.R. Harlan. 1985. The relationship between blood lead levels and blood pressure and its cardiovascular risk implications. Am. J. Epidemiol. 121: 246-258.

2167A

Pocock, S.J., A.G. Shaper, M. Walker et al. 1983. Effects of tap water lead, water hardness, alcohol, and cigarettes on blood lead concentrations. J. Epidemiol. Comm. Health. 37: 1-7.

Pocock, S.J., A.G. Shaper, D. Ashby, T. Delves and T.P. Whitehead. 1984. Blood lead concentration, blood pressure, and renal function. Br. Med. J. 298: 872-874.

Pocock, S.J., A.G. Shaper, D. Ashby and T. Delves. 1985. Blood lead and blood pressure in middle-aged men. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Heavy Metals in the Environment, Vol. 1. September, Athens, Greece. CEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, United Kingdom. p. 303-305.

Pocock, S.J., A.G. Shaper, D. Ashby, T. Delves and B.E. Clayton. 1988. The relationship between blood lead, blood pressure, stroke, and heart attacks in middle-aged British men. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April, 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 23-30.

Pope, A. 1985. Development of activity patterns for population exposure to ozone. Prepared by PEI Associates, Inc., Durham, NC, for Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, August 23, 1985.

Pope, A.L. 1986. Exposure of children to lead-based paints. PEI Associates, Inc., Durham, NC. Prepared for Strategies and Air Standards Division, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, January, 1986.

2167A

Prpic-Majic, D., J. Meczner, S. Telisman and A. Kersanc. 1984. Biological monitoring of lead effects in a smelter community before and after emission controls. Sci. Total Environ. 32: 277-288.

Pueschel, S.M., L. Kopito and H. Schachman. 1972. Children with an increased lead burden: A screening and follow-up study. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 222: 462-466.

Quarles, H.D. III, R.B. Hanawalt and W.E. Odum. 1974. Lead in small mammals, plants and soil at varying distances from a highway. J. Appl. Ecol. 11: 937-949.

Rabinowitz, M.B., G.W. Wetherhill and J.D. Kopple. 1973. Lead metabolism in the normal human: Stable isotope studies. Science. 182: 725-727.

Rabinowitz, M., G.W. Wetherill and J.D. Kopple. 1974. Studies of human lead metabolism by use of stable isotope tracers. Environ. Health Perspect. 7: 145-153.

Rabinowitz, M.B., G.W. Wetherhill and J.O. Kopple. 1976. Kinetic analysis of lead metabolism in health humans. J. Clin. Invest. 58: 26-270.

Rabinowitz, M.B., G.W. Wetherill and J.D. Kopple. 1977. Magnitude of lead intake from respiration by normal man. J Lab. Clin. Med. 90: 238-248.

Rabinowitz, M.B., J.D. Kopple and G.W. Wetherhill. 1980. Effect of food intake and fasting on gastrointestinal lead absorption in humans. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 33: 1784-1788.

2167A

5-31

Rabinowitz, M.B., A. Leviton and H.L. Needleman. 1986. Occurrence of elevated protoporphyrin levels in relation to Tead burden in infants. Environ. Res. 39: 253-257.

Raghavan, S.R.V. and H.C. Gonick. 1977. Isolation of low-molecular-weight lead-binding protein from human erythrocytes. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 155: 164-167.

Roels, H.A., R.R. Lauwerys, J-P. Buchet and M-T. Vrelust. 1975. Response of free erythrocyte porphyrin and urinary &-aminolevulinic acid in men and women moderately exposed to lead. Int. Arch. Arbeitsmed. 34: 97-108.

Roels, H.A., J-P. Buchet, R.R. Lauwerys and G. Hubermont. 1976. Impact of air pollution by lead on the heme biosynthetic pathway in school-age children. Arch. Environ. Health. 31: 310-316.

Roels, H.A., J-P. Buchet, R. Lauwerys et al. 1980. Exposure to lead by the oral and pulmonary routes of children living in the vicinity of a primary lead smelter. Environ. Res. 22: 81-94.

Rosen, J.F., R.W. Chesney, A.J. Hamstra, H.F. DeLuca and K.R. Mahaffey. 1980. Reduction in 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in children with increased lead absorption. New Engl. J. Med. 302: 1128-1131.

Rothenberg, S.J., L. Schnaas, C.J.N. Mendez and H. Hidalgo. 1989. Effects of lead on neurobehavioural development in the first thirty days of life. <u>In</u>: Int. Workshop on Effects of Lead Exposure on Neurobehavioural Development: Lead Exposure and Child Development: An International Assessment, September. 1986, Edinburgh, United Kingdom. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Lancaster, United Kingdom. p. 387-395.

Rubinstein, E.A., G.A. Comstock and J.P. Murray. 1972. Television and Social Behavior, Volume IV. National Institute of Mental Health, U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Rockville, MD.

Ryu, J.E., E.E. Ziegler, S.E. Nelson and S.J. Fomon. 1983. Dietary intake of lead and blood lead concentration in early infancy. Am. J. Dis. Child. 137: 886-891.

Schlegel, J.W. and G. Kufner. 1979. Long-term observation of biochemical effects of lead in human experiments. J. Clin. Biochem. 17: 225-233.

Schroeder, S.R. and B. Hawk. 1987. Psycho-social factors, lead exposure and IQ. Monogr. Am. Assoc. Ment. Defic. 8: 97-137.

Schroeder, H.A. and I.H. Tipton. 1968. The human body burden of lead. Arch. Environ. Health. 7: 965-978.

Schwartz, J. 1985. Modeling the blood lead distribution in children. Office of Policy Analysis, U.S. EPA, Washington, DC. Memorandum to J. Cohen, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, U.S. EPA, Research Triangle Park, NC.

2167A

5-33

Schwartz, J. 1988. The relationship of blood lead levels to blood pressure in the U.S. population. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 15-22.

Schwartz, J., C. Angle and J. Pitcher. 1986. Relationship between childhood blood lead levels and stature. Pediatrics. 77: 281-288.

Schwartz, J., P.J. Landrigan, R.G. Feldman, E.K. Silbergeld, E.L. Baker and E.L. Baker. 1988. Threshold effect in lead-induced peripheral neuropathy. J. Pediatr. 112: 12-17.

Sedman, R.M. 1989. The development of applied action levels for soil contact: A scenario for the exposure of humans to soil in a residential setting. Environ. Health Perspect. 79: 291-337.

Sharp, D.S., J. Osterloh, C.E. Becker et al. 1988. Blood pressure and blood lead concentration in bus drivers. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 131-137.

Sherlock, J., G. Smart, G.I. Forbes et al 1982. Assessment of lead intakes and dose-response for a population in Ayr exposed to a plumbsolvent water supply. Human Toxicol. 1: 115-122.

Shukla, R., R.L. Bornschein, K.N. Dietrich et al. 1987. Effects of fetal and early postnatal lead exposure on child's growth in stature - The Cincinnati lead study. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Heavy Metals in the Environment, V. 1: September, New Orleans, LA. DEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, United Kingdom. p. 210-212.

Shukla, R., R.L. Bornschein, K.N. Dietrich et al. 1989. Fetal and infant lead exposure: Effects on growth in stature. Pediatrics. 84: 604-612.

Silbergeld, E.K. 1987. Role of altered heme synthesis in chemical injury to the nervous system. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 514: 297-308.

Silbergeld, E.K., J. Schwartz and K. Mahaffey. 1988. Lead in osteoperosis: Mobilization of lead from bone in post-menopausal women. Environ. Res. 47: 79-94.

Sledge, D.J. 1987. Size distributions of lead particles at major lead stationary sources: Source sampling and ambient air monitoring. Memorandum to John Haines, Chief, ASB, Section B, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC, September 23, 1987.

Smith, C.M., H.F. DeLuca, Y. Tanaka and K.R. Mahaffey. 1978. Stimulation of lead absorption by vitamin D administration. J. Nutr. 108: 843-847.

Stark, A.D., R.F. Quah, J.W. Meigs and E.R. DeLouise. 1982. The relationship of environmental lead to blood-lead levels in children. Environ. Res. 27: 372-383.

2167A

5-35

Steele, M.J., B.D. Beck, B.L. Murphy and H.S. Strauss. 1989. Assessing the contribution for lead in mining wastes to blood lead. Reg. Toxicol. Pharmacol. (In press)

Stevens, C.D., C.J. Feldhake and R.A. Kehoe. 1960. Isolation of triethyl ion from liver after inhalation of tetraethyllead. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 128: 90-94.

Stuik, E.J. 1974. Biological response of male and female volunteers to inorganic lead. Int. Arch. Arbeitsmed. 33: 83-97.

Suter, L.E. 1979. Travel to school. U.S. Bureau of Census, Series P-20, No. 392.

Swallow, A.C., N.P. Hume and F.M. Moral. 1980. Sorption of copper and lead anhydrous ferric oxide. Environ. Sci. Technol. 14(11): 1326.

Tepper, L.B. and L.S. Levin. 1975. A survey of air and population lead levels in selected American communities. <u>In</u>: Lead, T.B. Griffin and J.H. Knelson, Ed. Academic Press, New York, NY. p. 152–195. (Environmental Quality and Safety: Suppl. v. 2, F. Coulston and F. Korte, Ed.)

Ter Haar, G. and R. Aronow. 1974. New information on lead in dirt and dust as related to the childhood lead problem. Environ. Health Perspect. 7: 83-89.

Tola, S., S. Hernberg, S. Asp and J. Nikkanen. 1973. Parameters indicative of absorption and biological effect in new lead exposure: A prospective study. Br. J. Ind. Med. 30: 134-141.

Tsuchiya, H., K. Mitani, K. Kodama and T. Nakata. 1984. Placental transfer of heavy metals in normal pregnant Japanese women. Arch. Environ. Health. 39: 11-17.

U.K. Directorate. 1982. The Glasgow duplicate diet study (1979/1980): A Joint Survey for the Department of the Environment and the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, United Kingdom. Pollution Report No. 11.

U.S. EPA. 1986a. Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment. Federal Register. 51(185): 33992-34003.

U.S. EPA. 1986b. Air Quality Criteria for Lead. June, 1986 and Addendum, September, 1986. Office of Research and Development, Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Research Triangle Park, NC. EPA 600/8-83-028AF, BF, CF, DF. EPA/602/8-83/028A.

U.S. EPA. 1986c. Industrial Source Complex (ISC) Dispersion Model Users' Guide. Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Research Triangle Park, NC. EPA 450/4-86-005A.

2167A

U.S. EPA. 1987. Interim Guidelines for Development of Inhalation Reference Doses. Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Cincinnati, OH; Research Triangle Park, NC. EPA 600/8-88/066.

U.S. EPA. 1988a. Reference Dose (RfD): Description and Use in Health Risk Assessments. Online. Appendix A: Integrated Risk Information System Supportive Documentation. Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Cincinnati, OH.

U.S. EPA. 1988b. 40 CFR parts 141 and 142. Drinking Water Regulations; Maximum Contaminant Level Goals and National Primary Drinking Water Regulations for Lead and Copper. Proposed Rule. Federal Register. 53(160): 31515-31578.

U.S. EPA. 1989a. Review of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards for Lead: Exposure Analysis Methodology and Validation. Final Draft. Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Air Quality Management Division, Research Triangle Park, NC.

U.S. EPA. 1989b. Evaluation of the Potential Carcinogenicity of Lead and Lead Compounds: In Support of Reportable Quantity Adjustments Pursuant to CERCLA Section 102. External Review Draft Prepared by the Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Washington, DC. EPA/600/8-89/045A.

U.S. EPA. 1989c. Exposure Factors Handbook. Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Washington, DC. EPA/600/8-89/043.

2167A

5-38

U.S. FDA (Food and Drug Administration). 1983. Market basket survey: Preliminary results of lead analysis. Available for inspection at the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Research Triangle Park, NC.

U.S. FDA (Food and Drug Administration). 1984. Market basket survey: Preliminary results of lead analysis. Available for inspection at the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Research Triangle Park, NC.

Valentine, W.N., K. Fink, D.E. Paglia, S.R. Harris and W.S. Adams. 1974. Hereditary hemolytic anemia with human erythrocyte pyrimidine 5'-nucleotidase deficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 54: 866-867.

Vander, A.J. 1988. Chronic effects of lead on the renin-angiotensin system. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 77-83.

Victery, W. 1988. Evidence for effects of chronic lead exposure on blood pressure in experimental animals: An overview. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 71-76.

Vimpani, G.V., N.R. Wigg, E.F. Robertson, A.J. McMichael, P.A. Baghurst and R.J. Roberts. 1985. The Port-Pirle cohort study: Blood lead concentrationand childhood developmental assessment. Presented at Lead Environmental Health: Current Issues, May, Duke University, Durham, NC. (Cited in U.S. EPA, 1986b)

2167A

5-39

Wada, O., Y. Yano, T. Ono and K. Toyokawa. 1973. The diagnosis of different degrees of lead absorption: In special references to choice and evaluation of various parameters indicative of an increased lead absorption. Ind. Health. 11: 55-67.

Walter, S.D., A.J. Yankel and I.H. von Lindern. 1980. Age-specific risk factors for lead absorption in children. Arch. Environ. Health. 35: 53-58.

Ward, N.I., R. Watson and D. Bryce-Smith. 1987. Placental element levels in relation to fetal development for obstetrically "normal" births: A study of 37 elements. Evidence for effects of cadmium, lead and zinc on fetal growth, and for smoking as a source of cadmium. Int. J. Biosoc. Res. 9: 63-81.

Wedeen, R.P., J.K. Maesaka, B. Weiner et al. 1975. Occupational lead nephropathy. Am. J. Med. 59: 630-641.

Wedeen, R.P., D.K. Mallik and V. Batuman. 1979. Detection and treatment of occupational lead nephropathy. Arch. Intern. Med. 139: 53-57.

Weiss, S.T., A. Munoz, A. Stein, D. Sparrow and F.E. Speizer. 1988. The relationship of blood lead to systolic blood pressure in a longitudinal study of policemen. <u>In</u>: Symp. Lead-Blood Pressure Relationships, April 1987, Chapel Hill, NC. Environ. Health Perspect. 78: 53-56.

Wheeler, G.L. and G.L. Rolfe. 1979. The relationship between daily traffic volume and the distribution of lead in roadside soil and vegetation. Environ. Pollut. 18: 265-274.

2167A

Wildt, K., R. Eliasson and M. Berlin. 1983. Effects of occupational exposure to lead on sperm and semen. <u>In</u>: Proc Joint Meet.: Reproductive and Developmental Toxicity of Metals, May, 1982, Rochester, NY. Plenum Press, New York, NY. p. 279-300.

Wojcikowska-Kapusta, A. and R. Turski. 1986. Content of humus compounds and solubility of nickel and lead. Rusz. Glebozn. 37(2-3): 351-362.

Wolf, A.W., C.B. Ernhart and C.S. White. 1985. Intrauterine lead exposure and early development. <u>In</u>: Int. Conf.: Heavy Metals in the Environment, V.
2: September, Athens, Greece. CEP Consultants, Ltd., Edinburgh, United Kingdom. p. 153-155.

Worth, D., A. Matranga, M. Lieberman et al. 1981. Lead in drinking water: The contribution of household tap water to blood lead levels. <u>In</u>: Proc. 2nd Int. Symp.: Environmental Lead Research; Environmental Lead, December, 1978; Cincinnati, OH. Academic Press, New York. NY. p. 199-225.

Xu, G.B. and C.P. Yu. 1986. Effects of age on deposition of inhaled aerosols in the human lung. Aerosol. Sci. Technol. 5: 349-357.

Yamamura, Y., J. Takakura, F. Hirayma, H. Yamauchi and M. Yoshida. 1975. Tetraethyl lead poisoning caused by cleaning work in the aviation fuel tank. Jap. J. Ind. Health. 17: 223-235.

Yankel, A.J., I.H. Van Lindern and D.S. Walter. 1977. The Silver Valley lead study: The relationship of childhood lead poisoning and environmental exposure. J. Air Pollut. Control Assoc. 27: 763-767.

2167A

Zaric, M., D. Prpic-Majic, D. Kostial and M. Piasek. 1987. Exposure to lead and reproduction. <u>In</u>: Summary Proc. Workshop: Selected Aspects of Exposure to Heavy Metals in the Environment. Monitors, indicators and high risk groups. April, 1985. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC. Council of Academies of Sciences and Arts, Yugoslavia. p. 119-126.

Ziegler, E.E., B.B. Edwards, R.L. Jensen, K.R. Mahaffey and S.J. Fomon. 1978. Absorption and retention of lead by infants. Pediatr. Res. 12: 29-34.

Zimdahl, R.L. and R. Skogerboe. 1977. Behavior of lead in soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 11(13): 1202-1207.